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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Report contains statements about future events and expectations, or forward-looking statements, all of which are inherently uncertain. We have

based those forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future results. When we use words such as “anticipates,” “intends,”
“plans,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” or similar expressions, we do so to identify forward-looking statements. Examples of forward-looking statements
include statements we make regarding future economic and political conditions in Guyana and Bermuda, the competitive environment in the markets in which
we operate, legal and regulatory actions and technological changes, our future prospects for growth, our ability to maintain or increase our market share, our
future operating results and our future capital expenditure levels. These statements are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions, which in turn are
based on currently available information. These assumptions could prove inaccurate. These forward-looking statements may be found under the captions
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Business,” as well as in this Report generally.

You should keep in mind that any forward-looking statement made by us in this Report or elsewhere speaks only as of the date on which we make it.
New risks and uncertainties arise from time to time, and it is impossible for us to predict these events or how they may affect us. In any event, these and other
important factors may cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by our forward-looking statements, including those set forth in Item 1A of
this Report under the caption “Risk Factors.” We have no duty to, and do not intend to, update or revise the forward-looking statements made by us in this
Report after the date of this Report, except as may be required by law. In light of these risks and uncertainties, you should keep in mind that the future events
or circumstances described in any forward-looking statement made by us in this Report or elsewhere might not occur.

In this Report on Form 10-K, the words “we,” “our,” “ours” and “us” refer to Atlantic Tele-Network, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Also ClearChoice™ is a
service mark of one of our subsidiaries. This Report also contains other trademarks, service marks and trade names that are the property of others.

Reference to dollars ($) refer to U.S. dollars unless otherwise specifically indicated.

Information regarding shares of our Common Stock set forth in this Report has been retroactively adjusted to reflect our 5-for-2 stock split on March 31,
2006.

i

PART I

ITEM 1.                BUSINESS

Overview
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We provide wireless and wireline telecommunications services in the Caribbean and North America. Through our operating subsidiaries and affiliates,
we offer the following principal services:

·       Wireless.   We offer wireless voice and data services to retail customers in Guyana and Bermuda. In the United States, we offer wholesale wireless
voice and data roaming services to national, regional and local wireless carriers in rural markets located principally in Arizona, Colorado, Illinois,
Missouri and New Mexico.

·       Local Telephone and Data.   Our local telephone and data services include our operations in Guyana, the U.S. Virgin Islands and the mainland United
States. We are the exclusive provider of domestic wireline local and long distance telephone services in Guyana. We are a leading Internet access
service provider in the U.S. Virgin Islands. In the mainland United States, we offer facilities-based integrated voice and data communications services
to residential and business customers in New England, primarily in Vermont.

·       International Long Distance Voice and Data Services.   We are the exclusive provider of international long distance voice and data communications
into and out of Guyana. As part of our infrastructure, we own interests in major international fiber optic cables linking Guyana to, among other places,
Suriname, French Guiana, Trinidad, the U.S. Virgin Islands and the mainland United States.

Strategy

The key elements of our strategy consist of the following:

·       Focus on Providing Wireless and Wireline Telecommunications Services.   We are focused on providing wireless and wireline voice and data
services to residential and business customers across a variety of geographic and demographic markets. We have provided these services to our
customers for over ten years and have demonstrated our ability to grow both customers and revenues by improving service and increasing the number
of wireline and wireless products offered to these customers. We believe these sectors provide significant opportunities for organic and acquisitive
growth.

·       Target Underserved Markets Where We Can Compete Successfully.   We operate in smaller, underserved markets where we believe we are or will be
one of the leading providers of telecommunications services. Our businesses typically have strong local brand identities and leading market positions.
By leveraging these attributes, along with our lower cost of capital and our senior management expertise at the holding company level, we seek to
improve and expand available products and services in our targeted markets to better meet the needs of our customers and expand our customer base.

·     Partner with Successful Local Owner/Operators.   We partner with local management teams who have a demonstrated a successful track record. We
believe that strong local management enhances our close relationship with customers and reduces risk. Our geographically diverse businesses are all
operated and often partially owned by local managers, employees and investors. We seek to enhance our strong market position by maintaining these
partnerships and by leveraging our extensive management experience to assist them in further improving operations.

·       Maintain a Disciplined Earnings-Oriented Approach.   We carefully assess the potential for earnings stability and growth when we evaluate the
performance of our subsidiaries, new investment opportunities and prospective acquisitions. In managing our more mature businesses, we seek to
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solidify our brands, improve customer satisfaction, add new services, control costs and preserve cash flow. In managing our newer, faster growing
businesses, we seek to invest capital to improve our competitive position, increase market share and generate strong revenue and cash flow. We
consider new investments and acquisitions on a disciplined return-on-investment basis and generally avoid transactions that we do not expect to have a
near-term positive impact on our earnings.

As a result of these strategies, over the past four years we have increased our consolidated operating income and earnings per share by approximately
10% and 14%, respectively, on an annually compounded basis. We have also been able to pay cash dividends to our shareholders for 29 consecutive quarters
and have increased our quarterly dividend per share by approximately 33% since the beginning of 2002.

Our Company

We conduct our operations in the mainland United States, Guyana, Bermuda, and U.S. Virgin Islands through the following principal operating
subsidiaries and affiliate:

·       Guyana Telephone & Telegraph (or GT&T).   In 1991, we acquired an 80% equity interest in GT&T, which is the exclusive provider of domestic
wireline local and long distance telecommunications services in Guyana and the largest service provider in Guyana’s competitive wireless tele-
communications market. GT&T is the successor to the Guyana Telecommunications Corporation, a corporation wholly owned by the Government of
Guyana. The remaining 20% equity interest in GT&T is held by the Government of Guyana.

·       Commnet Wireless, LLC.   In September 2005, we acquired a 95% equity interest in Commnet, which provides wireless voice and data
communications roaming services in the United States. The remaining 5% equity interest in Commnet is held by Commnet management.

·       SoVerNet, Inc.   In February 2006, we acquired a 96% equity interest in SoVerNet, which provides facilities-based integrated voice and broadband
data communications services in New England, primarily in Vermont. The remaining 4% equity interest in SoVerNet is held by SoVerNet
management.

·       Bermuda Digital Communications, Ltd (or BDC).   In 1998, we acquired a 44% equity interest in BDC, which is the largest wireless voice and data
communications service provider in Bermuda, operating under the Cellular One brand. The remaining equity holders include BDC’s Bermudian
management team.



·       Choice Communications, LLC.   In October 1999, we acquired Choice, which provides fixed wireless broadband data services and dial-up Internet
services to retail and business customers in the U.S. Virgin Islands. Through our Choice subsidiary, we also offer fixed wireless digital television
services in the U.S. Virgin Islands.

In addition to our equity interests, we also receive management fees from our principal operating subsidiaries and affiliate.
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Atlantic Tele-Network, Inc. was incorporated in the State of Delaware in 1987. Our principal corporate offices are located at 10 Derby Square, Salem,
Massachusetts 01970. The telephone number at our principal corporate offices is (978) 745-8106. We also maintain corporate offices in St. Thomas,
U.S. Virgin Islands.

Our Services

Through our operating subsidiaries and affiliates, we provide wireless, local telephone and data, and international long distance services in Guyana, the
mainland United States, U.S. Virgin Islands and Bermuda. For fiscal years 2003, 2004 and 2005, our Guyana operations generated 95%, 94% and 85%,
respectively, of our consolidated revenue. For information about our financial segments and geographical information about our operating revenues and long-
lived assets, see Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report.

Wireless Services

We provide wireless voice and data communications services in the United States, Guyana and Bermuda.

U.S. Operations

Through our Commnet subsidiary, we provide wholesale wireless voice and data roaming services in rural markets to national, regional and local
wireless carriers. We offer these services through our own networks in markets located principally in Arizona, Colorado, Illinois, Missouri and New Mexico.
Roaming is a service offered by most wireless service providers that enables their subscribers to utilize their mobile phone service while traveling outside of
their service provider’s network coverage area. Roaming enables wireless service providers to offer their customers extended coverage without the need to
own a network or spectrum. We design, install and operate our wireless networks in areas where our wholesale customers need extended coverage.

Network.   We currently operate networks with GSM, TDMA, CDMA and analog technologies in both the 850 MHz and 1900 MHz bands. This mix of
technologies and spectrum varies by market. However, we typically have at least two technologies deployed at each cell site in order to maximize revenue
opportunities. Our networks are comprised of telecommunications switches, base stations, consisting of radio transceivers located on towers and buildings
typically owned by others, and leased transport facilities. As of March 2006, we own and operate 273 base stations consisting of 129 GSM, 25 CDMA and
119 TDMA/analog stations.

Sales and Marketing.   Traditionally, roaming agreements have been cancelable at-will. Recently however, major carriers have been experiencing
technological malfunctions and incompatibility with other wholesalers’ networks, which has increased carriers’ willingness to make longer term
commitments in exchange for supporting technologies and features. We have taken advantage of this environment by entering into long-term, preferred
roaming agreements with several major wireless carriers, including Cingular, Verizon and T-Mobile. Under these preferred roaming agreements, we agree to
build a new mobile network at a specified location and offer the preferred carrier long-term pricing certainty in exchange for priority designation with respect
to their customers’ wireless traffic. We believe we have established a track record of building highly-reliable, feature-rich network coverage in a variety of
technical environments for major wireless carriers on time and at attractive rates. We believe carriers are drawn to our ability to timely meet buildout
requirements, the reliability of our networks and our status as a trusted partner that does not compete for retail subscribers. Once we complete building a rural
network, we then benefit from existing roaming agreements with other national, regional, and local carriers to supplement our initial revenues. These
nonpreferred roaming agreements are usually terminable within 30
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days. Because we have no retail subscribers, we do not incur retail distribution or retail marketing costs and our customer service costs are largely limited to
technical and engineering support.

Customers.   We currently have roaming agreements with 77 United States-based wireless service providers, including preferred agreements with
Cingular, Verizon and T-Mobile. As of December 31, 2005, we were the preferred roaming carrier for Cingular (under an agreement that terminates in mid-
2008) and Verizon (under an agreement that terminates in mid-2007) in selected markets. From September 15, 2005, the date we acquired Commnet, through
December 31, 2005, Cingular and Verizon accounted for 81% of our U.S. wireless revenues.

Competition.   Our wireless roaming services enable our carrier customers to provide their subscribers with additional network coverage and service
without having to build and operate their own extended wireless networks. We compete with wireless service providers that operate networks in our markets
and offer wholesale roaming services. In addition, our carrier customers may also elect to build or acquire their own infrastructure in a market in which we
operate, reducing or eliminating their need for our services in that market. We believe the bases on which we compete for wholesale roaming customers are
price, network coverage and quality of service. We expect competition in the rural wireless sector to be dynamic, as competitors expand their networks and as
new products and services that require supporting connectivity are developed.

Guyana Operations

Through our GT&T subsidiary, we offer wireless telephone service in the vast majority of populated areas in Guyana, including the Georgetown area
(Guyana’s capital and largest city) and substantially all of Guyana’s coastal plain where 70% of Guyana’s population is concentrated.

Guyana is an English speaking nation and part of the British Commonwealth. Located along the Caribbean Rim on the north coast of South America, it
is approximately 83,000 square miles in size. Guyana has a population of approximately 765,000 people and a per capita GDP of approximately $3,900. As of
the end of 2005, we estimate that Guyana’s teledensity was approximately 15 access lines per 100 inhabitants. Approximately 32% of the population are
wireless subscribers. Economic activity in Guyana is mainly centered on the export of sugar, gold, bauxite/alumina, rice, shrimp, molasses, rum, and timber.



We estimate that approximately 87% of the country’s population resides in areas covered by our wireless network. We first introduced wireless service in
1992. As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately 228,000 wireless subscribers, up 51% from the approximately 151,000 subscribers we had at
December 31, 2004. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we launched services on a GSM overlay across most of our existing TDMA wireless network. As of
December 31, 2005, over 100,000 of our wireless subscribers were GSM subscribers.
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The following table shows the increase in our wireless subscribers:

              Our Guyana Wireless Subscribers

Network.   We initially constructed a TDMA wireless network in Guyana. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we launched services on our new GSM/GPRS
mobile wireless network, alongside our existing TDMA network. GSM/GPRS is a more advanced wireless digital service than TDMA, allowing us to offer
richer handset features and certain wireless data services, while increasing our network capacity. The launch of GSM services has also helped us enter into
roaming agreements with wireless carriers in a number of other countries, including some of the largest carriers in the U.S. and Caribbean, enabling our
subscribers to use their handsets in other countries and allowing some visitors to use their wireless phones while in Guyana. At December 31, 2005, we had
roaming agreements with 53 wireless carriers.

We are currently operating both the TDMA and GSM networks. At December 31, 2005, approximately 55% of our subscribers were on the TDMA
network and 45% were on the GSM network. We anticipate substantially all of the TDMA subscribers will migrate to the GSM network over the next 18
months or will otherwise cease to be TDMA subscribers because they already have a GSM handset and account.

Our TDMA network operates on approximately 30 MHz of spectrum in the 800 MHz band.  Prior to March 2006, our GSM network operated on
approximately 16 MHz of spectrum in the 900 MHz band. In March 2006, the National Frequency Management Unit (or NFMU) in Guyana reallocated the
GSM 900 MHz spectrum, which was previously divided into two bands of 24 MHz each, into four bands of 12 MHz each, with the expectation of licensing
two additional wireless providers.  See “—Regulation of Our GT&T Subsidiary—Other Regulatory Developments.”

Sales and Marketing.   We actively market our wireless services through widespread signage, sponsored events, and merchandise giveaways as well as
through our close, promotional relationships with leading disc jockeys and radio personalities and other popular figures. We do not maintain any traditional
retail stores, although all post-paid wireless customers set up accounts at one of our six business centers and pre-paid customers may do so as well. Our
handsets, prepaid cards and pre-paid accounts are sold primarily through independent dealers who we pay competitive commissions for sales. Wireless
subscribers
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are offered various calling plans and are charged a monthly fee plus airtime based on the selected plan. These fees are payable on either a pre-paid basis,
which means a customer purchases a calling card with a prescribed number of minutes in advance of any usage, or a post-paid basis, which means the
subscriber is billed for his or her minutes of use after usage. Pre-payments can be made by the purchase of disposable prepaid calling card, which come in
fixed Guyanese dollar amounts, or by recharging an account via electronic terminals from any authorized vendor.

Customers.   As of December 31, 2005 we had approximately 228,000 wireless subscribers, of whom we estimate over 96% were on prepaid plans.

Competition.   We provide wireless services in Guyana pursuant to a non-exclusive license. We currently face competition from a nationwide wireless
service provider and may face additional competition in the future. Guyana Government officials, including the President, have stated that it is their intention
to provide a wireless license to Digicel, a large mobile telecommunications company operating in many Caribbean countries, and that licensing discussions
with Digicel are in process. In addition, our existing competitor is attempting to obtain a second wireless license through an affiliated entity, although we
believe that a second license is not permitted under the spectrum allocation proposal. 
See “—Regulation of Our GT&T Subsidiary.” We believe the bases on which we compete for customers are price, coverage and quality of service.

Bermuda Operations

Through our BDC affiliate, we provide wireless voice and data service to retail and business customers under the name “Cellular One” throughout the
island of Bermuda. BDC commenced operations in July 1999 and became the largest wireless operator in Bermuda by 2002. Bermuda has a total population



of approximately 65,000 and a per capita GDP of approximately $36,000, one of the highest in the world. The customer base in Bermuda, with its high
disposable income and business economy built on sophisticated financial services, has consistently shown demand for newer wireless services and
capabilities.

Network.   Following rapid upgrades in earlier years from analog to TDMA to CDMA, in early 2005, BDC enhanced the data speeds and capabilities of
its CDMA 1XRTT network by deploying Evolution Data Optimized (or EV-DO) services. Together with the improved handset functionality and data services
already enabled by CDMA 1XRTT technology, EV-DO enables BDC to offer significantly higher speed data services. BDC launched these services in the
first quarter of 2005 and they proved to be popular with existing and new customers. In late 2005, however, BDC was ordered by Bermuda’s Minister of
Telecommunications and Technology to cease providing certain of its new data services. BDC has appealed the order. See “—Regulation of Our BDC
Affiliate.”

BDC’s advanced network, operating in the 850 MHz frequency band, covers virtually the entire population of Bermuda. BDC also has extensive
backbone facilities on the island linking its sites, switching facilities and the international interconnection points.

Sales and Marketing.   BDC maintains four retail stores and a service center in Bermuda that are a core part of its brand identity and sales efforts. BDC
also advertises frequently in the newspapers and other media and sponsor various events and initiatives. BDC sells services in a number of post-paid
subscription plans that are distinguished largely by the number of minutes and the enhanced features, such as text messaging, included in the plan. A
substantial majority of BDC’s customers subscribe to one of its post-paid plans. BDC also has a small number of pre-paid subscribers and has established
“point of sale” payment terminals to enable those customers to increase their account balance at any one of a number of stores, such as a local grocer,
maintaining the terminals.

Customers.   At December 31, 2005, BDC had approximately 22,600 subscribers, which it estimates to be just less than half of the wireless market in
Bermuda. As the only CDMA operator on Bermuda, BDC is
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the roaming partner for two of the largest U.S. wireless providers. Since entering into roaming agreements with these and other carriers in 2003 and 2004,
BDC’s roaming traffic has grown and it has been able to offer improved roaming services and rates in North America and elsewhere. This has led to increased
roaming revenue in 2005 from visitors to Bermuda and from BDC subscribers traveling abroad. To take advantage of its enhanced data capabilities, BDC
plans to launch data roaming with these and other providers in 2006.

Competition.   Until the fourth quarter of 2001, BDC competed only with the wireless division of the incumbent telephone company in Bermuda, which
operates a GSM network. In 2001 another operator launched services on its newly built GSM network. This operator was acquired by Cingular (then AT&T
Wireless) and was subsequently sold in 2005 to Digicel. Although we believe that BDC has the most advanced network in terms of data speeds and reliability,
BDC’s competitors currently have an advantage in their ability to offer roaming in European countries, where all the major carriers operate GSM networks.
As discussed above, however, as the only CDMA operator in Bermuda BDC has strong relationships with the North American CDMA carriers. We believe
the bases on which we compete for wireless retail customers are features, price, technology deployed, network coverage (including through roaming
arrangements), quality of service and customer care.

Local Telephone and Data Services

Our local telephone and data services include our operations in Guyana, the U.S. Virgin Islands and the mainland United States.

Guyana Operations

Through our GT&T subsidiary, we are the exclusive provider of domestic wireline local and long distance telephone services in Guyana. As of
December 31, 2005, we had approximately 113,500 access lines in service. This represents approximately 15 lines per 100 inhabitants (based on an estimated
population of approximately 765,000), an increase of approximately 10%, or over 10,200 net new lines, compared to lines in service at December 31, 2004.
Of all fixed lines in service, the majority are in the largest urban areas, including Georgetown, Linden, New Amsterdam, Diamond and Beterverwagting.
During 2005, we continued to extend our network to cover additional rural towns and communities. However, despite our substantial and continuing
investment in extending our fixed line network, some rural areas still do not have telephone service.
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Network.   We have significantly rebuilt and expanded our telecommunications network. Through December 31, 2005, we have invested approximately
US$228 million in Guyanese telecommunications infrastructure. The number of fixed access lines has increased from approximately 13,000 working lines in
January 1991 to over 113,500 lines as of December 31, 2005, all of which are now digitally switched lines. The following table shows the increase in our
fixed access lines over time:

Our Guyana Fixed Access Lines



In addition, we have installed over 700 public telephones in locations across the country providing telecommunications for both local and international
calls in areas that previously did not have service. We also maintain three public telephone centers at which the public can pay to use an ordinary residential-
type telephone to make international and domestic calls.

Sales and Marketing.   Our revenues for fixed access domestic service are derived from installation charges for new lines, monthly line rental charges,
monthly measured service charges based on the number and duration of calls and other charges for maintenance and other customer services. For each
category of revenues, rates differ for residential and commercial customers. Customers desiring to obtain an access line submit written applications to one of
our customer service offices. Service representatives process the applications and service is installed within about two weeks (or, if service is not yet
available, the applicant is placed on a waiting list). We employ a minimal sales force, as wireline sales are primarily driven by network expansion and
availability of service. Our wireline subscribers pay for telephone service (including international long distance) after being billed for it. Customers can pay
their bills at any one of our six business centers, any Western Union branch, commercial banks and post offices.

Customers.   We provide our wireline telephone services to residential and commercial customers. As a result of our continued network expansion into
smaller communities, residential customers account for a growing portion of local telephone service revenues and the vast majority of new lines in service. In
2005, residential customers contributed approximately two thirds of the wireline local telephone service revenue and commercial customers provided one
third.

Competition.   Pursuant to our license from the Government of Guyana, we have the exclusive right to provide domestic wireline local and long distance
telephone service in Guyana. The exclusivity provisions
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of our license have been the subject of negotiations with the Government of Guyana. See “—Regulation of Our GT&T Subsidiary—Other Regulatory
Developments” and “Risk Factors—Our exclusive license to provide local exchange and long distance telephone services in Guyana is subject to significant
political and regulatory risk.”

U.S. Virgin Islands Operations

Through our Choice subsidiary, we are a leading provider of Internet access services in the U.S. Virgin Islands. We provide Internet access services
throughout the U.S. Virgin Islands, primarily under the domain names viaccess.net and islands.vi. Internet service is provided by dial-up and a variety of
wireless broadband technologies. The broadband services include WiFi hotspots, fixed wireless, and near-line-of-sight (or NLOS) portable wireless
capabilities sold under the ClearChoice™ service name. We also provide fixed wireless digital television services to residential subscribers and hotel rooms.
In July of 2005, we launched our new ClearChoice™ service, a NLOS broadband wireless service that allows customers to easily self-install the broadband
Internet service and provides the customer the ability to move service from one location to another. We completed infrastructure build-outs in 2004 that
significantly expanded the service areas covered by our wireless network. In 2005, aside from the launch of ClearChoice™ on the islands of St. Thomas and
St. John, we expanded our television coverage with the addition of a new tower on the southeast side of St. Thomas. We also began the rollout of broadband
WiFi hotspots to serve the extensive tourist market.

With respect to our Internet access services, we continue to experience an increase in customer demand for broadband access services and a decrease in
customer demand for dial-up services. As of the end of 2005, the number of our broadband data customers increased by 220% compared to 2004, as we
supplemented our existing broadband offering with ClearChoice™. During the same period the number of our dial-up subscribers decreased by 18%.

Network.   We have expanded our digital television and data networks over the last two years to support new service capabilities and provide more
capacity for new broadband Internet customers. In 2004, we decided to build our core and primary customer access data networks using licensed spectrum to
avoid the radio interference that often occurs in the U.S. Virgin Islands. All our services (other than WiFi hotspots) are provided over this licensed spectrum.
Currently, we are the only carrier in the U.S. Virgin Islands using  licensed spectrum to provide these services. Our network consists of fixed wireless radio
transceivers, WiFi modems and leased circuits connected to collocation equipment we maintain at the incumbent provider’s facilities.

Sales and Marketing.   We have expanded our presence in the marketplace by continued leverage of the Choice name. New services, such as
ClearChoice™, incorporate the marketplace recognition of the Choice name. Hotels continue to be an area of focus for our digital television services sales
efforts. We have three retail locations in the U.S. Virgin Islands that account for the majority of customer interaction.

Customers.   Our services are offered to local residential customers, the hotels catering to the tourism industry and other local businesses.

Competition.   Our Internet access services compete mostly with the local telephone company, as well as some smaller Internet providers. Our digital
television services compete mostly with the local cable television provider and, to a much lesser extent, satellite television service providers. We believe the



bases on which we compete for wireless broadband customers are price, ease of installation and network quality. We believe the bases on which we compete
for wireless digital television customers are price, programming and customer service.
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U.S. Operations

As a result of acquiring SoVerNet in February 2006, we are the largest competitive integrated voice and broadband data communications services
provider in Vermont. We also provide dial-up Internet access in parts of New Hampshire.

Network.   We provide voice and data services using a network comprised of telecommunications switching and related equipment that we own and
telecommunications lines that we typically lease from Verizon. We operate a high capacity fiber-optic ring network in Vermont that we use to connect 10 of
our largest markets in the state. As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately 9,700 voice lines and 3,000 broadband data lines.

Sales and Marketing.   We sell our services primarily through a direct sales force that assists customers in choosing tailored solutions for their unique
communication needs. The direct sales staff focuses on selling integrated voice and data to small and medium-sized businesses and other organizations. In
Vermont, the sales force is geographically dispersed to maximize customer acquisition. Residential services are largely sold through advertising and word of
mouth. We advertise on television and radio through cooperative arrangements and engage in other promotional activities from time to time.

Customers.   We focus on two subsets of customers in this market:  small to medium sized businesses (or SMBs) and residential customers. Our SMB
customers require up to 12 telephone lines for voice communications and digital subscriber line (or DSL), broadband data communications capability. Our
residential customers require voice and data communications (using either DSL or lower-speed, dial-up modems for data communications). As of
December 31, 2005, we had approximately 5,800 SMB and residential voice and broadband data customers and approximately 13,500 dial-up customers.

Competition.   We compete for customers by offering them a set of voice and data services designed to meet the specific needs of our two targeted
subsets of customers, coupled with superior customer service and competitive pricing. Our primary competitor is Verizon, the incumbent telecommunications
provider. We also compete occasionally with other competitive service providers who target small and medium sized businesses, cable companies and other
Internet service providers seeking to provide voice and/or data services primarily to residential customers.

International Long Distance Services

Through our GT&T subsidiary, we are the exclusive provider of international long distance voice and data communications into and out of Guyana. We
collect a payment from foreign carriers for handling international long distance calls originating from the foreign carriers’ country and terminating in Guyana.
We make a payment to foreign carriers for international calls from Guyana terminating in the foreign carrier’s country and are entitled to collect from our
subscribers a rate that is regulated by the Public Utilities Commission of Guyana.

For fiscal years 2003, 2004 and 2005, our revenues from international long distance services were 50%, 53% and 44%, respectively, of our consolidated
revenues. Most of these revenues were from collecting settlement rate payments, which are paid in U.S. dollars, for international long distance calls into
Guyana from other countries.
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For fiscal years 2003, 2004 and 2005, inbound international long distance traffic (together with outbound collect which also entitles us to receive a
settlement rate payment), was approximately 85% of our total minutes of international long distance traffic as shown in the table below:

  International Traffic  

  2003  2004  2005  

 
 (minutes in thousands)  

Inbound paid and outbound collect
 

124,341
  

83%
 

150,111
  

85%
 

156,857
  

85%
 

Outbound paid
 

25,644
  

17%
 

27,083
  

15%
 

27,386
  

15%
 

Total
 

149,985
  

100%
 

177,194
  

100%
 

184,243
  

100%
  

We estimate that over one million Guyanese live in the United States, the United Kingdom, and Canada and drive this profitable traffic to Guyana. With
respect to outgoing international traffic, during the past three years, amounts collected by us for outbound international traffic have in the aggregate exceeded
the payments due to foreign carriers for such traffic, and the average rate we pay for outgoing international traffic has declined significantly as well.

The rates at which we collect fees from foreign carriers for handling incoming international long distance calls, and the rates at which we pay foreign
carriers for handling outgoing international calls, are established by agreement between us and the foreign carriers, and can be affected by maximum limits set
by foreign telecommunications regulators, such as the Federal Communications Commission (or the FCC), as to how much carriers under their jurisdiction
may pay for the termination of an international traffic in another country.

Network.   Our international long distance network is linked with the rest of the world principally through our ownership of a portion of the Americas II
undersea fiber optic cable, which was commissioned in October 2000. We own capacity in four international fiber optic cables—the Americas I cable, which
runs from Brazil to Trinidad, the U.S. Virgin Islands and the mainland United States, the Columbus II cable, which runs from the Caribbean region to the
Azores, the Eastern Caribbean Fiber System (or ECFS) cable from Trinidad to Tortola and the Americas II cable which runs from Brazil through the
Caribbean to the United States with a branch through French Guiana, Suriname and Guyana.  We also lease capacity on an Intelsat satellite. We have two
Intelsat B earth stations, which provide both international and local services, and provide a partial back-up to our fiber optic cable capacity.

Sales and Marketing.   Our international long distance business is driven by the population of Guyanese living abroad and the number of people in
Guyana capable of initiating and receiving international long distance calls, which consists of wireline telephone customers and all of the wireless subscribers
in Guyana (including subscribers of other wireless service providers). We do not market long distance service independent of domestic wireline and wireless
services.

Customers.   With respect to outgoing international long distance calls, our customers consist of our local wireline customers and wireless subscribers.
With respect to incoming international long distance calls, we receive payments from foreign carriers, especially MCI (now owned by Verizon) and IDT



Corporation. For 2003, 2004 and 2005, MCI accounted for approximately 20%, 16% and 8%, respectively, and IDT Corporation accounted for approximately
4%, 12% and 14%, respectively, of our consolidated revenue. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report.

Competition.   Pursuant to our license from the Government of Guyana, we have the exclusive right to provide international long distance voice and data
service into and out of Guyana. The exclusivity provisions of our license have been the subject of negotiations with the Government of Guyana. See 
“—Regulation of Our GT&T Subsidiary—Other Regulatory Developments.” and “Risk Factors—Our exclusive license to provide local exchange and long
distances telephone services in Guyana is subject to significant political and regulatory risk.”  We have become aware of efforts to bypass our international
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exchange and avoid paying us termination fees. We have taken action against local companies and individuals who are engaging in these efforts. In addition,
we have sent letters to various foreign carriers seeking cessation of their involvement with these services, and in one case have filed an informal complaint
with the FCC in the United States, and against foreign carriers, in an effort to protect our network and our rights under our license. We will continue to
monitor these activities and move vigorously to defend our interests. See “Risk Factors—Any significant decline in the price or volume of international long
distance calls to Guyana could adversely affect our financial condition and results.”

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had 853 employees (803 full-time and 50 part-time), approximately 700 were employed by our GT&T subsidiary. At the
holding company level, we employ the executive management team and minimal staff. The substantial majority of the GT&T full-time work force is
represented by the Guyana Postal and Telecommunications Workers Union. GT&T completed negotiations with the union in the fourth quarter of 2004 on the
salaries and wages section of a new contract and signed an agreement (which applies to non-unionized personnel as well) awarding workers a 7% increase for
the period from October 2004 to September 2005 and a 6% increase for the period from October 2005 to September 2006. In November 2005, GT&T
successfully concluded the negotiation of the allowances which are provided to all staff in the areas of meal allowances, cashier allowances and cycle
allowances. All other allowances remained the same. GT&T’s contract with the union expires in September 2006. As a result of acquiring our SoVerNet
subsidiary, we added approximately 67 employees in February 2006.

We consider our employee relations to be satisfactory.

Regulation

Our telecommunications operations are subject to extensive governmental regulation. The following summary of regulatory developments and
legislation does not purport to describe all present and proposed federal, state, local, and foreign regulation and legislation that may affect our businesses.
Please refer to Note 11 of the financial statements included in this Report for a more detailed discussion of regulatory and litigation matters that concern our
business.

Legislative or regulatory requirements currently applicable to our businesses may change in the future and legislative or regulatory requirements may be
adopted by those jurisdictions that currently have none. Any such changes could impose new obligations on us that would adversely affect our operating
results.

Regulation of Our GT&T Subsidiary

We are subject to regulation in Guyana under the provisions of our licenses from the Government of Guyana, the Guyana Public Utilities Commission
Act of 1999 (or PUC law) and the Guyana Telecommunications Act 1990 (or Telecommunications Law). The Public Utilities Commission of Guyana (or
PUC) is an independent statutory body with the principal responsibility for regulating telecommunications services in Guyana. We also have certain
significant rights and obligations under the agreement pursuant to which we acquired our interests in GT&T in 1991, which we refer to as the Guyana
Agreement.

Licenses.   We provide domestic wireline local and long distance telephone services in Guyana pursuant to a license from the Government of Guyana
granting us the exclusive right to provide public telephone, radio telephone (except private radio telephone systems which do not interconnect with our
network) and pay station telephone services and national and international voice and data communications, sale of advertising in any directories of telephone
subscribers and switched or non-switched private line service. Under this license, our rates for most of our services must be approved by the PUC. The
license, which was issued in December 1990, has a 20 year term and is renewable for an
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additional 20 year term at our option. We provide wireless telephone service in Guyana pursuant to a non-exclusive license from the Government of Guyana
to provide wireless radio telephone service. Similarly, our wireless license was granted in December 1990 and has a 20 year term, which is renewable for an
additional 20 year term at our option.

Guyana Agreement.   In 1991, we entered into the Guyana Agreement, pursuant to which we agreed to provide telecommunications services for public
use, including completing by February 1995 a significant expansion of those services, in Guyana in exchange for a minimum return of 15% per annum on
GT&T’s capital dedicated to public use (or rate base). We believe the rate base includes GT&T’s entire property, plant and equipment pursuant to a rate of
return methodology consistent with the practices and procedures of the FCC. The PUC, however, has disallowed or challenged several million dollars of
franchise rights and working capital that we believe should be included in the rate base. The Guyana Agreement also provides that, upon non-renewal of our
exclusive wireline license, the Government of Guyana will be entitled to purchase our interest in GT&T or the assets of GT&T upon mutually agreed upon
terms or, absent such agreement, as may be determined by arbitration before the International Center for the Settlement of Investment Disputes.

PUC Law and Telecommunications Law.   The PUC Law and the Telecommunications Law provide the general framework for the regulation of
telecommunications services in Guyana. The PUC has authority to set rates and has certain powers to monitor our compliance with our exclusive wireline
license and to require us to supply it with such technical, administrative and financial information as it may request. While we have challenged its position,
the PUC claims broad authority to review and amend any of our programs for development and expansion of facilities or services.

We believe that the PUC has failed to adhere to the provisions of the Guyana Agreement guaranteeing us a minimum 15% per annum return on GT&T’s
rate base as required under the current PUC Law and predecessor statutes in effect since 1990. For a description of recent actions of the PUC, see Note 11 to



the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report.

Other Regulatory Developments.   In 2001, the Government of Guyana announced its intention to introduce additional competition into Guyana’s
telecommunications sector and reports and comments since that date indicate that this remains the Government’s intention. We believe that the introduction of
wireline based competition would require the termination of the exclusivity provisions of our wireline license, and thus would require our consent,
presumably for compensation and/or regulatory considerations such as a rebalancing of rates so that the rates for each service represent the real economic cost
of providing such services. We also believe that the government is considering shifting from rate of return regulation to incentive rate-cap regulation. In
February 2002, we began negotiations with the Government on these issues and all other outstanding issues between us and the Government; however,
negotiations have not progressed since the second quarter of 2002. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Overview” and Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report.

In March 2006, the NFMU reallocated the GSM 900 MHz spectrum, which was previously divided into two 24 MHz bands (awarded to us and CelStar
Guyana, Inc.), into four 12 MHz bands, with the expectation of licensing two additional wireless providers. We are in the process of analyzing the effect of
this reallocation on our network. We believe the most likely impact will be a further sectorizing of our network requiring us to add cell sites or equipment to
existing sites in order to maintain and increase capacity. In connection with the subdivision of the GSM 900 MHz spectrum, we have reached a preliminary
agreement with the Government pursuant to which we would be granted additional GSM 1800 MHz spectrum. In January 2006, we asked the Prime Minister,
who is responsible for telecommunications, to increase the frequency allocation in the Georgetown boundary area as it is becoming clear that the limited
spectrum allocation is creating significant problems for operators and their customers because of
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the constraints it imposes on network capacity. This area has a very dense population and constitutes over 40% of total wireless use in Guyana.

During 2005, GT&T became aware that GT&T’s existing wireless competition, CelStar Guyana, Inc. (or CSG), intended to apply for a second license in
the GSM 900 MHz band under the name and in the corporate entity of U-Mobile. After confirming such an application, GT&T asserted that this was an
improper attempt by one company to use and benefit from 50% of the GSM 900 MHz band rather than the 25% per-company allocation under the NFMU’s
regime. The Prime Minister informed GT&T that the required process of public notice and comment would be adhered to and that GT&T would be given an
opportunity to voice its concerns and objections before any such application was acted upon. In the interim, GT&T filed an application to the High Court
asking, among other things, that the Court order the publication of U-Mobile’s application so that the lawfulness of granting such an application could be
publicly considered. GT&T is not in a position at this time to predict whether U-Mobile will receive and be able to implement a license utilizing only 25% of
the GSM 900 MHz spectrum or the impact of any such action on GT&T’s operations.

Another wireless service provider, Digicel, who operates a cellular 900 MHz service in other Caribbean countries, has requested or applied for a mobile
license in Guyana. GT&T has strongly opposed this position and it is unclear at this time whether the Government will act on the Digicel application and, if
so, when such action will occur.

FCC Rule-Making and International Long Distance Rates.   The actions of telecommunications regulators, especially the FCC, affect the settlement rate
payable by foreign carriers to us for handling incoming international long distance calls. In 1997, the FCC adopted mandatory international accounting and
settlement rate benchmarks for many countries. In January 2002, the FCC reduced the settlement rate benchmark for low-income countries, including Guyana
from $0.85 to $0.23 per minute. The reduction in the settlement rate resulted in a substantial reduction in inbound international telecommunication revenue.
See “Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Overview.”  In 2002, and again in 2003, AT&T proposed
further reductions in the settlement rate benchmarks for many countries, including Guyana, and requested that the FCC initiate a rule-making to consider the
issue. While the FCC rejected AT&T’s request in early 2004, it indicated that it will continue to monitor and evaluate settlement rate benchmarks.

U.S. Federal Regulation of Our Commnet, SoVerNet, and Choice Subsidiaries

Our operations in the United States and the U.S. Virgin Islands are governed by the Communications Act of 1934, as amended (or Communications Act),
among other regulatory regimes. The Communications Act contains provisions specifically applicable to our wireless services, as well as provisions
applicable to both our wireless and landline services.

Wireless Services

The FCC regulates the licensing, construction, operation, acquisition and sale of wireless systems in the United States.

Licenses.   We provide our wireless services under various commercial mobile radio services (or CMRS) licenses granted by the FCC. Some of these
licenses are site-based while others cover specified geographic market areas, typically Metropolitan Statistical Areas (or MSAs) or Rural Service Areas (or
RSAs), as defined by the FCC. The FCC generally grants all CMRS licenses through an auction process, after determining how many licenses to make
available in particular frequency ranges and the terms on which the license auction will be conducted.
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License Renewals.   These licenses generally have a 10-year term and are renewable upon application to the FCC. Licenses may be revoked for cause,
and license renewal applications may be denied if the FCC determines that renewal would not serve the public interest, convenience, or necessity. At the time
of renewal, if we can demonstrate that we have complied with applicable FCC rules and policies and the Communications Act, then the FCC will award a
renewal expectancy to us and will generally renew our existing licenses without further considering any competing applications. If we do not receive a
renewal expectancy, then the FCC will accept competing applications for the license, subject to a comparative hearing. In that situation, the FCC may award
the license to another applicant. While our licenses have been renewed regularly by the FCC in the past, there can be no assurance that all of our licenses will
be renewed in the future.

The FCC may deny applications and, in extreme cases, revoke licenses, if it finds that an entity lacks the requisite “character” qualifications to be a
licensee. In making that determination, the FCC considers whether an applicant or licensee has been the subject of adverse findings in a judicial or
administrative proceeding involving felonies, the possession or sale of unlawful drugs, fraud, antitrust violations, or unfair competition, employment
discrimination, misrepresentations to the FCC or other government agencies, or serious violations of the Communications Act or FCC regulations. To our



knowledge, there are no activities and no judicial or administrative proceedings involving either the licensees in which we hold a controlling interest or us that
would warrant such a finding by the FCC.

With respect to some of our licenses, if we were to discontinue operation of a wireless system for a period of at least 90 continuous days, our license for
that area would be automatically forfeited.

License Acquisitions.   The FCC’s prior approval is required for the assignment or transfer of control of a license for a wireless system. Before we can
complete a purchase or sale, we must file appropriate applications with the FCC, which the FCC then puts on public notice, typically providing the public
with 30 days to oppose or comment on the proposed transaction. In addition, the FCC has implemented disclosure obligations that require licensees that
assign or transfer control of a license acquired in an auction within the first three years of the license term to file associated sale contracts, option agreements,
management agreements, or other documents disclosing the total consideration that the licensee would receive in return for the transfer or assignment of its
license. Non-controlling minority interests in an entity that holds a FCC license generally may be bought or sold without FCC approval, subject to any
applicable FCC notification requirements.

The FCC now engages in a case-by-case review of proposed transactions in which an entity would be attributed ownership of both wireless frequency
blocks in an MSA market or certain amounts of CMRS spectrum. We believe the FCC’s recent changes could further increase the ability of wireless operators
to attract capital or to make investments in other wireless operators. Further, the FCC now permits licensees to lease spectrum under certain conditions.
Spectrum leasing provides additional flexibility for wireless providers to structure transactions and creates additional business and investment opportunities.
We are leasing spectrum in certain areas.

Other Requirements.   Wireless providers must satisfy a variety of FCC requirements relating to technical and reporting matters. One requirement of
wireless providers is the coordination of proposed frequency usage with adjacent wireless users, permittees, and licensees in order to avoid interference
between adjacent systems. In addition, the height and power of wireless base station transmitting facilities and the type of signals they emit must fall within
specified parameters. Also, CMRS operators must be able to transmit 911 calls from any qualified handset without credit check or validation and are required
to provide the location of the 911 caller within an increasingly narrow geographic range. CMRS operators are also required to provide 911 service for
individuals with speech and hearing disabilities.

The radio systems towers that we own and lease are subject to Federal Aviation Administration and FCC regulations that govern the location, marking,
lighting, and construction of towers and are subject to
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the requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act, National Historic Preservation Act, and other environmental statutes enforced by the FCC. The
FCC has also adopted guidelines and methods for evaluating human exposure to radio frequency emissions from radio equipment. We believe that all of our
radio systems on towers that we own or lease comply in all material respects with these requirements, guidelines, and methods.

In August 2005, the FCC initiated a proceeding to review the rules governing roaming services, or arrangements between CMRS operators when one
operator’s subscribers make or receive calls over a second operator’s network. We cannot predict the net impact of any changes in the roaming rules on us.

Wireless and Wireline Services

In general, all telecommunications providers are obligated to contribute to the federal Universal Service Fund (or USF), which provides wireline and
wireless telephone service to individuals and families qualifying for federal assistance or households located in remote areas. Contributions to the federal USF
are based on end user interstate telecommunications revenue. Some states have similar programs which require contribution based on end user intrastate
telecommunications revenue.

Amendments to the Communications Act encourage competition in local telecommunications markets by removing barriers to market entry and
imposing on non-rural incumbent local exchange carriers (or ILECs), among other things, duties to:

·       negotiate interconnection agreements at any technically feasible point on just, reasonable, and non-discriminatory rates, terms, and conditions;

·       provide access to certain unbundled network elements (or UNEs), such as local loops and interoffice transport, or combinations of UNEs at
nondiscriminatory, cost-based rates;

·       provide physical collocation, which allows competitive local exchange carriers (or CLECs), such as SoVerNet, to install and maintain its network
termination equipment in an ILEC’s central office or to obtain functionally equivalent forms of interconnection under certain circumstances;

·       provide access to poles, ducts, conduits, and rights-of-way on a reasonable, non-discriminatory basis;

·       offer retail local telephone services to resellers at discounted wholesale rates;

·       when a call originates on its network, compensate other telephone companies for terminating or transporting the call;

·       provide dialing parity, which ensures that customers are able to route their calls to telecommunications service providers without having to dial
additional digits;

·       provide notice of changes in information needed for another carrier to transmit and route services using its facilities; and

·       provide telephone number portability, so customers may keep the same telephone number if they switch service providers.

In addition, under section 271 of the Communications Act, the Bell Operating Companies (or BOCs) have an obligation to provide certain network
elements, including certain network elements (for example, local switching) that have been removed from the mandatory list of network elements that must
be unbundled under section 251 of the Communications Act. The BOCs are required to provide network elements made available under section 271 of the
Communications Act under a “just and reasonable” pricing standard.
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SoVerNet operates in a region where the ILEC is required to comply with the above-mentioned statutory provisions, and, accordingly, has benefited from
the reduced costs in acquiring required communication services, such as ILEC interconnection, and has benefited from the right to receive compensation for
the termination of traffic. Provisions relating to interconnection, telephone number portability, equal access, and resale could, however, subject us to increased
competition and additional economic and regulatory burdens.

Choice has not similarly benefited from these provisions, because, in contrast to SoVerNet, Choice operates in a region where the ILEC is classified as a
rural ILEC, such that under section 251(f) of the Communications Act, the rural ILEC is exempt from certain unbundling and other obligations that are set
forth in section 251(c) of the Communications Act.

Internet Services

We provide Internet access services as an Internet service provider (or ISP). The FCC has classified such services as information services, so they are not
subject to various regulatory obligations that are imposed on common carriers, such as paying access charges or contributing to the Universal Service Fund.
On September 23, 2005, the FCC announced a policy of ensuring neutral access to and operation of the Internet. SBC and Verizon, the two largest ILECs,
agreed to conduct their businesses in compliance with the FCC policy as a condition of the FCC’s approval of their acquisitions of AT&T and MCI (now
owned by Verizon), respectively. We, however, do not know to what extent or in what context the FCC will enforce these policies, and whether the FCC will
constrain any ILEC actions taken in contravention of these policies. There may be new legislation or further FCC action to address access to the Internet, and
we cannot predict the impact of any such actions on our results or operations. Also, the FCC generally preempts state and local regulation of information
services.

State Regulation of Our Commnet and SoVerNet Subsidiaries

Federal law preempts state and local regulation of the entry of, or the rates charged by, any CMRS provider. As a practical matter, we are free to establish
rates and offer new products and service with a minimum of regulatory requirements. The states in which we operate maintain nominal oversight jurisdiction.
For example, although states do not have the authority to regulate the entry or the rates charged by CMRS providers, states may regulate the “other terms and
conditions” of a CMRS provider’s service. Most states still maintain some form of jurisdiction over  complaints as to the nature or quality of services and as
to billing issues. Since states may continue to regulate “other terms and conditions” of wireless service, and a number of state authorities have initiated
actions or investigations of various wireless carrier practices, the outcome of these proceedings is uncertain and could require us to change certain of our
practices and ultimately increase state regulatory authority over the wireless industry. States and localities assess on wireless carriers such as us, taxes and
fees that may equal or even exceed federal obligations.

The location and construction of our wireless transmitter towers and antennas are subject to state and local environmental regulation, as well as state or
local zoning, land use and other regulation. Before we can put a system into commercial operation, we must obtain all necessary zoning and building permit
approvals for the cell site and tower locations. The time needed to obtain zoning approvals and requisite state permits varies from market to market and state
to state. Likewise, variations exist in local zoning processes. If zoning approval or requisite state permits cannot be obtained, or if environmental rules make
construction impossible or infeasible on a particular site, our network design might be adversely affected, network design costs could increase and the service
provided to our customers might be reduced.
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Regulation of Our Choice Subsidiary

Our operations in the U.S. Virgin Islands are regulated by the FCC and governed by the  Communications Act. Like other states, the U.S. Virgin Islands
has a Public Services Commission (or PSC) that oversees public utilities including the local telephone company. We are not regulated by the PSC, however,
we often appear before the PSC in our efforts to provide competitive telecommunications services in the U.S. Virgin Islands.

In 2002, we petitioned the PSC for classification as an “Eligible Telecommunications Carrier” (or ETC), which would permit us to apply for federal
funds to deploy telecommunications services in rural and high-cost areas. In 2004, the PSC concluded that it lacked jurisdiction to decide this issue and
directed the petition to the FCC. In January 2005, we filed a petition for ETC status with the FCC, which is pending. If we are designated an ETC, a
significant capital investment may be necessary to build out the capabilities to sustain the ETC designation and meet the requirements for federal support.

In July 2004, the FCC released an Order revising the rules and spectrum band plan applicable to the Broadband Radio Service and Educational
Broadband Service. These are the spectrum bands through which we operates our video and broadband data services. The new rules restructure these bands
and could impact our operations and customers. We have objected to the new rules and requested an opportunity to opt-out of the new band plan.  We are
working to minimize the potential negative impact on us and, in 2005, obtained from the FCC additional spectrum in which to operate.

Regulation of Our BDC Affiliate

In Bermuda, our BDC affiliate is subject to Bermuda’s Telecommunications Act 1986, as amended. In November 2005, the Minister of
Telecommunications and Technology directed BDC to cease offering certain data services through its “Bull” branded wireless modem. While BDC has
appealed the directive in Bermuda court claiming that the directive contravenes BDC’s license to provide data services and BDC’s long history of providing
data services, we cannot guarantee that BDC’s claim will prevail in court. This directive has no impact on BDC’s wireless voice services.

Taxation—Guyana

GT&T’s worldwide income is subject to Guyanese tax at a rate of 45% of taxable income. The Guyana Agreement provides that the repatriation of
dividends to Atlantic Tele-Network and any payment of interest on GT&T debt denominated in foreign currency are not subject to withholding taxes. It also
provides that fees payable by GT&T to Atlantic Tele-Network or any of its subsidiaries for management services shall be payable in foreign currency and
shall not be subject to currency restrictions or withholding or other Guyana taxes. GT&T has a number of tax issues pending before the Guyana revenue
authorities or the Guyana courts. See “Risk Factors—Risk Relating to Our Wireless and Wireline Services in Guyana—GT&T is engaged in significant tax
disputes with the Guyanese tax authorities which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.” Note 11 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this Report.

Taxation—United States

As a U.S. corporation, Atlantic Tele-Network is subject to U.S. federal income taxation on its worldwide net income, currently at rates up to 35% of
taxable income. Due to the 2005 acquisition of Commnet Wireless, LLC and its classification as a domestic partnership for U.S. tax purposes, Atlantic Tele-



Network has included its pro rata share of Commnet’s taxable income in its U.S. taxable income. In February 2006, Atlantic Tele-Network acquired
SoVerNet, Inc., also a domestic based company.
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In general, a U.S. corporation is only subject to U.S. taxation on the earnings and profits (or E&P) of a foreign corporation when they are actually
distributed. However, there are exceptions for certain types of income of a controlled foreign corporation ("CFC") that may require E&P to be included in the
United States parent's taxable income before it is actually distributed.

GT&T is a CFC for purposes of the Subpart F provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended or the Code. Under those provisions,
Atlantic Tele-Network may be required to include in income certain E&P at the time such E&P are earned by GT&T, or at certain other times prior to being
distributed to Atlantic Tele-Network. These earnings are referred to as “Subpart F” income. In general, to the extent E&P are distributed in a later year, the
previously taxed amounts are not subject to U.S. taxation upon the distribution. For the current year, Atlantic Tele-Network has included into U.S. income a
portion of the unremitted E&P of GT&T. Pursuant to the foreign tax credit provisions of the Code, and subject to complex limitations contained under those
provisions, Atlantic Tele-Network is entitled to credit foreign withholding taxes on dividends or interest received, and foreign corporate income taxes of its
subsidiaries paid with respect to income distributed as dividends or income inclusions under Subpart F from such subsidiaries, against Atlantic Tele-
Network’s U.S. federal income tax.

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act, which addressed multiple areas of U.S. taxation, was signed into law. For Atlantic Tele-Network,
the most relevant sections included an increased carryforward period of certain foreign tax credits from 5 years to 10 years and increased ability to offset
Alternative Minimum Tax (or AMT) with foreign tax credits. As of the end of 2005, Atlantic Tele-Network has a foreign tax credit carryforward of
approximately $11 million. These credits begin expiring in 2011. Based upon current projections and planning, Atlantic Tele-Network currently estimates that
it is more likely than not that $5.8 million of these credits will expire unutilized. The Company has therefore placed a valuation allowance of $5.8 million
against the foreign tax credit carryforward. As of the end of 2005, Atlantic Tele-Network has Alternative Minimum Tax Credits of approximately $600,000.
The AMT credits have no expiration date.

Historically, Atlantic Tele-Network’s overall effective tax rate exceeds the effective tax rates for Guyana and the U.S. The higher effective tax rate is
attributable to reserves provided for uncertain tax positions in Guyana, the operating losses with respect to Choice Communications that Atlantic Tele-
Network has not been able to derive any tax benefits from and state taxes that have resulted from the acquisition of Commnet.

A U.S. corporation is classified as a Personal Holding Company (or PHC) if (a) more than 50% of its capital stock is owned directly or indirectly by or
for five or fewer individuals (or pension plans); and (b) at least 60% of its adjusted ordinary gross income consists of certain types of income (principally
passive income, including interest and dividends) included in the Code definition of “PHC Income.” For any taxable year that a corporation is a PHC, the
“undistributed personal holding company income” of such corporation for that year (i.e., the net income of the corporation as reflected on its U.S. corporate
income tax return, with certain adjustments, minus, in general, federal income tax and dividends distributed or deemed distributed for this purpose) would be
subject to an additional PHC tax of 15%. Atlantic Tele-Network currently satisfies the above ownership criterion but we believe Atlantic Tele-Network does
not satisfy the income criterion for classification as a PHC for 2004 and 2005.
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Available Information

Our website address is www.atni.com. The information on our website is not incorporated by reference in this Report and you should not consider
information provided on our website to be part of this Report. You may access, free of charge, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, plus amendments to such reports as filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a)or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, through the “Financial Statements and Federal Filings” portion of our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. In addition, paper copies of these documents may be obtained
free of charge by writing to us at 10 Derby Square, Salem, Massachusetts 01970, Attention:  Investor Relations; or by calling us at (978) 745-8106.

We have adopted a written Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees and directors, including, but not limited to, our
principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. Our code of
conduct is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to this Report.

ITEM 1A.   RISK FACTORS

Risks Relating to Our Wireless and Wireline Services in Guyana

Our exclusive license to provide local exchange and long distance telephone services in Guyana is subject to significant political and regulatory risk.

Since 1991, our subsidiary Guyana Telephone and Telegraph Company, Limited (or GT&T) has operated in Guyana pursuant to a license from the
Government of Guyana to be the exclusive provider of local exchange and long distance services. From time to time, Guyana Government officials have
publicly stated their intention to revoke or terminate the license and have made efforts to enact legislation that would allow for competition in areas that are
precluded by the exclusivity terms. President Bharrat Jagdeo has publicly stated that it is a priority of his administration to enable other telecommunications
companies to provide wireline services covered by our exclusive license, as well as to increase the number of wireless service providers. While we would
seek to enforce our rights under the exclusive wireline license and believe that we would be entitled to damages for any termination of that license, we cannot
guarantee that we would prevail in any court or arbitration proceedings.

We are highly dependent on GT&T for a substantial majority of our revenues and profits. Approximately 85% of our consolidated revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2005 were generated by GT&T. As of December 31, 2005, we have invested approximately $228 million in Guyanese
telecommunications infrastructure. Any modification, early termination or other revocation of the exclusive wireline license could adversely affect a
substantial majority of our revenues and profits and diminish the value of our investment in Guyana.

Any significant decline in the price or volume of international long distance calls to Guyana could adversely affect our financial condition and results.



We collect payments from foreign carriers for handling international long distance calls originating from the foreign carriers’ countries and ending in
Guyana. The payments, which are based on volume and payment rates, are pursuant to arrangements we have with the foreign carriers and are subject to the
actions of telecommunications regulators, such as the U.S. Federal Communications Commission (or FCC). For the year ended December 31, 2005, our
revenues from GT&T’s international long distance services were $45.4 million (or 44% of our consolidated revenue for 2005) and constituted a significant
portion of our profits. Most of these revenues and profits were from collecting payments for international long distance calls into Guyana from other
countries.
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Any decrease in the payment rate or the volume of inbound long distance calls would reduce the amount of the payments we collect. In January 2002,
the FCC reduced the payment rate for U.S.-Guyana traffic from $0.85 per minute to $0.23 per minute which negatively impacted GT&T’s operating profits.
The lowering of the U.S. international settlement rate in 2002 has been followed by a gradual reduction in settlement rates between Guyana and most other
countries to $0.23 per minute or less. We believe the volume of outbound international long distance voice traffic is increasingly being threatened by
customers and illegal operators bypassing our international exchange through various means, including sending voice traffic as Voice over Internet Protocol
(or VoIP). Further reductions in the payment rates or a decline in inbound international long distance volume, through VoIP or otherwise, would adversely
affect our revenues and profits, and would deprive us of a critical source of U.S. currency as payments from foreign carriers to GT&T are in U.S. dollars.

The regulation of the rates that GT&T may charge for local wireline telephone service may adversely affect our profitability, revenue growth and our
ability to make additional network investment in Guyana.

The rates that GT&T may charge for local wireline phone service are regulated by the Public Utility Commission (or PUC), an independent regulatory
body responsible for regulating telecommunications in Guyana. The PUC has authority to set local wireline rates and has broad powers to assess GT&T’s
compliance with the terms of GT&T’s exclusive license with the Government of Guyana. Under that license, GT&T is entitled to charge rates that will enable
it to earn an annual minimum rate of return equal to 15% of GT&T’s capital dedicated to public use. Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, the license
states that such rates shall be calculated on the basis of GT&T’s entire property, plant and equipment in a manner consistent with the practices and procedures
of the FCC. The PUC, however, has disallowed or challenged several million dollars of franchise rights and working capital that we believe should be
included in the base upon which rates are determined in accordance with the terms of the license (or rate base). Any failure by the PUC to calculate rates in
accordance with the rate of return calculation in the license would adversely affect our profitability, revenue growth and our ability to make additional
network investment in that country.

In addition, we calculate the rate base in U.S. dollars based on a historical U.S. dollar valuation of dedicated capital, which protects the value of GT&T
earnings from devaluations in the Guyanese dollar. The PUC has neither approved nor disapproved this method of calculation. If we were required to
calculate the rate base based on a Guyanese dollar valuation of dedicated capital, the value of GT&T’s earnings would be subject to devaluations in the
Guyanese dollar.

GT&T is engaged in significant tax disputes with the Guyanese tax authorities which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations.

GT&T’s worldwide income is subject to Guyanese tax at an overall rate of 45%. GT&T has received various income tax assessments from Guyana tax
authorities for past periods that claim GT&T owes approximately $23.5 million in additional income taxes. A substantial portion of this amount is based on
the disallowance of 80% of GT&T’s deduction for management fees paid to us pursuant to the original investment agreement and related agreements. This
management fee is currently set at approximately 6% of GT&T’s revenue. Although we believe that the fee is part of the original contract, is similar to
amounts charged by other international telecommunications companies to their foreign subsidiaries for management advisory services and is an appropriate
and proper expense, we may not prevail in these tax disputes. In addition, as part of an overall settlement of outstanding issues with the Government we might
be forced to agree to reduce the amount of, or deductibility of, the management fees. If GT&T is required to pay these additional taxes and/or reduce our
management fee, it could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
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Political transition in Guyana may adversely affect our operations.

Presidential elections are currently scheduled to take place in Guyana during the Summer of 2006. In the past, presidential elections in Guyana have
caused an escalation of political and ethnic strife, and some observers are concerned that the upcoming elections could cause significant unrest, including acts
of violence, vandalism and economic disruption. Given the potential for negative impact on our employees and our customers in Guyana, any such unrest,
especially if severe or prolonged, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Other Risks Relating to Our Businesses and Industry

Increased competition may adversely affect growth, require increased capital expenditures, result in the loss of existing customers and decrease our
revenues.

We face competition in the markets in which we operate. For example:

·       In Guyana, we face current competition from a nationwide wireless service provider and may face additional competition in the future. Guyana
Government officials, including the President, have stated that Guyana will provide a wireless license to a large mobile telecommunications company
operating in many Caribbean countries.

·       In Vermont, in addition to other competitive voice and data communications service providers, we compete with a much larger national carrier, which
has greater financial resources, greater economies of scale and may employ more advanced technology than us.

·       Commnet’s greatest competitive risk is the possibility that its current customers may elect to build or enhance their own networks within the rural
market in which Commnet currently provides service, which is commonly known as “over-building.”  If Commnet’s customers, which have greater
financial resources and access to capital than we have, determine to over-build, their need for Commnet’s roaming services will be significantly
reduced or eliminated.



·       In Bermuda, BDC competes with the incumbent wireless service provider and a larger regional provider, which because of the their greater size and
financial resources, have earlier access to the most technologically advanced handsets and have greater negotiating power in purchasing handsets and
other equipment from vendors.

Over the last several years, an increase in competition has contributed to a decline in prices for communication services, including local and long
distance telephone service, data services and mobile wireless services. Increased competition may decrease prices further. In addition, increased competition
could reduce our customer base, require us to invest in new facilities and capabilities and reduce revenues, margins and returns.

Our retail wireless businesses may not continue to grow at the same rate as in the past.

The future growth of our retail wireless businesses and affiliates may be constrained by the smaller markets that we serve. In Guyana, the wireless
communications market is relatively small in comparison with other developing countries and regions. At December 31, 2005, we estimate that the wireless
penetration rate (the percentage of a population subscribing to wireless services) in Guyana is approximately 32%. Bermuda is also a relatively small wireless
market. At December 31, 2005, we estimate that the wireless penetration rate in Bermuda is approximately 70%. It is unlikely that our wireless subscriber
levels will continue to grow at the same rate as in the past.

In addition, we believe that some portion of our wireless subscriber growth in Guyana since our deployment of GSM services in the fourth quarter of
2004 may be a result of TDMA prepaid subscribers buying a GSM handset and temporarily retaining their TDMA handset until their TDMA prepaid accounts
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are depleted. Such a subscriber would temporarily appear as two subscribers in our wireless growth numbers. This overlap would likely abate with the
passage of time, which may reduce the future subscriber growth numbers but should not affect revenue.

A significant portion of our U.S. wireless revenue is derived from a small number of customers.

Our Commnet subsidiary generates a substantial majority of its revenues from two national wireless service providers. From September 15, 2005,
through December 31, 2005, two national wireless service providers together accounted for 81% of Commnet’s revenues. Commnet’s relationships with its
customers generally are much more financially significant for Commnet than its customers, which can give its customers significant leverage in negotiating
pricing and other terms. If we fail to keep any of these customers satisfied with our service offerings or economic terms, we could lose their business and
suffer a substantial loss of revenue, which would have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Our failure to maintain favorable roaming arrangements could have a material adverse effect on our ability to provide service to retail wireless customers
who travel outside our coverage area.

In addition to providing us with significant revenue, the roaming arrangements established by BDC and, to a lesser extent, GT&T enable our retail
wireless customers to use the wireless networks of other wireless carriers when they travel outside of our licensed service area. This enables us to offer our
customers competitively priced regional and international rate plans that include areas for which we do not own wireless licenses, and this is particularly
important to BDC’s customers in Bermuda who travel frequently. If we are not able to maintain favorable roaming agreements with other wireless carriers, we
may no longer be able to offer these regional and international rate plans and the coverage area and pricing we offer to our customers may not be as attractive
relative to the offers from our competitors. This could have a material adverse effect on our future operations and financial condition. When our roaming
agreements expire or are terminated, our roaming partners could choose not to renegotiate such agreements and could enter into roaming agreements with
other carriers serving our markets or choose not to include our markets in their service offerings altogether. Furthermore, our roaming revenue is highly
dependent on the pricing decisions made by our roaming partners. If our markets are not included in our roaming partners’ home calling areas and are instead
subject to the imposition of additional roaming charges, we could see a loss of roaming minutes and revenue which could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations.

Our foreign operations are subject to economic, political and other risks that could adversely affect our revenues or financial position.

Our operations in Guyana and Bermuda may face adverse financial consequences and operational problems due to foreign political or economic changes,
such as changes in national or regional political or economic conditions, or laws and regulations that restrict repatriation of earnings or other funds. In
addition, we face risks associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Any of these changes could adversely affect our revenues or financial
position.

Regulatory changes may impose restrictions that adversely affect us or cause us to incur significant unplanned costs in modifying our business plans or
operations.

We are subject to U.S. federal, state and local regulations, Bermuda regulations and Guyanese regulations, all of which are subject to change. As new
telecommunications laws and regulations are issued, we may be required to modify our business plans or operations. We cannot assure you that we can do so
in a cost-effective manner. In addition, the failure by us to comply with applicable governmental regulations
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could result in the loss of our licenses or authorizations to operate, the assessment of penalties or fines or otherwise may have a material adverse effect on the
results of our operations.

SoVerNet, Commnet and Choice are subject to the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (or 1996 Act). The interpretation and implementation of the
provisions of the 1996 Act and the FCC rules implementing the 1996 Act continue to be heavily debated and may have a material adverse effect on our
business, particularly our operations in Vermont. Also, although legislation has not yet been introduced, there have been indications that Congress may
substantially revise the 1996 Act in the next few years. We cannot predict what effect any new legislation will have on our businesses.

SoVerNet and Commnet are also subject to state regulatory commissions to the extent they provide intrastate services. While we have obtained the
necessary certifications to provide service, each state commission retains the authority to revoke our certificate if that commission determines we have
violated any condition of our certification or if it finds that doing so would be in the public interest. While we believe we are in compliance with regulatory



requirements, our interpretation of our obligations may differ from those of regulatory authorities. Both federal and state regulators require us to pay various
fees and assessments, file periodic reports and comply with various rules regarding the contents of our bills, on an on-going basis. If we fail to comply with
these requirements, we may be subject to fines or potentially be asked to show cause as to why our certificate of authority to provide service should not be
revoked.

In Guyana, we are subject to regulation by the PUC, which has authority to assess GT&T’s compliance with the terms of GT&T’s exclusive wireline
license with the Guyanese Government and has regulatory authority over GT&T’s wireless service. In February 2006, GT&T received a letter from the PUC
alleging quality of service complaints from GT&T wireless subscribers and requesting that GT&T suspend any further sales of its wireless service until
service levels are improved. Although we believe the letter is not enforceable, we cannot guarantee that a court or arbitrator would agree. Although no quality
of service rules currently exist under Guyanese law, the PUC has broad authority to regulate telecommunications service. The PUC could adopt such rules in
the future and, subject to compliance with public hearings and process requirements, make a determination of substandard quality of services and issue a
formal directive regarding the suspension of new sales of wireless services. See “Business—Regulation of Our Guyana Subsidiary.”

In Bermuda, BDC is subject to the Telecommunications Act 1986. In November 2005, the Minister of Telecommunications and Technology directed
BDC to cease offering certain data services through its “Bull” branded wireless modem. While BDC has appealed the directive in Bermuda court claiming
that the directive contravenes BDC’s license to provide data services and BDC’s long history of providing data services, we cannot guarantee that BDC’s
claim will prevail in court. If the directive against BDC is upheld, it could negatively affect BDC’s ability to grow its revenue. See “Business—Regulation of
Our BDC Affiliate.”

U.S. federal or state governments (including territorial governments) or the governments of Guyana or Bermuda could adopt regulations or take other
actions that might have a material adverse effect on our business. These changes could materially and adversely affect our business prospects and operating
results.

The loss of certain licenses would adversely affect our ability to provide wireless and broadband services.

In the United States, wireless, PCS, and microwave licenses are valid for ten years from the effective date of the license. Licensees may renew their
licenses for additional ten-year periods by filing renewal applications with the FCC. Commnet’s wireless licenses expire between 2007 and 2115. Choice’s
wireless licenses expire between  2008 and 2016. The renewal applications are subject to FCC review and are put out for public comment to ensure that the
licensees meet their licensing requirements and comply with other applicable FCC mandates. Failure to file for renewal of these licenses or failure to meet
any licensing requirements could lead to a denial of the renewal application and thus adversely affect our ability to

24

continue to provide service in that license area. Furthermore, our compliance with regulatory requirements such as enhanced 911 and CALEA requirements
may depend on the availability of necessary equipment or software. Failure to comply with these regulatory requirements may have an adverse effect on our
licenses or operations and could result in sanctions, fines or other penalties.

Rapid and significant technological changes in the telecommunications industry may adversely affect us.
We face rapid and significant changes in technology. In particular, the telecommunications industry is experiencing significant technological changes,

including:

·       evolving industry standards;
·       the allocation of new radio frequency spectrum in which to license and operate advanced wireless services;
·       ongoing improvements in the capacity and quality of digital technology and shorter development cycles for new products and enhancements;

·       changes in end-user requirements and preferences;
·       the development of VoIP telephony services;

·       development of data and broadband capabilities; and

·       migration to next-generation services, which may require the purchase of additional spectrum.

For us to keep up with these technological changes and remain competitive, we will be required to continue to make significant capital expenditures. Our
value to the wireless carriers that are Commnet’s customers depends in part on our network’s capability of supporting the services that such carriers’
customers demand. For example, mobile high-speed wireless data services, which allow customers of wireless carriers to use the wireless network to send and
receive data files and access the Internet, have become increasingly popular in the United States. While we offer certain advanced services, such as GSM-
EDGE, in certain of our coverage areas, we do not currently offer those services in all areas nor do we currently offer other such services such as CDMA EV-
DO. As demand for these services continues to grow, we may have difficulty satisfying our customers without substantial upgrades, which could have an
adverse effect on our business.  Similarly, in other markets, if we do not offer new services that are popular with customers and are offered by competitors, we
may have difficulty attracting and retaining subscribers, which will have an adverse effect on our business.

We cannot predict the effect of technological changes on our business. Technological changes may result in increases in our capital expenditures. New
technologies may be protected by patents or other intellectual property laws and therefore may not be available to us. Also, alternative technologies may be
developed that provide communications service or alternative service superior to that available from us. Rapid changes in technology in our market may
adversely affect our business. For example, to accommodate the demand by customers of Commnet’s roaming partners for next generation advanced wireless
products such as high-speed data and streaming video, we may be required to purchase additional spectrum. In each of our markets, providing more and
higher speed data services through our wireless or wireline networks may require us to make substantial investments in additional telecommunications
transport capacity connecting our networks to the Internet, and in some cases such capacity may not be available to us or be available on attractive terms.  We
cannot assure you that we will gain access to spectrum or capacity at a reasonable cost or at all. Failure to provide these services could have a material
adverse effect on our ability to compete with carriers offering these new technologies in our markets.
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We rely on a limited number of key suppliers and vendors for timely supply of equipment and services relating to our network infrastructure. If these
suppliers or vendors experience problems or favor our competitors, we could fail to obtain sufficient quantities of the products and services we require
to operate our businesses successfully.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers and vendors for equipment and services relating to our network infrastructure. If these suppliers experience
interruptions or other problems delivering these network components on a timely basis, our subscriber or revenue growth and operating results could suffer
significantly. Our initial choice of a network infrastructure supplier can, where proprietary technology of the supplier is an integral component of the network,
cause us to be effectively locked into one or a few suppliers for key network components. As a result, we have become reliant upon a limited number of
network equipment manufacturers, including GT&T’s reliance upon Nortel Networks and BDC’s reliance upon Lucent Technologies, Inc. If it becomes
necessary to seek alternative suppliers and vendors, we may be unable to obtain satisfactory replacement suppliers or vendors on economically attractive
terms on a timely basis.

If we lose our senior management, our business may be adversely affected; we rely on local management to run our operating units.
The success of our business is largely dependent on our executive officers and the executive officers of our operating units, as well as on our ability to

attract and retain other highly qualified technical and management personnel. We believe that there is, and will continue to be, intense competition for
qualified personnel in the communications industry, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to attract and retain the personnel necessary for the
development of our business. The loss of key personnel or the failure to attract additional personnel as required could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. We do not currently maintain “key person” life insurance on any of our key employees and none of the
executives at our parent company are under employment agreements.

We rely heavily on local management to run our operating units. Most of the markets we operate in are small and somewhat isolated and therefore it is
particularly difficult attracting and retaining talent qualified managers and staff in those markets. For example, we have spent many months trying to find an
appropriate replacement for our departing chief financial officer of GT&T.
Our network capacity and customer service system may not be adequate and may not expand quickly enough to support our customer growth.

Our financial and operational success depends on assuring that we have adequate network capacity and a sufficient customer and operational support
systems to accommodate anticipated new customers and the related increase in usage of our network. This includes capacity on our wireline and wireless
networks and capacity on our inter- and intra-network transport facilities. Our failure to expand and upgrade our networks and transport facilities to meet the
increased usage could impair our quality of service, cause a decline in customer satisfaction and have a material adverse effect on our business. For example,
we have been experiencing severe congestion problems on parts of our GSM network in Guyana and, as a result, have experienced adverse publicity and
negative reaction from our customers and Guyana regulators.

Our wireless network capacity plans in Guyana and Bermuda generally rely on:
·  the availability of wireless handsets of the appropriate model and type to meet the demands and preferences of our customers;
·  the ability to obtain and construct additional cell sites and other infrastructure equipment;

·  the ability to obtain additional spectrum if required; and
·  the ability to obtain the capital to expand and upgrade our network.
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In addition, we must implement, manage and monitor effective procedures for customer activation, customer service, billing and other support services.
Reliance on our customer service functions will increase as we add new customers. Our failure to timely and efficiently meet the demands for these services
could decrease or slow subscriber growth or delay or otherwise impede billing and collection of amounts owed, which would adversely affect our revenue.
We cannot make assurances that our customer service systems and network capacity will expand quickly enough to keep up with our anticipated customer
growth, and failure to do so would impair our ability to compete, which would adversely affect our results and financial operations.

Our wireless and wireline revenues depend on the reliability and performance of our network infrastructure.

We must operate our wireless and wireline networks so as to minimize any disruption that may occur to our services. The operation and growth of our
networks and the implementation of new technologies and services involve operating risks that may disrupt our services and cause losses in revenue. In
Guyana, for example, the Americas II fiber optic cable, which connects Guyana with the United States, has been repeatedly vandalized and severed during the
past year, resulting in service outages, customer dissatisfaction and increased repair expense. Other risks which may also cause interruptions in service or
reduced capacity for customers include power loss, capacity limitations, software defects and breaches of security by computer viruses, break-ins or
otherwise. Disruptions in our networks and the unavailability of our services could lead to a loss of customers, damage to our reputation and violation of the
terms of our licenses and contracts with customers. These failures could also lead to significant negative publicity, regulatory problems and litigation.

The occurrence of severe weather and natural catastrophes may materially disrupt our operations.

We operate in Guyana, the U.S. Virgin Islands and Bermuda, which have experienced severe weather conditions over the years including hurricanes,
damaging storms and floods. Such events may materially disrupt and adversely affect our business operations. A major hurricane passed over Bermuda in
2005 causing major damage to our network and to the island’s infrastructure. Guyana has suffered from severe rains and flooding in each of the last two
years. While these events have not had a significant negative impact on the operating results or financial condition of the affected businesses or our overall
business, we cannot assure you that these types of events will not have such an impact in the future or that the insurance coverage we maintain for these risks
will adequately compensate us for all damage and economic losses resulting from natural catastrophes.

Concerns about the actual or perceived health risks relating to electromagnetic and radio frequency emissions, as well as the attendant publicity or
possible resultant litigation, may have a negative effect on our financial condition or the results of our operations.

Media and other reports have suggested that electromagnetic and radio frequency emissions from wireless telephone handsets and base stations may
cause health problems, including cancer. There is also some concern that these emissions may interfere with the operation of certain electronic equipment,
including automobile braking and steering systems. The actual or perceived risks relating to wireless communications devices and base stations, or press
reports about these risks, could adversely affect us by, for example, reducing our subscriber growth rate, subscriber base or average use per subscriber and
increasing our litigation risk. Actual or perceived risks of wireless handsets or base stations could make it difficult to find attractive sites for base stations and
reduce our growth rates, customer base and average usage per customer.
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Our economic interest in our Bermuda affiliate may be reduced in 2008.

In July 2008, BDC has the option to repurchase from us all, but not less than all, of our 44% equity interest in BDC at a price equal to fair market value.
Also in 2008, our management fee for providing advisory services to BDC, which equals 6% of BDC’s annual revenues, is scheduled to expire. For fiscal
years 2003, 2004 and 2005, we recorded equity in earnings of BDC of $2.0 million, $2.6 million and $2.9 million, respectively, and received cash dividends
from BDC of approximately $550,000, $621,000 and $1.5 million, respectively. For the same periods, we earned management fees of approximately
$0.9 million, $1.2 million and $1.2 million, respectively. If BDC exercises its repurchase rights and we are unable to redeploy the repurchase proceeds in a
similarly productive investment, our financial results would be negatively affected.

We may be unable to realize the value that we believe exists in businesses that we acquire.

To realize the value that we believe exists in Commnet and SoVerNet and future businesses that we acquire, if any, we must successfully integrate them
into our holding company organization. If we are unable to effectively manage their operations or are unable to retain their key employees, we may not realize
the value that we believe such businesses hold.  In addition, failure to successfully integrate these businesses may have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Capital Structure

Our debt instruments include restrictive and financial covenants that limit our operating flexibility.

Our credit facility requires us to maintain certain financial ratios and contains covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to take specific
actions, even if we believe such actions are in our best interest. These include restrictions on our ability to:

·       incur additional debt;

·       create liens or negative pledges with respect to our assets;

·       pay dividends or distributions on, or redeem or repurchase, our capital stock;

·       make investments, loans or advances or other forms of payments;

·       issue, sell or allow distributions on capital stock of specified subsidiaries;

·       enter into transactions with affiliates; or

·       merge, consolidate or sell our assets.

Any failure to comply with the restrictions of the credit facility or any subsequent financing agreements may result in an event of default. Such default
may allow our creditors to accelerate the repayment of the related debt and may result in the acceleration of the repayment of any other debt to which a cross-
acceleration or cross-default provision applies. In addition, these creditors may be able to terminate any commitments they had made to provide us with
further funds.

If we fail to meet our payment or other obligations under the credit facility, the lenders could foreclose on and acquire control of substantially all of our
assets.

In connection with the incurrence of the indebtedness under the credit facility, the lenders received a pledge of our share of the capital stock of all of our
subsidiaries, and that of future direct and indirect subsidiaries with some limited exceptions. Additionally, the lenders under our credit facility generally have
a lien on all of our U.S. assets. As a result of these pledges and liens, if we fail to meet our payment or other obligations under the credit facility (including
meeting or exceeding certain financial measurements),
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the lenders would be entitled to foreclose on and liquidate substantially all of our assets, to the extent required to pay our obligations under the credit facility.
As a result, the holders of our securities may lose a portion of, or the entire value of, their investment in our securities.

Our Chairman controls the vote of a majority of our common stock and may at times have interests adverse to the interests of the other holders of our
common stock; Future sales of our common stock may depress the market price of our common stock.

Cornelius B. Prior, Jr., our chairman and the father of our chief executive officer, owns approximately 56% of our outstanding shares of common stock.
Accordingly, he controls our company and has the power to elect all of our directors, appoint new management and approve or reject any action requiring the
approval of stockholders, including adopting amendments to our charter and approving mergers and sales of all or substantially all of our assets. He may
make decisions that are adverse to the interests of other holders of our securities. In addition, if we or Cornelius B. Prior, Jr. sell substantial amounts of
common stock in the public market or if it is perceived that such sales could occur, the market price of our common stock could fall.

Low trading volume of our stock may limit your ability to sell shares and/or result in lower sale prices.

During the most recent three months, the average daily trading volume of our common stock has been approximately 3,700 shares. There has been, and
may continue to be, only limited shares of our common stock available on the market and limited trading volume. As a result, you may have difficulty selling
a large number of shares of our common stock in the manner or at a price that might be attainable if our common stock were more actively traded. In addition,
the market price of our common stock may not be reflective of its underlying value.

We may not pay dividends in the future.

Our stockholders may receive dividends out of legally available funds if, and when, they are declared by our Board of Directors. We have paid quarterly
dividends in the past, but may cease to do so at any time. Our credit facility limits our ability to pay dividends on, or repurchase, our capital stock. We may
incur additional indebtedness in the future that may further restrict our ability to declare and pay dividends. We may also be restricted from paying dividends



in the future due to restrictions imposed by state corporation laws, our financial condition and results of operations, capital requirements, covenants contained
in our financing agreements, management’s assessment of future capital needs and other factors considered by our Board of Directors.

In the future, we may cease to voluntarily comply with American Stock Exchange corporate governance listing standards.

The American Stock Exchange has established rules with respect to certain corporate governance matters, including requirements for a board consisting
of a majority of independent directors, executive sessions of independent directors and independent audit, compensation and nominating committees, among
others. Any company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an individual, group or another company, or a “controlled company,” is exempt
from certain of these requirements. We qualify under the “controlled company” exemption and many of the new corporate governance rules are inapplicable
to us. In the future, we may cease to voluntarily comply with American Stock Exchange corporate governance listing requirements.
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Preparations  for Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 will  increase our administrative costs and a finding of ineffective internal controls could
cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related Securities and Exchange Commission rules in effect today, we will have to
furnish a report of management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls at December 31, 2006. In addition, our Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm will need to audit and report on management’s assessment. If management or our auditors conclude that our internal control over
financial reporting was not effective at December 31, 2006 because of identified deficiencies in our controls and if our deficiencies are not adequately
addressed, we could experience accounting errors that could result in misstatements of our financial position and results of operations, potential restatements
of our financial statements or otherwise adversely affect our business, reputation and results of operations. A finding of ineffective internal controls could also
cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a negative effect on the trading price of our securities. Also
preparations for Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 will increase our cost of being a public company in 2006 and beyond.

ITEM 1B.       UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2.                PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located at 10 Derby Square, Salem, Massachusetts 01970, where we lease approximately 3,000 square feet of office space.
In addition, our U.S. Virgin Islands headquarters is located in  St. Thomas, U.S. Virgin Islands, where we lease approximately 8,000 square feet of office
space. GT&T operations are headquartered in Georgetown, Guyana, where GT&T leases approximately 4,000 square feet of office space. GT&T also utilizes
approximately 266,000 square feet of building space on approximately 48 acres of land in various locations throughout Guyana, all of which is owned by
GT&T. Commnet’s operations are headquartered in Atlanta, Georgia, where Commnet leases approximately 2,000 square feet of office space. In addition, we
lease and own locations for switch facilities (including international, local, wireless and broadband data), wireless facilities (including towers) and extensive
cabling (including an interest in several inter-country fiber cables). We consider our owned and leased properties to be suitable and adequate for our business
operations.

ITEM 3.                LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
In 1995, the minister of telecommunications of Guyana initiated a proceeding with the PUC alleging that GT&T had breached our 1990 agreement with

the Government of Guyana by failing to expand its facilities and telecommunications operations and improve services in Guyana pursuant to an expansion
and service improvement plan. Under the agreement, which we entered into in connection with our acquisition of GT&T in January 1991, we agreed to
complete the plan within three years and the Government of Guyana agreed to permit us to increase telephone rates during that period upon any devaluations
of Guyana currency. The plan was subsequently amended to, among other things, extend the completion deadline to February 1995. While GT&T did not
complete the plan by the extended deadline, we believe that the Government of Guyana’s failure to timely provide for rate increases upon a significant
devaluation of Guyanese currency in March 1991 impeded our efforts and justified our delay in completing the plan. We substantially competed the plan in
1997 and believe that we have satisfied our obligations under the agreement. If the PUC finds us in breach of the agreement, GT&T could be fined, its
exclusive wireline license could be canceled and it could face other penalties imposed by the PUC. The PUC last held hearings on this matter in 1998.

GT&T is contesting, in the High Court of Guyana, approximately $7.3 million in income tax assessed by the commissioner of Inland Revenue of Guyana
for the years 1991 to 1996. The amount in dispute
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represents the amount of deductions GT&T claimed during those years for advisory fees it provided to Atlantic Tele-Network that were denied by the
Commission. In August 1995, the High Court upheld the deductibility of these fees for one of the years in question. In June 1996, the Guyana Commission of
Inland Revenue filed a writ with the High Court, which GT&T has opposed, requesting the High Court to set aside this decision. The assessments relating to
the remaining 4 years in question have been stayed pending the outcome of the High Court’s decision on the Commission’s writ. GT&T has received
additional assessments for approximately $6.5 million for the years 1997 to 2000 resulting from same dispute over the deductibility of fees in those years.
GT&T believes that these additional assessments will also be stayed pending the High Court’s decision on the Commission’s writ.

In November 1997, GT&T requested the High Court to prohibit the commissioner of Inland Revenue from enforcing tax assessments of approximately
$9.7 million for the years 1991 to 1996. GT&T believes that the tax assessments were erroneously calculated based on a faulty audit which was stayed by the
High Court prior to completion, resulting in GT&T not receiving notice of, or an opportunity to respond to, the audit. The High Court has stayed enforcement
of the tax assessments pending review of GT&T’s request.

If GT&T is found liable for any of the approximately $23.5 million in Guyana tax liabilities discussed above, we believe that the Government of Guyana
would be required under our 1990 agreement to reimburse GT&T an amount necessary to provide GT&T a 15% per annum return on its investment during
the relevant periods.

In November 1997, we filed motions with the Guyana Court of Appeal and High Court appealing an order issued by the PUC in October 1997 requiring
GT&T to meet annual prescribed increases in the number of telephone lines for the years 1998 to 2000 and to provide certain additional services to customers
by the end of 1998. We believe that in issuing the order the PUC failed to consider the added cost of meeting these requirements and the necessary adjustment



in telephone rates that would be necessary to provide GT&T a fair return on additional investment. While our appeal is still pending, no stay has been issued
in connection with the order.

In early 2000, Inet Communications, Inc., an Internet service provider in Guyana, and the Guyana Consumers Association filed a suit in the High Court
against the Attorney General of Guyana and GT&T. The suit claims that GT&T is not entitled to rate increases based on our 1990 agreement with the
Government of Guyana and that the Civil Law of Guyana prohibits what the plaintiffs refer to as GT&T’s monopoly. Inet’s motion was struck down for non-
appearance of counsel. In April 2000, Inet applied for the suit to be restored. The Court has yet to act on Inet’s application.

In July 2002, an individual sued the Attorney General of Guyana in the High Court asking, among other things, for a declaration that the section of our
1990 agreement with the Government of Guyana granting to GT&T an exclusive right to provide domestic wireline local and long distance services in
Guyana violated Guyana law and was null and void. In September 2002, GT&T joined the suit to oppose the plaintiff’s claims. Although the suit remains
pending, there has been no further developments since November 2002.

In addition to those proceedings discussed above, we are periodically subject to claims and lawsuits that are incidental to our business, some of which
involve claims for damages and taxes that are substantial in amount. See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report. We believe
that none of these additional proceedings would, in the event of an adverse outcome, have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of
operation or liquidity.

ITEM 4.                SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2005.
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PART II

ITEM 5.                MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER REPURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Our Common Stock, $.01 par value, is listed on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol “ANK.” The following table sets forth the high and low
sales prices for our Common Stock as reported by the American Stock Exchange, as retroactively adjusted for our 5-for-2 Common Stock split effectuated as
a 250% stock dividend on March 31, 2006:

  High  Low  

2004
     

Quarter ended March 31
 

$12.83
 

$11.00
 

Quarter ended June 30
 

$13.00
 

$12.30
 

Quarter ended September 30
 

$12.90
 

$10.24
 

Quarter ended December 31
 

$13.66
 

$11.23
  

  High  Low  

2005
     

Quarter ended March 31
 

$13.58
 

$12.71
 

Quarter ended June 30
 

$13.00
 

$10.97
 

Quarter ended September 30
 

$13.28
 

$11.40
 

Quarter ended December 31
 

$18.00
 

$13.16
  

The approximate number of holders of record of Common Stock as of March 31, 2006 was 63.

Dividends

The following table sets forth the quarterly dividends per share declared by us over the past three fiscal years ended December 31, 2005, as retroactively
adjusted for the 5-for-2 stock split on March 31, 2006:

  

First
Quarter  

Second
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Fourth
Quarter  

2003
  

$0.09
   

$0.09
   

$0.10
   

$0.10
  

2004
  

0.10
   

0.10
   

0.11
   

0.11
  

2005
  

0.11
   

0.11
   

0.12
   

0.12
   

The declaration and payment of dividends on the Common Stock is at the discretion of our Board of Directors and is subject to a number of factors. Our
credit facility restricts our ability to declare or pay dividends on our common stock. Because Atlantic Tele-Network, Inc. is a holding company, our ability to
declare dividends is effectively limited to the amount of dividends, if any, our subsidiaries and other equity holdings may distribute to us. We have paid
quarterly dividends on our common stock since January 1999, and have increased the amount of our dividend in each of the years since then. The present
Board of Directors believe in returning a significant portion of profits, where possible, to stockholders and, subject to prudent resource management and
strategic development needs, would expect to continue to increase the amount of our dividend if earnings continue to increase, although not necessarily
proportionally. In 2003, 2004 and 2005, we paid a total annual dividend of $0.38, $0.42 and $0.46 per share, respectively, as adjusted for our 5-for-2 stock
split. The continuation or modification of our current dividend policy will be dependent upon future results of operations, financial condition, capital
requirements, contractual restrictions, regulatory actions, and other factors deemed relevant at that time by the Board of Directors.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities in the Fourth Quarter of 2005

Period    Total Number
of Shares

 Average Price
Paid per Share

 Total Number
of Shares

 Maximum Number
(or Approximate

 



Purchased Purchased as
Part of the Publicly

Announced Plan

Dollar Value)
of Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plan (1)

October 1, 2005—October 31, 2005
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

$ 4,083,870
  

November 1, 2005—November 30, 2005
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

4,083,870
  

December 1, 2005—December 31, 2005
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

4,083,870
  

Total
 

     
 

   
 

   
  

$ 4,083,870
  

(1)          In September 2004, our Board of Directors approved the repurchase of up to $5.0 million of our common stock. The repurchase authorizations do not
have a fixed termination date and the timing of the buy back amounts and exact number of shares purchased will depend on market conditions.
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ITEM 6.                SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the selected financial data in conjunction with our “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” and our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes to those Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report. The
historical results set forth below are not necessarily indicative of the results of future operations.

  Year Ended December 31  

  2001  2002  2003  2004  2005  

  (In thousands, except per share data)  

Statement of Operations Data
           

Revenue:
           

Wireless
 

$ 7,733
 

$ 10,509
 

$ 13,561
 

$ 14,093
 

$ 25,964
 

Local Telephone and Data
 

17,576
 

24,007
 

26,325
 

25,630
 

27,926
 

International Long Distance
 

62,467
 

39,722
 

42,016
 

46,861
 

45,439
 

Other
 

373
 

480
 

1,386
 

2,581
 

2,952
 

Total revenue
 

88,149
 

74,718
 

83,288
 

89,165
 

102,281
 

Operating expenses
 

64,316
 

52,919
 

54,300
 

54,689
 

65,289
 

Income from operations
 

23,833
 

21,799
 

28,988
 

34,476
 

36,992
 

Other income (expense):
           

Interest income (expense), net
 

981
 

304
 

87
 

305
 

(688)
Other, net

 

(2,646) 919
 

632
 

(1,833) (630)

Other income (expense), net
 

1,665
 

1,223
 

719
 

(1,528) (1,318)

Income before income taxes, minority interests
and equity in earnings of unconsolidated
affiliates

 

25,498
 

23,022
 

29,707
 

32,948
 

35,674
 

Income taxes
 

14,557
 

12,943
 

16,009
 

19,486
 

20,801
 

Income before minority interests and equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates

 

10,941
 

10,079
 

13,698
 

13,462
 

14,873
 

Minority interests, net of tax
 

(3,078) (2,404) (3,484) (3,914) (4,318)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates,

net of tax
 

1,328
 

1,812
 

2,030
 

2,569
 

3,043
 

Net income
 

$ 9,191
 

$ 9,487
 

$ 12,244
 

$ 12,117
 

$ 13,598
 

Reported Income Per Share:
           

Basic net income per share
 

$ 0.74
 

$ 0.76
 

$ 0.98
 

$ 0.96
 

$ 1.09
 

Diluted net income per share
 

$ 0.73
 

$ 0.75
 

$ 0.97
 

$ 0.96
 

$ 1.09
 

Dividends per share
 

$ 0.32
 

$ 0.34
 

$ 0.38
 

$ 0.42
 

$ 0.46
  

  As of December 31,  

  2001  2002  2003  2004  2005  

  (In thousands)  

Balance Sheet Data:
           

Fixed assets, net
 

$ 81,952
 

$ 87,113
 

$ 90,990
 

$ 100,092
 

$ 125,709
 

Total assets
 

142,006
 

147,661
 

151,973
 

176,374
 

233,831
 

Short-term debt (including current portion of
long-term debt)

 

2,402
 

1,899
 

1,081
 

687
 

165
 

Long-term debt, net
 

5,582
 

3,690
 

2,511
 

11,726
 

55,585
 

Stockholders’ equity
 

88,943
 

94,106
 

101,531
 

108,132
 

115,710
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ITEM 7.                MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

We provide wireless and wireline telecommunications services in the Caribbean and North America through the following operating subsidiaries and
affiliate:



·  Guyana Telephone & Telegraph Company, Ltd. (or GT&T) is the national and international telephone company in the Republic of Guyana and the
largest wireless service provider in that country. We acquired an 80% equity interest in GT&T in 1991.

·  Commnet Wireless, LLC is an owner and operator of wholesale wireless networks in rural areas of the United States. Commnet provides wireless
voice and data communications roaming services to national, regional and local wireless carriers. We acquired a 95% interest in Commnet in
September 2005.

·  SoVerNet, Inc. is a facilities-based integrated voice, broadband data communications and dial-up services provider in New England, primarily in
Vermont. We acquired a 96% equity interest in SoVerNet in February 2006.

·  Bermuda Digital Communications, Ltd. (or BDC) is the largest wireless voice and data communications service provider in Bermuda, doing business
under the name Cellular One. We acquired a 44% equity interest in, and signed a management contract with, BDC in 1998.

·  Choice Communications, LLC is a leading provider of fixed wireless broadband data services and dial-up Internet services to retail and business
customers in the U.S. Virgin Islands. Choice also provides fixed wireless digital television services in the U.S. Virgin Islands. Choice acquired its
internet service business in 1999 and its television business in March 2000. We acquired Choice in October 1999.

As a holding company, Atlantic Tele-Network provides management, technical, financial, regulatory, and marketing services to, and generally receives a
management fee equal to approximately 6% of revenues from each operating subsidiary and our BDC affiliate. Because we do not control BDC, we account
for our investment in that entity under the equity method. Earnings from BDC do not appear in our income from operations, but are instead reflected in equity
earnings of unconsolidated investments, net of tax in the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report. In July 2008, BDC has the option to
repurchase from us all, but not less than all, of our 44% equity interest in BDC at a price equal to fair market value. Also in 2008, our management fee
arrangement with BDC will expire.

The following chart summarizes the operating activities of our subsidiaries and our BDC affiliate and the markets they serve as of December 31, 2005:

Services  Operating Subsidiary/Affiliate  Markets
Wireless:

 

Commnet
 

United States (rural markets)
  

GT&T
 

Guyana
  

BDC
 

Bermuda

Local Telephone and Data:
 

GT&T
 

Guyana
  

SoVerNet
 

United States (New England)
  

Choice (Internet access)
 

U.S. Virgin Islands

International Long Distance:
 

GT&T
 

Guyana

Other:
 

Choice (digital television)
 

U.S. Virgin Islands
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For information about our business segments and geographical information about our operating revenues and long-lived assets, see Note 13 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report.

Historically, we have generated most of our revenue and operating income from GT&T. For fiscal years 2003, 2004 and 2005, GT&T generated 95%,
94% and 85%, respectively, of our consolidated revenue and a substantial majority of our profits. GT&T provides domestic wireline telephone service and
international long distance service pursuant to an exclusive license from the Government of Guyana and provides wireless service on a non-exclusive basis.
The rates that GT&T may charge for its services are regulated by the Public Utility Commission of Guyana (or PUC), an independent regulatory body
responsible for regulating telecommunications. The PUC also has powers to assess GT&T’s compliance with the terms of GT&T’s exclusive license. Under
that license, GT&T is entitled to charge rates that will enable it to earn an annual minimum rate of return on capital equal to 15% of GT&T’s capital dedicated
to public use. See “Business—Regulation of Our GT&T Subsidiary.”

Historically, the largest component of GT&T’s contribution to our consolidated revenue has been from its international long distance business, which in
fiscal years 2003, 2004 and 2005 accounted for 50%, 53% and 44%, respectively, of our consolidated revenue and a substantial portion of our income. Most of
these revenues and profits were from payments by foreign carriers for handling international long distance calls originating from the foreign carriers’ country and
terminating in Guyana. These payments are denominated in U.S. dollars.

GT&T’s incoming international long distance business is driven by the population of Guyanese living abroad who initiate calls to Guyana, the rate
foreign carriers pay GT&T for handling the incoming international calls, and the number of people in Guyana capable of receiving international long distance
calls, which consists of wireline telephone customers and all of the wireless subscribers in Guyana (including subscribers of other wireless service providers).
The rates at which GT&T collects fees from foreign carriers are established by agreements between it and foreign carriers, and can be affected by limits set by
foreign telecommunications regulators, especially the Federal Communications Commission (or FCC), regarding how much carriers under their jurisdiction
may pay for the termination of an international long distance call in another country.

Regulatory developments challenging or limiting our exclusive wireline license in Guyana and any future orders by the FCC limiting the rates foreign
carriers may pay GT&T for international long distance calls terminating in Guyana are the principal known risks of this business. Since 2001, the
Government of Guyana has stated its intention to introduce competition into Guyana’s telecommunications sector. We believe that the introduction of wireline
based competition would require the termination of the exclusivity provisions of GT&T’s wireline license, and thus would require appropriate compensation
to GT&T and a rebalancing of telephone rates so that those rates reflect the actual cost of providing such services. We also believe that the Government of
Guyana is considering shifting from rate of return regulation to incentive rate-cap regulation. GT&T has not had formal discussions with Government
officials regarding these matters since the second quarter of 2002. See “Business—Regulation of Our GT&T Subsidiary.”

In January 2002, the FCC reduced the payment rate for U.S.—Guyana traffic from $0.85 per minute to $0.23 per minute which negatively impacted
GT&T’s operating profits. The lowering of the U.S. international settlement rate in 2002 has been followed by a gradual reduction in settlement rates between
Guyana and most other countries to $0.23 per minute or less. The reduction in the settlement rate resulted in a substantial reduction in inbound international
telecommunication revenue. In 2002, and again in 2003, AT&T proposed further reductions in the settlement rate benchmarks for many countries, including
Guyana, and requested that the FCC initiate a rule-making to consider the issue. While the FCC rejected AT&T’s request in early 2004, it indicated that it will
continue to monitor and evaluate settlement rate benchmarks.
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In the future, we expect the percentage of our revenues and operating income contributed by businesses other than GT&T’s wireline services to increase.
We have experienced significant growth in GT&T’s wireless business in recent years. As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately 228,000 wireless
subscribers, up 51% from the approximately 151,000 subscribers we had at December 31, 2004. A significant challenge for us is satisfying the strong demand
for our wireless service, especially since our deployment of GSM service, while maintaining quality of service. This challenge has been made more difficult
by a new spectrum reallocation plan that has reduced our available capacity to serve our customers. We are addressing this matter by seeking additional
capacity from the Government of Guyana and adding additional cell sites and equipment to our network. Another significant challenge for GT&T wireless is
increased competition from new wireless service providers. Guyana Government officials, including the President, have stated that Guyana will provide a
wireless license to a large mobile telecommunications company operating in many Caribbean countries.

We also expect our recent acquisitions of Commnet and SoVerNet in September 2005 and February 2006, respectively, to affect the relative contributions
of our businesses. For the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2005, Commnet generated $7.4 million in wireless revenue and was accretive to net income for
the quarter and fiscal year 2005. On a pro forma basis (assuming we acquired Commnet on January 1, 2005), our consolidated revenue would have been
$122.3 million and our consolidated net income would have been $17.5 million for fiscal year 2005. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in this Report.

We encourage you to read our critical accounting policies which are important for understanding our financial statements and this Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation, see “—Critical Accounting Policies”.
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Results of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

    Amount of  Percent  

  Year Ended December 31,  Increase  Increase  

  2004  2005  (Decrease)  (Decrease)  

  (In thousands)  

REVENUE:                

Wireless  $ 14,093
 

 $25,964    $ 11,871
 

  84.2%  

Local telephone and data  25,630   27,926    2,296    9.0   

International long distance  46,861   45,439    (1,422)   (3.0)  

Other  2,581   2,952    371    14.4   

Total revenue  89,165   102,281    13,116    14.7   

OPERATING EXPENSES:                

Termination and access fees  5,599   7,941    2,342    41.8   

Internet and programming  2,362   2,601    239    10.1   

Engineering and operations  11,755   15,136    3,381    28.8   

Sales and marketing  5,093   6,457    1,364    26.8   

General and administrative  15,150   16,044    894    5.9   

Depreciation and amortization  14,730   17,110    2,380    16.2   

Total operating expenses  54,689   65,289    10,600    19.4   

Income from operations  34,476   36,992    2,516    7.3   

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):                

Interest income (expense), net  305   (688)   (993)   (325.6)  

Other income, net  (1,833)  (630)   1,203    65.6   

Other income (expense), net  (1,528)  (1,318)   210    13.7   

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES, MINORITY
INTERESTS AND EQUITY IN EARNINGS OF
UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES  32,948   35,674    2,726    8.27   

Income taxes  19,486   20,801    1,315    6.7   

INCOME BEFORE MINORITY INTERESTS AND
EQUITY IN EARNINGS OF UNCONSOLIDATED
AFFILIATES  13,462   14,873    1,411    10.5   

Minority interests, net of tax  (3,914)  (4,318)   (404)   (10.3)  

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, net of tax  2,569   3,043    474    18.5   

NET INCOME  $ 12,117
 

 $ 13,598
 

  $ 1,481
 

  12.2%  

 

Wireless revenue.   Wireless revenue represents the wholesale voice and data roaming revenue of Commnet, which was acquired on September 15, 2005,
as well as GT&T’s wireless revenues, including airtime and activation fees.

Wireless revenue increased to $26.0 million for 2005 from $14.1 million for 2004, an increase of $11.9 million, or 84%. Of the $11.9 million increase,
Commnet contributed $8.9 million of wireless revenue since its acquisition. On a pro forma basis (assuming we acquired Commnet on January 1, 2005), our
wireless revenue would have been $122.3 million for fiscal year 2005. The remaining increase of $3.0 million was attributable to the continued growth of our
cellular subscriber base in Guyana as the number of our subscribers increased from 151,000 to 228,000 as of December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. As
noted in prior periods, management believes that some portion of this subscriber growth is a result of some new GSM customers retaining their old TDMA
handsets and accounts for the time being. Nonetheless, we believe that the strong growth of GSM subscribers in Guyana is quite significant in the face of a
new nationwide GSM competitor as approximately 100,000 of our wireless subscribers were GSM/GPRS
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subscribers as of December 31, 2005. We expect that wireless revenue will continue to increase in 2006 as both Commnet and GT&T continue their network
expansions, although we will need to manage GT&T’s GSM subscriber growth carefully because of recent quality problems related to network congestion.

Local telephone and data revenue.   Local telephone and data revenue largely represents the basic service fees, measured service revenue, Internet access
fees and other revenues generated by our fixed wireline network in Guyana, such as installation charges for new lines, monthly line rental charges,
maintenance and equipment sales. Local telephone and data revenue also includes Internet access fees generated by our data network in the U.S. Virgin
Islands and, in future periods, will include local telephone and data revenue generated by SoVerNet in Vermont.

Local telephone and data revenue increased by $2.3 million, or 9%, to $27.9 million for 2005 from $25.6 million for 2004. The increase is primarily
attributable to the growth in local revenue at GT&T resulting from increased local calling volume. Local revenue was also positively impacted by increases in
Choice’s wireless broadband subscribers offset, in part, by the attrition of dial-up subscribers. In future periods, apart from the expected impact of SoVerNet’s
revenue, we anticipate that local telephone and data revenue will increase as a result of network and subscriber growth in Guyana and the US Virgin Islands.

International long distance revenue.   International long distance revenue is primarily generated by international telephone calls into and out of Guyana.
Inbound traffic, which makes up more than 80% of this revenue, is settled in U.S. dollars.

International long distance revenue decreased by $1.5 million, or 3%, from $46.9 million in 2004 to $45.4 million in 2005. However, revenue for 2004
included a previously disclosed $1.7 million settlement of amounts paid to us by a large international carrier that were significantly past due and written off in
a prior period. Net of this settlement, international long distance revenue remained relatively unchanged from 2004 to 2005. The lack of growth of this
revenue was unexpected given the expansion of our wireless subscribers and our access lines in Guyana. We would have expected international long distance
revenue to increase with more handsets and access lines in service. Our wireless subscribers, largely pre-paid, increased by more than 50% as discussed
above, and GT&T’s access lines increased by about 10% from 103,000 to 113,500 as December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively, as we continued our efforts
to bring new areas of Guyana into service. One of the reasons for the lack of international long distance revenue, we believe, is the growth in unauthorized
Internet calling. While this mainly impacts outbound calls, forms of “bypass” (i.e., international calls that are routed around our international exchange
through technologies such as VoIP) using Internet calling and other mechanisms may be increasing. If we are effective in combating illegal bypass, we would
expect our international long distance traffic to continue to grow modestly as a result of continued expansion of the Guyana subscriber base. However, the
increase in this traffic may not result in an increase in revenue if it is offset, or exceeded, by further declines in the average rate per minute. Despite the lack
of growth in this category, the contribution of international long distance to our operating profits actually grew because of a greater percentage decline in long
distance expenses, as discussed below.

Other revenue.   Other revenue represents revenue from Choice’s digital television services in the U.S. Virgin Islands, which increased $0.4 million, or
15%, to $3.0 million in 2005 from $2.6 million in 2004. The increase in television services was a result of an increase in television subscribers from
approximately 4,100 at December 31, 2004 to approximately 5,000 at December 31, 2005, including additional hotel rooms. In the near-term, we expect this
category of revenue will largely be driven by our television revenue and therefore we expect it to continue to increase during the next few quarters, although
potentially at a slower rate, provided we are able to continue our subscriber gains.

Termination and access fee expenses.   Termination and access fee expenses are charges that we pay to international carriers to terminate our outbound
telephone traffic as well as for certain circuit and bandwidth costs.
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Termination and access fees increased by $2.3 million, or 41%, from $5.6 million to $7.9 million from 2004 to 2005. Net of Commnet’s expenses of $3.5
million for a portion of 2005, our termination and access fees decreased by $1.2 million from 2004 to 2005 because of lower long distance expenses in
Guyana. The addition of Commnet and SoVerNet is expected to increase these expenses substantially in future periods.

Internet and programming expenses.   Internet and programming expenses include digital television programming costs as well as Internet connectivity
charges.

Internet and programming expenses increased from $2.4 million to $2.6 million, primarily because of the growth in our television and broadband
Internet subscribers at Choice. We expect that increased Internet and backhaul capacity requirements at Choice as well as the addition of Sovernet will
increase our Internet and programming expenses in future periods.

Engineering and operations expenses.   Engineering and operations expenses include the expenses associated with developing, operating, supporting and
expanding our networks including the salaries and benefits paid for employees directly involved in the development and operation of our networks.

Engineering and operations expenses increased by $3.3 million, or 28%, from $11.8 million to $15.1 million from 2004 to 2005. This increase is the
result of the increase in costs to support our expanding networks and subscriber bases. A higher per unit cost of fuel and power in Guyana also contributed to
this increase as did the addition of Commnet. We expect engineering and operations to continue to increase in order to support our expanding networks.

Sales, marketing and customer service expenses.   Sales, marketing and customer service expenses include expenses relating to the salaries and benefits
that we pay for sales personnel and the expenses associated with the development and implementation of our promotion and marketing campaigns, as well as
customer service expenses.

Sales, marketing and customer service expenses increased by $1.4 million, or 27%, from $5.1 million to $6.5 million from 2004 to 2005. The increase in
sales and marketing expenses is the result of additional costs needed to provide customer service to our increased subscriber bases as well as more aggressive
marketing and sales initiatives in Guyana in connection with competition for GSM market share. Both we and our main competitor launched GSM services in
Guyana in the fourth quarter of 2004. Sales and marketing expenses are expected to fluctuate somewhat in the future depending on the competitive
environment and the timing of the launch of new services, but in the near-term we expect this to increase due to the addition of SoVerNet and increased
wireless competition in Guyana.

General and administrative expenses.   General and administrative expenses include salaries, benefits and related costs for general corporate functions,
including executive management, finance and administration, legal and regulatory, facilities, information technology and human resources.

General and administrative expenses increased by $0.8 million, or 5%, from $15.2 million to $16.0 million from 2004 to 2005. This increase is primarily
attributable to the addition of Commnet which added $1.0 million of overhead expenses during 2005. Without Commnet, our general and administrative
expenses decreased by $0.2 million which is primarily attributable to the discontinuance of the operations of Atlantic Tele-Network (or ATC) and Call Home
Telecom during 2004. We expect general and administrative expenses to increase in future periods for a number of reasons, including the impact of a full year
of Commnet, the addition of SoVerNet, growth in our holding company’s staff and compensation, and growth in some of our operating units because of
growth in the size of their networks and customer bases, although we expect to reap some modest efficiencies in integrating our newest operating units.



Depreciation and amortization expenses.   Depreciation and amortization expenses represent the depreciation charges we record on our property and
equipment.
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Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $2.4 million, or 16.3%, from $14.7 million to $17.1 million for 2004 and 2005, respectively. The
increase is due to the expansion of our networks, primarily in Guyana, to support increased subscriber bases. A portion of the increase reflects the addition of
Commnet’s assets on September 15, 2005. Outside of the acquisition of Commnet, we expect that depreciation and amortization expenses will increase in the
near-term, because of continued growth in our networks. However, this increase may be offset in part by certain equipment becoming fully depreciated in
future periods and potentially declining capital expenditures in certain markets.

Interest income (expense), net.   Interest income (expense), net represents interest income on our cash balances, net of the interest expense on our
outstanding debt including a $50.0 million term loan as well as the outstanding amounts under our $20.0 million revolving line of credit facility.

Interest income (expense), net decreased from income of $0.3 million from an expense of $0.7 million, a reduction of $1.0 million. This decrease is
primarily the result of increased expense from the borrowings used to complete the acquisition of Commnet on September 15, 2005, as well as the use of
some of our cash on hand.

Other income (expense).   Other income (expense) represents miscellaneous non-operational income earned by, or expenses incurred by, us including
management fees received from our unconsolidated affiliates, mainly BDC.

Other income (expense) decreased from an expense of $1.8 million for 2004 to an expense of $0.6 million for 2005. While management fees from BDC
remained relatively unchanged at $1.2 million for both 2004 and 2005, both years were impacted by substantial one-time gains or impairments. The 2004
fiscal year includes foreign exchange gains of $1.0 million offset by a write-down of the goodwill of Choice of $1.6 million, an impairment of ATC’s assets of
$1.2 million, an impairment of Call Home Telecom’s assets of $0.6 million and a write-off for secured loans made in connection with our investment in
LighTrade, Inc. of $0.6 million for 2004. For 2005, other income (expense) includes a reserve for our advances to Bridge International Communications, Inc.
of $2.1 million offset by miscellaneous income of $0.3 million. During the fourth quarter of 2005, we established a reserve of $2.1 million against the
amounts due from Bridge as Bridge has had difficulty closing contracts for its primary business line of managed network services.

Income taxes.   Income taxes represent taxes we pay on our net taxable income. The effective tax rate was 59% and 58% for 2004 and 2005, respectively,
which represents the statutory U.S. income tax rate plus the Guyanese income taxes in excess of the statutory U.S. income tax rates as well as certain U.S.
state income taxes and the amortization of a deferred tax asset which was recorded in a prior period. Our high effective tax rate for these periods reflects the
fact that our losses at Choice and some of the curtailed businesses were not available to reduce taxable income in Guyana, which has a high tax rate of 45%.
The addition of Commnet and SoVerNet should lower our effective tax rate in future periods, particularly if accompanied by any reduction in our losses at
Choice.

Minority interests.   Minority interests consists of the Guyana government’s 20% interest in GT&T, a minority shareholder’s 5% interest in Commnet
and other minority shareholder’s interests in certain consolidated subsidiaries of Commnet.

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates.   Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates includes our share of the earnings of BDC, our cellular
affiliate in Bermuda, as well as our share of the earnings of Commnet’s unconsolidated investments. As previously announced, in the first quarter of 2006,
Commnet acquired the remaining 65% of the equity in its largest unconsolidated investment, a Missouri cellular network, which will reduce the earnings or
losses that would have been reported in this category.
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Equity in the earnings of BDC increased from $2.6 million to $2.9 million from 2004 to 2005, respectively. This increase primarily reflects increased
roaming and long distance revenues partially stemming from an increase of 2,600 subscribers, or 13%, from 20,000 as of December 31, 2004 to 22,600 at
December 31, 2005. The increased subscriber levels include new data customers using our new EV-DO network to obtain high-speed mobile data services.
BDC’s ability to continue earnings growth in 2006 will be hampered due to the delay in its hearing on the scope of its data license and the possibility of an
intensified competitive environment. For 2005, equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates also includes $0.1 million of earnings from Commnet’s
unconsolidated affiliates.

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $13.6 million, or $1.09 per basic and diluted share, as compared to $12.1 million, or $0.96 per
basic and diluted share for 2004. The increase of $1.5 million or 12% was attributable to the net income of Commnet since its acquisition on September 15,
2005, partially offset by a reserve against the amounts due from Bridge.
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Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

  

Year Ended
December 31,      

      Amount of  Percent  

      Increase  Increase  

  2003  2004  (Decrease)  (Decrease)  

  (In thousands)  

REVENUE:
             

Wireless
 

$ 13,561
 

$ 14,093
  

$ 532
   

3.9%
 

Local telephone and data
 

26,325
 

25,630
  

(695)
  

(2.6)
 

International long distance
 

42,016
 

46,861
  

4,845
   

11.5
  

Other
 

1,386
 

2,581
  

1,195
   

86.2
  

         



Total revenue 83,288 89,165 5,877 7.1

OPERATING EXPENSES:
             

Termination and access fees
 

7,554
 

5,599
  

(1,955)
  

(25.9)
 

Internet and programming
 

1,891
 

2,362
  

471
   

24.9
  

Engineering and operations
 

12,143
 

11,755
  

(388)
  

(3.2)
 

Sales and marketing
 

5,353
 

5,093
  

(260)
  

(4.9)
 

General and administrative
 

14,872
 

15,150
  

278
   

1.9
  

Depreciation and amortization
 

12,487
 

14,730
  

2,243
   

18.0
  

Total operating expenses
 

54,300
 

54,689
  

389
   

0.7
  

Income from operations
 

28,988
 

34,476
  

5,488
   

18.9
  

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
             

Interest income (expense), net
 

87
 

305
  

218
   

250.6
  

Other income, net
 

632
 

(1,833)
 

(2,465)
  

(390.0)
 

Other income (expense), net
 

719
 

(1,528)
 

(2,247)
  

(312.5)
 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES, MINORITY
INTERESTS AND EQUITY IN EARNINGS OF
UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATE

 

29,707
 

32,948
  

3,241
   

10.9
  

Income taxes
 

16,009
 

19,486
  

3,477
   

21.7
  

INCOME BEFORE MINORITY INTERESTS AND
EQUITY IN EARNINGS OF UNCONSOLIDATED
AFFILIATE

 

13,698
 

13,462
  

(236)
  

(1.7)
 

Minority interests, net of tax
 

(3,484) (3,914)
 

(430)
  

(12.3)
 

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate, net of tax
 

2,030
 

2,569
  

539
   

26.6
  

NET INCOME
 

$12,244
 

$ 12,117
  

$ (127)
  

(1.0)
  

Wireless revenue.   Wireless revenue increased to $14.1 million for 2004 from $13.6 million for 2003, an increase of $0.5 million, or 4%. This increase
was attributable to the increase in our wireless subscribers in Guyana from 119,000 to 151,000 as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively, although it
was offset in part by the decline in the value of the Guyana dollar in 2004. A significant part of the increase was driven by the launch of GSM services in
Guyana in the fourth quarter of 2004.

Local telephone and data revenue.   Local telephone and data decreased slightly from $26.3 million for 2003 to $25.6 million for 2004, a decrease of
$0.7 million or 3%. While our access lines in Guyana grew from 93,000 as of December 31, 2003 to 103,000 as of December 31, 2004, our local revenue was
also negatively impacted because the 14% decline in the value of the Guyana dollar in 2004 exceeded the
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growth in revenue in the local currency. This item was also negatively impacted by a decline in dial-up Internet service revenues from the U.S. Virgin Islands.

International long distance revenue.   International long distance revenue increased by $4.9 million from $42.0 million to $46.9 million from 2003 to
2004, respectively. However, revenues for 2004 included a previously disclosed $1.7 million settlement of amounts owed to us by a large international carrier
that were significantly past due and written off in a prior period. Net of this settlement, international long distance revenue increased by $3.2 million, or 8%,
to $45.2 million. In management’s opinion, the increase was largely attributable to the increase in access lines and wireless subscribers in Guyana, which
provides more people with the means to make or receive an international call and thus tends to increase Internet traffic, which rose from 124.3 million
minutes for 2003 to 150.1 million minutes for 2004.

Other revenue.   Other revenue increased by $1.2 million, or 86%, from $1.4 million to $2.6 million as Choice’s digital television subscribers increased
from 2,900 to 4,100 from 2003 to 2004, respectively.

Termination and access fee expenses.   Termination and access fee expenses decreased by $2.0 million, or 26%, from $7.6 million to $5.6 million from
2003 to 2004. GT&T was able to reduce its long distance expenses by executing more efficient routing of outbound traffic lowering average outbound
termination rates. In addition, we had lower circuit costs in the U.S. Virgin Islands resulting from the decline of our dial-up Internet subscriber base.

Internet and programming expenses.   Internet and programming expenses increased from $1.9 million to $2.4 million as our digital television
subscribers increased, as previously noted. In addition, the increase in Internet and programming expenses is attributable to the increase in Choice’s wireless
broadband subscribers offset by a decrease in its dial-up customers.

Engineering and operations expenses.   Our engineering and operations expenses as a whole remained relatively unchanged from 2003 to 2004. While
our operating costs increased year over year in order to support our growing network, we realized the benefit of a 14% decline in the Guyana dollar at our
GT&T subsidiary.

Sales and marketing.   Sales and marketing expenses decreased by $0.3 million, or 6%, from $5.4 million to $5.1 million from 2003 to 2004. Sales and
marketing remained relatively unchanged year over year as the increase in our marketing expenses relating to the launch of GT&T’s GSM service during late
2004 was offset by the decline in the Guyana dollar as compared to 2003.

General and administrative expenses.   General and administrative expenses remained relatively unchanged from year to year despite an increase in our
networks and customer bases due to the positive effect in 2004 of the Guyana currency decline and the settlement of a lawsuit. However professional fees,
primarily related to compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 increased in 2004.

Depreciation and amortization expenses.   Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $2.2 million, or 18%, from $12.5 million to
$14.7 million for 2003 and 2004, respectively. The increase reflects the expansion of our networks in recent years, particularly the growth of our wireless
network in Guyana, but the increase also reflects the rising level of network and customer premise equipment servicing our television and broadband
customers in the U.S. Virgin Islands.



Interest expense (income).   Interest expense (income) increased by $0.2 million from $0.1 to $0.3 million as a result of a reduction in borrowings under
our credit facilities and an increased focus on maximizing the return on our cash balances.
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Other income (expense)   Other income decreased from income of $0.6 million to an expense of $1.8 million for 2003 and 2004, respectively, as a result
of the impairment of certain assets at Choice and our now curtailed ATC subsidiary during 2004.

Income taxes.   Our effective tax rate was 54% and 59% for 2003 and 2004, respectively, which represents the statutory U.S. income tax rate plus the
Guyanese income taxes in excess of the statutory U.S. income tax rates as well as certain U.S. state income taxes and the amortization of a deferred tax asset
which was recorded in a prior period. The increase in the rate was largely due to the recording of approximately $3.6 million in non-cash charges related to
the write-down of assets for which there was no associated tax benefit.

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate.   Our equity in the earnings of BDC increased from $2.0 million to $2.6 million from 2003 to 2004,
respectively. This increase primarily reflects increased roaming and long distance revenues and an increase of 2,200 subscribers, or 12%, from 17,800 as of
December 31, 2003 to 20,000 at December 31, 2004. In addition to the overall growth in our subscriber base and therefore revenue from our customers
roaming in other markets, the growth in roaming and long distance revenue at BDC stems from the establishment of roaming relationships with the two
largest US CDMA carriers (whose customers for the most part can roam only on our network when in Bermuda) in late 2003 and early 2004.

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $12.1 million, or $0.96 per share basic and diluted share, as compared to $12.2 million, or $0.98
per basic share and $0.97 per diluted share for 2003, a decrease of $0.1 million or 1%. Our net income for 2004 was reduced by several significant
impairment and other charges totaling approximately $4.0 million that were recorded in the third and fourth quarters of 2004. The impact of these charges was
partly offset by some large carrier settlements we recognized on a cash basis and a foreign exchange gain, which together increased 2004 net income by
approximately $1.2 million. In addition to the foreign exchange gain stemming from the revaluation of our Guyana dollar assets and liabilities, the decline in
the value of the Guyana dollar in 2004 also reduced the U.S. dollar value of our non-international revenue in Guyana while at the same time reducing the
U.S. dollar value of many Guyana expenses, offset by some price inflation in local currency terms.

Regulatory and Tax Issues

We are involved in a number of regulatory and tax proceedings. See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report. A material
and adverse outcome in one or more of these proceedings could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and future operations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have met our operational liquidity needs through a combination of cash on hand and internally generated funds and have funded capital expenditures
and acquisitions with a combination of internally generated funds, cash on hand and borrowings under our credit facility.

Uses of Cash

Capital Expenditures.   A significant use of our cash has been on capital expenditures expanding our networks. In 2005, we spent approximately $26.0
million for additional capital expenditures. As of December 31, 2005, we had invested approximately $228 million in Guyanese telecommunications
infrastructure. We anticipate capital expenditures for existing businesses to be approximately $25.0 million to $28.0 million during fiscal 2006 to, among
other things, expand Commnet’s wireless network (primarily additional GSM and CDMA base stations), increase GT&T’s wireless capacity and coverage
(primarily new sites and base stations), expand GT&T’s wireline network (primarily additional switches and cabling
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and to a lesser extent, additional switch-based service capabilities) and expand service areas at SoVerNet and expand service areas and fund upgrades at
Choice.

Acquisitions.   We have funded our recent acquisitions with a combination of cash on hand and borrowings under our $70 million credit facility, which
was established in September 2005 in connection with our acquisition of Commnet. On September 15, 2005, we acquired a 95% equity interest in Commnet
for approximately $59.3 million in cash, using borrowings of approximately $47 million under the credit facility and approximately $12.3 million of cash on
hand. For a discussion of our acquisitions occurring subsequent to December 31, 2005, see Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this
Report.

From time to time we explore opportunities to acquire communications properties or licenses in the Caribbean, the United States and elsewhere. Such
acquisitions may require external financing. While there can be no assurance as to whether, when or on what terms we will be able to acquire any such
businesses or licenses, such acquisitions may be accomplished through the issuance of shares, payment of cash or incurrence of debt.

Dividends and Distributions.   We use cash to make quarterly dividends payments to our  common stockholders when declared by our Board of
Directors. In 2005, our quarterly dividends to our stockholders aggregated $5.7 million. We have paid quarterly dividends for the last 29 fiscal quarters. In
addition, we are obligated to make dividend payments to the minority shareholders of certain subsidiaries, and paid dividends of $3.7 million in 2005. Also
our Board of Directors approved a $5.0 million stock buyback plan in September 2004 pursuant to which we have spent to date $916,130 repurchasing
common stock. Although we currently do not intend to make additional repurchases of common stock under this plan, we may act to do so in the future,
depending on market conditions and our cash management needs.

Debt Service and Other Contractual Commitment Table.   The following table discloses aggregate information about our debt and lease obligations as of
December 31, 2005 and the periods in which payments are due:

Contractual Obligations    Total  

Less than
1 Year  1-3 Years  3-5 Years  

More than
5 Years  

  (In millions)  

Long term debt including interest
 

$ 55.8
  

$ 0.2
   

$ 1.6
   

$ 54.0
   

$ —
  

Operating lease obligations
 

11.8
  

3.0
   

4.4
   

2.2
   

2.2
  

              



Total $ 67.6 $ 3.2 $ 6.0 $ 56.2 $ 2.2
 

We are also obligated under the Commnet merger agreement to purchase in July 2006 an additional 12.375% interest in Commnet of Florida, LLC for
$1.5 million.

Sources of Cash
We are a holding company, and our cash flows are derived solely from distributions from and the management fees paid to us by our operating

subsidiaries. Historically, GT&T has been the most significant of our operating subsidiaries in terms of our liquidity. None of our subsidiaries are subject to
any contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends.

Total Liquidity at December 31, 2005.   As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately $26.0 million in cash and cash equivalents. This represents a
decrease of $13.4 million compared to December 31, 2004. We believe our existing cash balances and other capital resources, including the remaining
amounts available under the $20 million revolving line of credit portion of our credit facility, are adequate to meet our current operating and capital needs. As
of March 15, 2006, we had approximately $2.0 million available under our credit facility.
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Cash Generated by Operations.   Cash provided by operating activities was $30.7 million in 2005 compared to $41.6 million in 2004. See “—Cash Flow
Summary.”

New Credit Facility.   On September 15, 2005, Atlantic Tele-Network entered into a Credit Agreement with CoBank, ACB providing for a credit facility
consisting of a $50 million term loan and a $20 million revolving credit facility. Under the term loan, repayments of principal are deferred until the maturity
of the loan on October 31, 2010. Interest on the term loan is payable on a quarterly basis at a fixed annual interest rate of 5.85%. Because CoBank is a
cooperative financial institution, we expect to receive payments annually, and at the end of the term, from CoBank which reflect our portion of CoBank’s
profits, if any, and these payments are expected to reduce our effective interest expense on the term loan. Amounts outstanding under the revolving credit
facility accrue interest at a rate equal to (at our option): (i) LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 1.25% to 1.50% or (ii) a variable rate of interest as defined in
the revolving credit facility plus 1.0%. The credit facility is guaranteed by our Commnet subsidiary, and is collateralized by, among other things, a security
interest in substantially all the assets of, and stock owned by, Atlantic Tele-Network and Commnet. As of March 15, 2006, we had approximately $68.0
million of borrowings under the credit facility and $1.7 million of other long-term debt.

Factors Affecting Sources of Liquidity

Internally Generated Funds.   The key factors affecting our internally generated funds are demand for our services, competition, regulatory
developments, economic conditions in the markets where we operate our businesses and industry trends within the telecommunications industry. For a
discussion of tax and regulatory risks in Guyana that could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity, see “Business—Risk Factors—Risks Relating to
Our Wireless and Wireline Services in Guyana,” “—Regulation of Our GT&T Subsidiary” and Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in
this Report.

Guyana—U.S. Foreign Currency Exchange.   Historically, the Guyana dollar has been considerably devalued relative to the U.S. dollar. The current
exchange rate is approximately $205 Guyana dollars to $1 U.S. dollar. We use U.S. dollars to make GT&T capital expenditures, to pay certain GT&T
liabilities (including a portion of GT&T’s tax liability to Guyana) and to value our GT&T assets for the purpose of making our Guyanese rate of return
calculation. Unfavorable changes in the Guyana dollar- U.S. dollar exchange rate would reduce our purchasing power in these areas. The continued expansion
of GT&T’s network is dependent upon the ability of GT&T to purchase equipment with U.S. dollars.

While currently a significant portion of GT&T’s revenues are transacted in U.S. dollars, this circumstance could change in the future. As a result of the
rate increases previously awarded to, and currently sought by, GT&T, the growth of GT&T’s local exchange operations and the general trend toward lower
international settlement rates, it is likely that an increasing portion of our revenues will be earned in Guyanese currency. While there are no legal restrictions
on the our conversion of Guyanese currency into U.S. dollars or other hard currencies, or on the expatriation of Guyanese currency or foreign currency from
Guyana, there are risks associated with the conversion of Guyanese dollars to U.S. dollars due to limited liquidity in the Guyana foreign currency markets.
This limited liquidity has not prevented us from converting Guyanese currency into U.S. dollars within a given three month period or from converting at a
price that reasonably approximates the reported exchange rate.

While we believe that GT&T has, and will continue to have, adequate cash flows denominated in hard currency to meet its current operating, debt
service and capital requirements, there can be no assurance that GT&T will be able to convert its Guyana currency earnings into the hard currency needed to
meet such obligations. As of December 31, 2005, we had no cash held in Guyanese dollars. See “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market
Risk.”
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Restrictions Under Credit Facility.   Our credit facility contains four financial tests with which Atlantic Tele-Network must comply:

·       a total leverage ratio (debt to EBITDA) of 2.00 to 1.00 or less;

·       a debt service coverage ratio (EBITDA to debt service) of 3.00 to 1.00 or more; and

·       an equity to assets ratio of 0.40 to 1.00 or more.

In addition, Commnet must comply with a leverage ratio test (debt of Atlantic Tele-Network and its subsidiaries, net of pledged cash, to EBITDA of
Commnet and its subsidiaries) of 7.00 to 1.00, which will decrease over time to 5.00 to 1.00 at July 1, 2007. As of December 31, 2005, we were in
compliance with the covenants of the credit facility.

Capital Markets.   Our ability to raise funds in the capital markets depends on, among other things, general economic conditions, the conditions of the
wireless industry, our financial performance and the state of the capital markets.



Cash Flow Summary

Cash provided by operating activities was $30.7 million in 2005 compared to $41.6 million in 2004. Towards the end of 2004 and continuing into early
2005, we invested a portion of our cash balances into highly rated debt instruments. Investments in these items will generally be recorded as “marketable
securities” on our balance sheet. While we believe this is a prudent way to increase returns on our cash, these investments carry more risk to principal than
bank money market accounts due to the possibility of adverse market changes or negative developments involving the issuer of any such instruments. We try
to minimize these risks by generally seeking instruments with shorter maturities issued by highly rated government agencies or corporations, but there is no
way to eliminate the risk to principal.

Inflation

We do not believe that inflation has had a significant impact on our consolidated operations in any of the years 2003 through 2005.

Critical Accounting Policies

We have based our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations on our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (or GAAP). We periodically evaluate our critical
accounting policies and estimates, including those related to foreign currency, revenue recognition, valuation of accounts receivable, property, plant and
equipment, long-lived and intangible assets, tax related accruals and contingencies. We base our estimates on our operating experience and on various
conditions existing in the market and we believe them to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our estimates form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.

We have identified the critical accounting estimates that we believe require significant judgment in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements. We consider these accounting estimates to be critical because changes in the assumptions or estimates we have selected have the potential of
materially impacting our financial statements.

Foreign Currency.   From the inception of GT&T’s operations through December 31, 2005, a significant portion of GT&T’s cash receipts and
expenditures, including a substantial majority of its capital expenditures, have been in U.S. dollars or other hard currencies. Accordingly, the U.S. dollar has
been

48

GT&T’s functional currency and any transaction gains and losses on non-U.S. dollar denominated assets and liabilities are reflected in income. Late in 2003
and early 2004, the value of the Guyana dollar declined in relation to the U.S. dollar, resulting in foreign exchange gains. While the decline in rates did not
have a significant impact on the Company’s revenues or operating expenses, the decline has offset growth in GT&T’s wireless local exchange and outbound
international long distance revenues, which are billed and paid in Guyana dollars. Further declines in the value of the Guyana dollar may have an adverse
impact on our future operating results as growth of local currency denominated revenue continues. As of December 31, 2005, none of our $26.5 million of
consolidated cash and cash equivalents was in Guyana dollars. With the decline in international settlement rates, the expansion of GT&T’s wireless business
and the increases that GT&T has received and hopes to receive in its rates for local service, it is possible that the Guyana dollar may become GT&T’s
functional currency in the future.

Revenue Recognition.   All of our revenues are recognized when earned, regardless of the period in which they are billed. In determining the appropriate
amount of revenue to recognize for a particular carrier or customer transaction, we apply the criteria established by Staff of Accounting Bulletin No. 104,
“Revenue Recognition” (SAB 104) and defer those items that do not meet the recognition criteria and rely on our past history of disputes and collections with
carriers and customers in estimating amounts for which revenue is not recognized. However, due to the nature and timing of carrier settlements, adjustments
affecting revenue can and do occur in periods subsequent to the period when the services were provided, billed and recorded as revenue. Historically, our
accounts receivable and revenue reserves have been sufficient to absorb any credits and bad debt write-offs recorded in subsequent periods.

Our wireless revenue is generated by both our Commnet and GT&T subsidiaries. GT&T charges an activation fee to new cellular subscribers in Guyana
and re-activation fees to subscribers in Guyana who allow their accounts to lapse. We have determined that the activation fees do not represent a separate unit
of accounting under EITF 00-21. Accordingly, our policy is to defer those fees and recognize them ratably over the estimated customer relationship period in
accordance with SAB 104. To date, those fees have been immaterial to both GT&T’s and our consolidated financial position and results of operations for all
periods presented.  Commnet does not charge for activation or installation fees, and derives substantially all of its wireless revenue from a per minute charge
which is recognized as revenue as earned.

Local telephone and data revenue for the periods presented, as well as other revenue, is generated by our GT&T and Choice subsidiaries.  For GT&T,
installation fees do not represent a separate unit of accounting under EITF00-21. Accordingly, our policy is to defer those fees and recognize them ratably
over the estimated customer relationship period in accordance with SAB 104. To date, those fees have been immaterial to both GT&T’s and our consolidated
financial position and results of operations for all periods presented. For Choice, we recognize revenue from subscriptions to Choice’s data, television and
other services monthly, as the services are provided. Installation fees charged by Choice Communications to customers subscribing to cable and Internet
services have also historically been immaterial to both Choice’s and our consolidated financial position and results of operations. The installation fee is
intended to recover a portion of the costs associated with the installation of cabling and related equipment at the customer location required for that customer
to receive Choice’s monthly service offerings. We determined that the activation fees represent a separate unit of accounting under EITF 00-21. As such, our
policy is to recognize these fees as revenue when the services are performed.

For our international long distance revenue, we determine the country of origin of the traffic which we receive from foreign carriers in order to apply the
appropriate rate to the minutes of long-distance traffic.

GT&T operates in a regulated industry, therefore its pricing is subject to regulatory commission oversight. Such oversight could result in changes to the
amount it bills customers in current and future periods.
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Valuation of Accounts Receivable.   A considerable amount of judgment is required when assessing the ultimate realization of receivables, including
assessing the probability of collection and the current credit-worthiness of customers. Due to the nature and timing of carrier settlements, adjustments
affecting revenue and the corresponding receivable can and do occur in periods subsequent to the period when the services were provided, billed and recorded
as revenue. Historically, our accounts receivable and revenue reserves have been sufficient to absorb any credits and bad debt write-offs recorded in
subsequent periods. However, the amounts we will ultimately realize upon settlement could differ in the near term from the amounts assumed in estimating
these revenues and the related accounts receivable.

Property, Plant and Equipment.   We operate in an environment where rapid changes in technology or changes in the intended use of property, plant and
equipment may cause the estimated period of use or the value of these assets to change.

Our fixed assets are recorded at cost. Repairs and replacements of minor items of property are charged to maintenance expense as incurred. The cost of
fixed assets in service and under construction includes an allocation of indirect costs applicable to construction.

We provide for depreciation using the straight-line method generally between 3 and 39 years. No gain or loss is recognized in connection with ordinary
retirements of depreciable property. With respect to GT&T, as of January 1, 1998, we adopted new and generally shorter lives in connection with a tariff
application filed on December 31, 1997 with the Guyana PUC. In February 2002, the PUC accepted these lives for purposes of setting interim rates without
expressly approving them, and ordered GT&T not to change its depreciation rates in the future without the approval of the PUC.

In June 2001, the FASB approved SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (or SFAS No. 143). SFAS No. 143 establishes
accounting standards for recognition and measurement of a liability for an asset retirement obligation and the associated asset retirement cost. In the case of
GT&T we have not provided for costs related to the removal of tangible long-lived assets because there are no obligations under any of our leases or under
any existing or enacted laws, statutes or ordinances or elsewhere that would require us to provide for costs related to the retirement of those assets.

During 2005, we recorded a liability in connection with SFAS No. 143 for approximately $522,000 relating to our acquisition of Commnet. Such accrual
represents management’s estimate of our obligations under certain leases to remove equipment placed on towers which are leased from third parties. Any such
liability associated with Choice’s operations are immaterial to our consolidated financial statements.

We periodically review our obligations and update our cost estimates. If laws are enacted or circumstances change, amounts required to remediate the
properties may differ significantly from the amounts reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Long-Lived and Intangible Assets.   In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” and SFAS
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” we evaluate the carrying value of our long-lived assets, including property and equipment, whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss exists when estimated undiscounted
cash flows attributable to the assets are less than their carrying amount. If an asset is deemed to be impaired, the amount of the impairment loss recognized
represents the excess of the asset’s carrying value as compared to its estimated fair value, based on management’s assumptions and projections. We assessed
our long-lived assets for impairment during 2004, and determined that an impairment charge of $1.7 million was required to write down the carrying amount
of certain assets to their estimated fair value as these assets were identified as being excess, obsolete or carried at values that may not be recoverable due to an
adverse change in the extent to which these assets were being utilized in the business, which was caused by the unfavorable business climate within the
industry and continued losses in each segment.
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We also assess the carrying value of goodwill on an annual basis in accordance to SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. The carrying
value of each reporting unit, including goodwill assigned to that reporting unit, is compared to its fair value. If the fair value of the reporting unit does not
exceed the carrying value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, an analysis is performed to determine if an impairment charge should be recorded. We
recorded a $1.6 million impairment charge for goodwill at Choice during 2004.

Our estimates of the future cash flows attributable to our long-lived assets and the fair value of our businesses involve significant uncertainty. Those
estimates are based on management’s assumptions of future results, growth trends and industry conditions. If those estimates are not met, we could have
additional impairment charges in the future, and the amounts may be material.

Tax Related Accruals.   Our estimate of deferred and current income taxes and the significant items giving rise to the deferred assets and liabilities are
shown in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report. These reflect the assessment of actual current and future taxes to be paid on
items reflected in the financial statements, giving consideration to both timing and probability of realization. Actual income tax could vary from these
estimates due to future changes in tax law. We are also subject to tax audits from various jurisdictions. We make estimates based on the available information
and consult with experts where necessary. We believe our estimates are reasonable; however, they may change materially in the future due to new
developments or interpretation.

Contingencies.   We are subject to proceedings, lawsuits, audits and other claims related to lawsuits and other legal and regulatory proceedings that arise
in the ordinary course of business. We are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges
of probable losses. A determination of the amount of loss accrual required, if any, for these contingencies are made after careful analysis of each individual
issue. We consult with legal counsel and other experts where necessary in connection with our assessment of any contingencies. The required accrual for any
such contingency may change materially in the future due to new developments or changes in each matter. We estimate these contingencies amount to
approximately $23.5 million at December 31, 2005, the majority of which are not recorded on our books. Adverse developments in these matters may result
in the recording of liabilities to satisfy all or a portion of these claims. See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004) (or SFAS No. 123(R)), Share-Based Payment, which is a revision of SFAS
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. SFAS No. 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and
amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows. Generally, the approach in SFAS No. 123(R) is similar to the approach described in SFAS No. 123. However,
SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement
based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative.

SFAS No. 123(R) permits us to adopt our requirements using one of two methods:

·       A “modified prospective” method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the adoption date (a) based on the requirements of SFAS
No. 123(R) for all share-based payments granted after the adoption date and (b) based on the requirements of SFAS No. 123 for all awards granted to
employees prior to the adoption date that remain unvested on the adoption date.



·       A “modified retrospective” method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective method described above, but also permits entities to
restate based on the amounts previously recognized under SFAS No. 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures either (a) all prior periods presented or
(b) prior interim periods of the year of adoption.
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We adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective method.

As permitted by SFAS No. 123, the Company currently accounts for share-based payments to employees using APB Opinion No. 25’s intrinsic value
method and, as such, generally recognizes no compensation cost on grants of employee stock options. The impact of adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) cannot be
predicted at this time because it will depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future. However, had we adopted SFAS No. 123(R) in prior
periods, the impact of that standard would have approximated the impact of SFAS No. 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net income (loss) and
earnings (loss) share in Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report. SFAS No. 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax deductions
in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under current literature.
This requirement is not anticipated to be material since the Company does not currently recognize a benefit of excess tax deductions because of federal and
state net operating loss carry forwards available to offset future U.S. federal and state taxable income.

On April 21, 2005, the SEC delayed the effective date of SFAS 123R. We adopted SFAS 123R in January 2006 and will apply the modified prospective
transition method. Under this method, a company records compensation expense for all new awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled after
the required effective date. Additionally, compensation expense is recorded for the unvested portion of previously granted awards that remain outstanding at
the date of adoption. The cost of the unvested portion of the award is recognized as the requisite service is rendered on or after the required effective date. The
adoption of SFAS 123R is not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In March 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (or FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations” (or FIN 47). FIN 47 clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in FASB Statement No. 143, “Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations,” refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on
a future event that may or may not be within the control of the entity. Accordingly, an entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a
conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Any uncertainty about the amount and/or timing of future
settlement should be factored into the measurement of the liability when sufficient information exists. We adopted FIN 47 in December 2005. There was no
impact as a result of the adoption of this accounting interpretation on our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections (or SFAS 154), which replaces APB Opinion No. 20
“Accounting Changes” and SFAS No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements.” SFAS 154 provides guidance on the accounting
for and reporting of accounting changes and error corrections. It requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements of changes in
accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. SFAS 154 is effective for
accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005.

ITEM 7A.        QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Although a significant portion of GT&T’s revenues and expenditures are currently transacted in U.S. dollars, the results of future operations nevertheless
may be affected by changes in the value of the Guyana dollar. From February 1991 until early 1994, the Guyana dollar remained relatively stable at the rate of
approximately $125 to the U.S. dollar. In 1994 the Guyana dollar declined in value to approximately $142 to the U.S. dollar. It remained relatively stable at
approximately that rate through 1997. From December 31, 1997, through December 31, 1998 the Guyana dollar further declined in value to
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approximately $180 to the U.S. dollar and it remained relatively stable until late 2003. In the fourth quarter 2003, the Guyana dollar declined in value to
approximately $195 to the U.S. dollar and to approximately $205 during the first quarter of 2004. The effect of the devaluation of the Guyana dollar on our
consolidated financial results has not been significant in the periods presented. However, the recent declines in 2003 and 2004 resulted in the recording of a
$1.55 million foreign exchange gain at December 31, 2003 and a $924,000 gain in the first quarter of 2004 as the devaluation decreased the value of GT&T’s
Guyana dollar net liabilities resulting in a gain. The gain in 2003 was substantially offset by other foreign exchange losses incurred during the year; we did
not incur similar losses in 2004.

A substantial majority of our consolidated cash balances are kept in U.S. dollar denominated short term investments, and GT&T generally endeavors to
maintain a balance between its Guyana dollar cash deposits and local receivables which are denominated in Guyana dollars, and its local tax and other
payables which are also denominated in the Guyana dollar.

Under generally accepted international accounting principles, which, in our view, are statutorily applicable to the rate making process in Guyana,
GT&T’s functional currency has been the U.S. dollar because a significant portion of GT&T’s revenues and expenditures have been transacted in U.S. dollars.
Accordingly, in our view, GT&T is currently entitled to its agreed upon minimum 15% return on rate base computed in U.S. dollars on a U.S. dollar historical
cost rate base and therefore devaluations of the Guyana dollar should have had no long-term impact on the value of GT&T’s earnings in U.S. dollars. The
Guyana Public Utility Commission has neither approved nor disapproved our position. Moreover, with the decline in international settlement rates and the
increases that GT&T hopes to have in local revenue, the Guyana dollar may become GT&T’s functional currency at some time in the future. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Policies” above.

We have approximately $55.8 million of long term debt at December 31, 2005. The interest rates associated with this debt are variable and subject to
change with the market. An increase in rates will increase our cost of borrowing and have a negative impact on our earnings.

ITEM 8.                FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Atlantic Tele-Network, Inc. and its subsidiaries are submitted as a separate section of this Annual Report. See
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule that appears on page F-1 hereof.

ITEM 9.                CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE



None.

ITEM 9A.        CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

Our management evaluated, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information we are required to disclose in
reports that we file or submit under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.
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Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

There was no change in the internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth fiscal quarter of the year covered by this Annual
Report on Form 10-K that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B.       OTHER INFORMATION

As reported in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 2, 2005, effective January 1, 2006, Michael T. Prior, our then Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer, was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer, succeeding Cornelius B. Prior, Jr. who served as our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
from 1998 through December 31, 2005.  Mr. Cornelius Prior continues to serve as our Chairman of the Board and as an executive officer.  For more
information about our named executive officers, including compensatory arrangements, see our Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and Exhibit 10.6 to this Report.
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PART III

ITEM 10.         DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Executive Officers

Our executive officers and their respective ages and positions as of March 1, 2006 are set forth below:
Name    Age  Position
Michael T. Prior

 

41
 

President and Chief Executive Officer
Cornelius B. Prior, Jr.

 

72
 

Executive Chairman
Steven J. Parrish

 

50
 

Executive Vice President—Operations
Douglas J. Minster

 

45
 

Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Andrew S. Fienberg

 

38
 

Chief Accounting Officer
 

Michael T. Prior is our President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Prior joined us in 2003 as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer. Before joining
us, Mr. Prior was a partner with Q Advisors LLC, a Denver-based investment banking and financial advisory firm focused on the telecommunications sector.
From 1999 to 2002, he headed corporate development for LighTrade, Inc., a telecommunications infrastructure provider. From 1998 to 1999, Mr. Prior was a
member of ComSpace Development LLC, a seed investment concern in the communications industry and an early investor in LighTrade. From 1992 to 1998,
Mr. Prior was a corporate lawyer with Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton in London and New York and Perkins Coie LLP in Seattle. Mr. Prior received a B.A.
degree from Vassar College and a J.D. degree summa cum laude from Brooklyn Law School. He is the son of Cornelius B. Prior, Jr., Chairman of our Board.

Cornelius B. Prior, Jr. is the Chairman of our Board of Directors and an executive officer of the company.  From 1998 through December 31, 2005, he
served as our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, at which time he retired as Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Prior was a managing director and stockholder
of Kidder, Peabody & Co. Incorporated, where he directed the Telecommunications Finance Group. A former Naval Officer and Fulbright Scholar, Mr. Prior
started his career as an attorney with Sullivan & Cromwell in New York. A former Trustee of Holy Cross College and member of the Vesting Committee to
Harvard Law School, he is the Treasurer and member of the Executive Committee of CCAA (Caribbean and Central American Action) and a former
Chairman of CANTO (Caribbean Association of National Telephone Organizations). Mr. Prior is a graduate of Holy Cross College and received a J.D. degree
from the Harvard Law School. Mr. Prior is the father of Michael T. Prior, our President and Chief Executive Officer.

Steven J. Parrish is our Executive Vice President of Operations. Mr. Parrish joined us in 2003 as Vice President of Operations. Before joining us,
Mr. Parrish served as Senior Vice President, Network, for LighTrade, Inc., from May 2000 to February 2002. He has over 25 years of telecommunications
experience with his first 13 years at Illinois Bell in a variety of leadership roles. From March 1991 to August 1995, he was at Ameritech where he served as
vice president leading the successful Advanced Intelligent Network (AIN) effort from concept to implementation. From August 1996 to January 1999,
Mr. Parrish led engineering and operations efforts as the Executive Vice President of Operations at USN Communications, a local telecommunications service
reseller. From February 1999 to February 2000, he served as Senior Vice President of Global Operations and Engineering at WorldPort Communications, with
responsibilities over operations based in the U.S., Great Britain, and the Netherlands. He received a B.S. degree in Electronics Engineering with High Honors
from the University of Illinois and an M.B.A. degree specializing in Telecommunications from the Illinois Institute of Technology.

Douglas J. Minster joined us in 2003 as our Vice President and General Counsel. From November 1999 to February 2002, Mr. Minster served as Vice
President, External Affairs, at
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LighTrade, Inc. From 1997 to 1998, he headed corporate development at IP Radio, Inc., a wireless broadband service. From 1990 to 1992, he served as a
senior legal advisor at Time Warner Telecommunications. In addition, Mr. Minster founded Digital Satellite Broadcasting Corp., a satellite radio company,
helping to develop the regulatory foundation for the satellite radio service. Mr. Minster began his career as an attorney at the FCC, later joining the former
Chairman of the FCC at Patrick Communications as an advisor on domestic and international regulatory and legal issues. He received a B.S. degree from
Ithaca College and a J.D. degree from The Catholic University Columbus School of Law.

Andrew S. Fienberg joined us in May 2005 as our Chief Accounting Officer. Prior to joining us, Mr. Fienberg served as a Divisional Controller for
Pegasus Satellite Television, Inc., a re-seller of DirecTV services throughout the rural United States, which he joined in December 2003. From August 1999
to December 2003, Mr. Fienberg was the Corporate Controller at iBasis, Inc., a publicly-traded international VoIP telecommunications service provider. Prior
to iBasis, Mr. Fienberg was with Iron Mountain Incorporated, a data storage provider, which he joined in May 1997. Prior to iBasis, he served as an auditor at
BDO Seidman, LLP in Boston beginning in September 1989. Mr. Fienberg received a B.S. degree in Accountancy from Bentley College and is a Certified
Public Accountant.

Additional information required by this Item regarding our directors and executive officers will be set forth in our Definitive Proxy Statement for the
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 17, 2006 (or 2006 Proxy Statement) under “Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance” and is herein incorporated by reference required information regarding our audit committee financial experts and
identification of the audit committee of our Board of Directors will be set forth in our 2006 Proxy Statement under “Corporate Governance” and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Information regarding our Code of Ethics applicable to our principal executive officer, our principal financial officer, our controller and other senior
financial officers appears in Item 1 of this Report under the caption “Business—Available Information.”

ITEM 11.         EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this Item regarding executive compensation will be set forth in our 2006 Proxy Statement under “Compensation and Other
Information Concerning Directors and Officers” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12.         SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Information required by this Item regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners, directors and executive officers will be set forth in our 2006
Proxy Statement under “Security Ownership By Principal Stockholders and Management” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information required by this Item regarding our equity compensation plans will be set forth in our 2006 Proxy Statement under “Equity Compensation
Plan Information” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13.         CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
Information required by this Item regarding certain relationships and related transactions will be set forth in our 2006 Proxy Statement under “Certain

Relationships and Related Transactions” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 14.         PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this Item regarding auditor fees and services will be set forth in our 2006 Proxy Statement under “Information Concerning
Independent Auditors” and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15.         EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

(a)(1)(2) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule

(a)           The following documents are filed as part of this Report:

1.     Financial Statements.   See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, which appears on page F-1 hereof. The financial statements listed in the
accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements are filed herewith in response to this Item.

2.     Financial Statement Schedule.   All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or because the required information in contained in the
consolidated financial statements or notes included in this Report.

3.     Exhibits.   See Index to Exhibits. The exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits immediately preceding the exhibits are filed herewith in response to
this Item.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Salem, Massachusetts on the 31  day of March 2006.

ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC.

 

By: /s/ MICHAEL T. PRIOR
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Director
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Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Atlantic Tele-Network, Inc.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Atlantic Tele-Network, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In
addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, the
information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial
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statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 31, 2006

F-2

ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2004 and 2005
(In Thousands, Except Share Data)

  December 31,  

  2004  2005  

ASSETS
     

Current Assets:
     

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 39,900
 
$ 26,493

 

Marketable securities
 

8,081
 

—
 

Accounts receivable, net of allowances
 

7,495
 

15,613
 

Materials and supplies
 

5,228
 

4,744
 

Prepayments and other current assets
 

1,825
 

1,822
 

Total current assets
 

62,529
 

48,672
 

Fixed Assets:
     

Property, plant, and equipment
 

162,909
 

204,297
 

Less accumulated depreciation
 

(62,817) (78,588)
Net fixed assets

 
100,092

 
125,709

 

Licenses
 

—
 

11,246
 

Goodwill
 

—
 

29,031
 

Long term marketable securities
 

—
 

1,991
 

Investment in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates
 

9,638
 

13,045
 

Other assets
 

4,115
 

4,137
 

Total assets
 

$ 176,374
 

$ 233,831
 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
     

Current Liabilities:
     

Current portion of long-term debt
 

$ 687
 
$ 165

 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
 

10,670
 

16,930
 

Dividends payable
 

1,402
 

1,522
 

Accrued taxes
 

11,663
 

9,411
 

Advance payments and deposits
 

3,303
 

3,114
 

Other current liabilities
 

3,927
 

2,985
 

Total current liabilities
 

31,652
 

34,127
 

Deferred income taxes
 

5,142
 

6,469
 

Long-term debt, excluding current portion
 

11,726
 

55,585
 

Total liabilities
 

48,520
 

96,181
 

Minority interests
 

19,722
 

21,940
 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
     

Stockholders’ Equity:
     

Preferred stock, $.01 par value per share; 10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding
 

—
 

—
 

Common stock, $.01 par value per share; 20,000,000 shares authorized; 12,878,560 and 12,949,810
shares issued, respectively and 12,511,418 and 12,463,748 shares outstanding in 2004 and 2005,
respectively

 
129

 
129

 

Treasury stock, at cost; 367,142 and 486,062 shares, in 2004 and 2005, respectively
 

(2,000) (3,532)
Additional paid-in capital

 
56,690

 
58,695

 

Deferred compensation
 

—
 

(1,626)
Equity contribution receivable from related party

 
(858) —

 

Retained earnings
 

54,171
 

62,044
 

Total stockholders’ equity
 

108,132
 

115,710
 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
 

$ 176,374
 

$ 233,831
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

  December 31,  

  2003  2004  2005  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



REVENUE:
Wireless

 

$ 13,561
 

$ 14,093
 

$ 25,964
 

Local telephone and data
 

26,325
 

25,630
 

27,926
 

International long distance
 

42,016
 

46,861
 

45,439
 

Other
 

1,386
 

2,581
 

2,952
 

Total revenue
 

83,288
 

89,165
 

102,281
 

OPERATING EXPENSES:
       

Termination and access fees
 

7,554
 

5,599
 

7,941
 

Internet and programming
 

1,891
 

2,362
 

2,601
 

Engineering and operations
 

12,143
 

11,755
 

15,136
 

Sales and marketing
 

5,353
 

5,093
 

6,457
 

General and administrative
 

14,872
 

15,150
 

16,044
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

12,487
 

14,730
 

17,110
 

Total operating expenses
 

54,300
 

54,689
 

65,289
 

Income from operations
 

28,988
 

34,476
 

36,992
 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
       

Interest income (expense), net
 

87
 

305
 

(688)
Other income, net

 

632
 

(1,833) (630)
Other income (expense), net

 

719
 

(1,528) (1,318)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES, MINORITY INTERESTS AND
EQUITY IN EARNINGS OF UNCONSOLIDATED
AFFILIATES

 

29,707
 

32,948
 

35,674
 

Income taxes
 

16,009
 

19,486
 

20,801
 

INCOME BEFORE MINORITY INTERESTS AND EQUITY IN
EARNINGS OF UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES

 

13,698
 

13,462
 

14,873
 

Minority interests, net of tax
 

(3,484) (3,914) (4,318)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, net of tax

 

2,030
 

2,569
 

3,043
 

NET INCOME
 

$ 12,244
 

$ 12,117
 

$ 13,598
 

NET INCOME PER SHARE:
       

Basic
 

$ 0.98
 

$ 0.96
 

$ 1.09
 

Diluted
 

$ 0.97
 

$ 0.96
 

$ 1.09
 

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING:
       

Basic
 

12,545
 

12,563
 

12,465
 

Diluted
 

12,583
 

12,563
 

12,488
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005
(In Thousands, Except Share Data)

  

Common
Stock  

Treasury
Stock, at

cost  

Additional
Paid In
Capital  

Deferred
Compensation  

Equity
Contribution

Receivable
from Related

Party  

Retained
Earnings  

Total
Stockholders

Equity  

Balance December 31,
2002   $ 129

 

  $ (1,669)   $ 55,837
 

  $ —
 

  $ —
 

  $ 39,809
 

  $ 94,106
 

 

Reissuance of 166,667 shares of
common stock from treasury
for exercise of stock options   —    833    —    —    —    —    833   

Purchase of 166,667 shares of
common stock   —    (1,148)       —    —    —    (1,148)  

Reissuance of 31,250 shares of
common stock from treasury
for exercise of stock options   —    127    43    —    —    —    170   

Reissuance of 4,542 shares of
common stock from treasury
under Directors’ Remuneration
Plan   —    18    (18)   —    —    —    —   

Award of 11,712 shares of
common stock under
Directors’ Remuneration Plan   —    —    80    —    —    —    80   

Dividends on common
stock   —    —    —    —    —    (4,754)   (4,754)  

Net income   —    —    —    —    —    12,244    12,244   

Balance, December 31,
2003   129    (1,839)   55,942    —    —    47,299    101,531   

Purchase of 25,000 shares of   —    (331)   —    —    —    —    (331)  



common stock
Reissuance of 34,735 shares of

common stock from treasury
under Directors’ Remuneration
Plan   —    170    (170)   —    —    —    —   

Award of 4,845 shares of
common stock under
Directors’ Remuneration Plan   —    —    60    —    —    —    60   

Dividends on common stock   —    —    —    —    —    (5,245)   (5,245)  

Net income   —    —    —    —    —    12,117    12,117   

Equity Contribution, Related
Party   —    —    858    —    (858)   —    —   

Balance, December 31, 2004   129    (2,000)   56,690    —    (858)   54,171    108,132   
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ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Continued)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005
(In Thousands, Except Share Data)

 

  

Common
Stock  

Treasury
Stock, at

cost  

Additional
Paid In
Capital  

Deferred
Compensation  

Equity
Contribution

Receivable
from Related

Party  

Retained
Earnings  

Total
Stockholders

Equity  

Equity Contribution, Related
Party   —   

 

(858)
 

 —    —    858   

 

—
  

 —   

Purchase of 50,000 shares of
common stock   —   

 

(586)
 

 —    —    —   

 

—
  

 (586)  

Reissuance of 6,842 shares
of common stock from
treasury under Directors’
Remuneration Plan   —   

 

42
  

 (42)   —    —   

 

—
  

 —   

Issuance of 71,250 shares of
common stock under 2005
Restricted Stock Plan   —   

 

—
  

 874    (874)   —   

 

—
  

 —   

Repurchase of 23,612 shares
of common stock issued
under 2005 Restricted
Stock Plan   —   

 

(290)
 

 —    290    —   

 

—
  

 —   

Issuance of 277,500 options
to purchase common
stock   —   

 

—
  

 1,173    (1,173)   —   

 

—
  

 —   

Reissuance of 12,500 shares
of common stock from
treasury   —   

 

160
  

 —    —    —   

 

—
  

 160   

Amortization of deferred
compensation   —   

 

—
  

 —    131    —   

 

—
  

 131   

Dividends on common stock   —   

 

—
  

 —    —    —   

 

(5,725)
 

 (5,725)  

Net income   —   

 

—
  

 —    —    —   

 

13,598
  

 13,598   

Balance, December 31, 2005   $ 129
 

 

 

$ (3,532)
 

 $ 58,695
 

  $ (1,626)   $ —
 

 

 

$ 62,044
  

 $ 115,710
 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005

(In Thousands)

  December 31,  

  2003  2004  2005  

Cash flows from operating activities:        

Net income  $ 12,244
 

$ 12,117
 

$ 13,598
 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows provided
by operating activities:        

Amortization of deferred compensation  —  —  421  

Depreciation and amortization  12,487  14,730  17,110  

Loss on uncollectible loans  —  570  —  

Reserve for amounts due from Bridge International Communications, Inc.  —  —  2,104  

Asset impairments  —  3,325  —  

Deferred income taxes  3,135  (1,039) 1,084  

Minority interests  3,484  3,914  4,318  



Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates  (2,030) (2,568) (3,043)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding the effects of the acquisition

of Commnet:        

Accounts receivable, net  764  1,847  (2,069)
Materials and supplies, prepayments, and other current assets  766  (1,351) 1,072  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (1,969) 698  (3,006)
Accrued taxes  (1,426) 4,452  (2,009)
Other  (938) 4,914  1,114  

Net cash provided by operating activities  26,517  41,609  30,694  

Cash flows from investing activities:        

Capital expenditures  (16,156) (25,317) (26,011)
Acquisition of Commnet, net of cash acquired of $1,862  —  —  (57,393)
Sale (purchase) of marketable securities  —  (8,081) 8,081  

Purchase of long term marketable securities  —  —  (1,991)
Dividends received from Bermuda Digital Communications Ltd.  278  445  1,450  

Advances to Bridge International Communications, Inc.  —  (1,195) (1,109)
Other investments  (182) —  —  

Net cash used in investing activities  (16,060) (34,148) (76,973)

Cash flows from financing activities:        

Repayment of long-term debt  (1,998) (1,179) (13,662)
Proceeds from long-term debt  —  10,000  57,000  

Debt issuance costs  —  —  (376)
Purchase of common stock  (315) (331) (876)
Proceeds from sale of stock  —  —  160  

Proceeds from stock option exercise  170  —  —  

Distribution to minority stockholders  (2,000) (3,250) (3,649)
Dividends paid on common stock  (4,645) (5,121) (5,725)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  (8,788) 119  32,872  

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  1,669  7,580  (13,407)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  30,651  32,320  39,900  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 32,320
 

$ 39,900
 

$ 26,493
 

Supplemental cash flow information:        

Interest paid  $ 390
 

$ 281
 

$ 1,622
 

Income taxes paid  $ 12,350
 

$ 14,598
 

$ 20,886
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.                 ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Atlantic Tele-Network, Inc. (“ATN” or “Company”) is a holding company with the following operating subsidiaries and affiliates:

·       Guyana Telephone & Telegraph Company, Ltd. (“GT&T”), the national and international telephone company in the Republic of Guyana and the largest
wireless service provider in that country. The Company has owned 80% of the stock of GT&T since January 1991. GT&T generated more than 95%,
94%, and 85% of the Company’s consolidated revenues in 2003,  2004 and 2005, respectively.

·       Commnet Wireless, LLC (“Commnet”), an owner and operator of wholesale wireless networks in rural areas of the United States. Commnet provides
wireless service providers with voice and data roaming services. The Company completed its acquisition of 95% of Commnet on September 15, 2005.

·       Choice Communications, LLC (“Choice Communications” or “Choice”), a provider of wireless digital television services, wireless broadband access
services, dial-up Internet services and certain other communications services in the U.S. Virgin Islands. Choice Communications, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, acquired its Internet service business in 1999 and its television business in March 2000.

·       Bermuda Digital Communications, Ltd. (“BDC”), the largest wireless voice and data communications service provider in Bermuda, doing business
under the name “Cellular One”. The Company acquired an equity interest in, and signed a management contract with, BDC in 1998. The Company
currently owns 44% of the equity of BDC.

·       On February 10, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of SoVerNet, Inc., a facilities-based provider of communications services to business
and residential customers in Vermont, including bundled voice and high-speed Internet access, as well as traditional dial-up Internet services. In
connection with the acquisition, ATN acquired all of the outstanding common stock of SoVerNet, Inc. for approximately $12.7 million, including the
repayment of approximately $1.4 million in SoVerNet debt and the payment of transaction expenses. The Company funded the transaction through a
combination of cash on hand and borrowings on its existing credit facility (see Note 7).

2.                 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries. Also included in the financial
statements is an entity where it is determined that the Company is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity (“VIE”) in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation on Accounting Research Bulletin
No. 51” (“FIN No. 46”) as revised in December 2003 (“FIN No. 46R”).

Except for its investment in Commnet of Florida, LLC, which is consolidated in accordance with the provisions of FIN No. 46, the Company uses the
equity method of accounting for its investments in affiliated entities in which the Company has at least 20% ownership but does not have management

file:///data/convert/a06-7614_110k.htm#a1_051146
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ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

control. The Company accounts for investments of less than 20% for which the Company does not have the ability to exert significant influence over the
operations using  the cost method of accounting.

As a result of the Commnet acquisition, the Company has changed the way it presents income statement data. In prior periods, the GT&T subsidiary
represented a substantial majority of the Company’s revenue, expense and profit, and the income statement followed the traditional regulated
telecommunications business presentation. Now that the Company has added a substantial non-regulated business in Commnet and experienced significant
growth in its non-exclusive wireless business in Guyana, management believes it important to report the revenue and expenses together for all of the
Company’s consolidated subsidiaries. The Company has reclassified the components of its consolidated revenues into categories that are more representative
of its operations. The Company has also grouped depreciation and amortization for all consolidated businesses into one line item on the income statement.
Prior periods have been reclassified to conform with the current period presentation. The reclassification of prior period results had no effect on reported net
income or earnings per share.

On March 8, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors approved a 5-for-2 split of its common stock. The stock split, which will be
effected in the form of a stock dividend, entitled all ATN stockholders of record as of the close of business on March 20, 2006 to receive three additional
shares of common stock for every two shares of common stock held on that date. The additional shares will be distributed to stockholders on March 31, 2006.
The Board also approved a proportional increase in the number of authorized shares of common stock from 20,000,000 to 50,000,000, subject to stockholder
approval. The accompanying financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock split.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant estimates relate to
revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, useful lives of the Company’s fixed assets, and income taxes. Actual results could differ significantly
from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Company considers all investments with a remaining maturity of three months or less at date of
purchase to be cash equivalents. The Company places its cash and temporary investments with banks and other institutions that it believes have a high credit
quality. At December 31, 2004 and 2005, the Company had deposits with banks in excess of FDIC insured limits and a significant portion of its cash is on
deposit with non-insured institutions such as corporate money market issuers. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are not subject to any restriction. As
of December 31, 2004, $3.7 million of the Company’s cash was denominated in the Guyana dollar. Due to the timing of certain payments, as of December 31,
2005, the Company held none of its cash in Guyana dollars. While there are risks associated with the conversion of Guyana dollars to U.S. dollars due to
limited liquidity in the Guyana foreign currency markets, it has not prevented the Company from converting Guyana dollars into U.S. dollars within a given
three month period or from converting at a price that reasonably approximates the reported exchange rate.
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ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Marketable Securities

The Company classifies marketable securities as available-for-sale in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” These securities are carried at fair market value, with unrealized
gains and losses reported as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. Gains or losses on securities sold are based on the
specific identification method.

Materials and Supplies

Materials and supplies primarily include customer premise equipment, cables, and poles at GT&T and are carried at weighted average cost.

Regulatory Accounting

GT&T accounts for costs in accordance with the accounting principles for regulated enterprises prescribed by SFAS No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects
of Certain Types of Regulation.” This accounting recognizes the economic effects of rate regulation by recording cost and a return on investment as such
amounts are recovered through rates authorized by regulatory authorities. Accordingly, under SFAS No. 71, fixed assets are depreciated over lives approved
by regulators, and certain costs and obligations are deferred based on approvals received from regulators to permit recovery of such amounts in future years.

Fixed Assets

The Company’s fixed assets are recorded at cost. Repairs and replacements of minor items of property are charged to maintenance expense as incurred.
The cost of fixed assets in service and under construction includes an allocation of indirect costs applicable to construction.

The Company provides for depreciation using the straight-line method generally between 3 and 39 years. No gain or loss is recognized in connection
with ordinary retirements of depreciable property. With respect to GT&T, as of January 1, 1998, the Company adopted new and generally shorter lives in



connection with a tariff application filed on December 31, 1997 with the Guyana Public Utilities Commission (“PUC”). In February 2002, the PUC accepted
these lives for purposes of setting interim rates without expressly approving them, and ordered GT&T not to change its depreciation rates in the future without
the approval of the PUC.

In June 2001, the FASB approved SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (or SFAS No. 143). SFAS No. 143 establishes
accounting standards for recognition and measurement of a liability for an asset retirement obligation and the associated asset retirement cost. In the case of
GT&T we have not provided for costs related to the removal of tangible long-lived assets because there are no obligations under any of our leases or under
any existing or enacted laws, statutes or ordinances or elsewhere that would require us to provide for costs related to the retirement of those assets.

During 2005, we recorded a liability in connection with SFAS No. 143 for approximately $522,000 relating to our acquisition of Commnet. Such accrual
represents management’s estimate of our obligations under certain leases to remove equipment placed on towers which are leased from third parties. Any such
liability associated with Choice’s operations are immaterial to our consolidated financial statements.
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ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In March 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (or FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations” (or FIN 47). FIN 47 clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in FASB Statement No. 143, “Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations,” refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on
a future event that may or may not be within the control of the entity. Accordingly, an entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a
conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Any uncertainty about the amount and/or timing of future
settlement should be factored into the measurement of the liability when sufficient information exists. We adopted FIN 47 in December 2005. There was no
impact as a result of the adoption of this accounting interpretation on our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of consideration paid over the fair value of net assets acquired in purchase business combinations. In accordance with
SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment on at least an annual
basis. Other indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested between annual tests if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.
The carrying value of each reporting unit, including goodwill assigned to that reporting unit, is compared to its fair value. If the fair value of the reporting unit
does not exceed the carrying value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, an analysis is performed to determine if an impairment charge should be
recorded. The Company recorded a $1.6 million impairment charge to write-down goodwill at Choice during 2004. (See Note 6 for additional information.)
In connection with the acquisition of Commnet in September 2005, the Company recorded goodwill of $29.0 million and intangible assets, in the form of
telecommunications licenses, of $11.2 million as of December 31, 2005.

Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, the Company evaluates the carrying value of long-
lived assets, including property and equipment, in relation to the operating performance and future undiscounted cash flows of the underlying business
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss exists when estimated
undiscounted cash flows attributable to the assets are less than their carrying amount. If an asset is deemed to be impaired, the amount of the impairment loss
recognized represents the excess of the asset’s carrying value as compared to its estimated fair value, based on management’s assumptions and projections.
The Company assessed its long-lived assets for impairment during 2004 and determined that an impairment charge of $1.7 million was required to write
down the carrying amount of certain assets at ATC and ATN Corporate to their estimated fair value as these assets were identified as being excess, obsolete or
carried at values that may not have been recoverable due to an adverse change in the extent to which these assets were being utilized in the business.
Management believes that the long-lived assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are appropriately valued at December 31, 2004 and 2005.
Management’s estimate of the future cash flows attributable to its long-lived assets and the fair value of its businesses involve significant uncertainty. Those
estimates are based on management’s assumptions of future results, growth trends and industry conditions. If those estimates are not met, the Company could
have additional impairment charges in the future, and the amounts may be material.
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Minority Interests

Minority interests in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations represent minority stockholders’ share of the income or loss of GT&T,
Commnet and Commnet’s consolidated subsidiaries. The minority interests in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets reflect the original investments
by the minority stockholders in these consolidated subsidiaries, along with their proportional share of the earnings or losses and net of any distribution from
the consolidated subsidiaries.

Revenue Recognition

International long distance, wireless and local exchange and data revenues are recognized when earned, regardless of the period in which they are billed.
The Company applies the appropriate rate to minutes of long distance traffic based upon the foreign carrier from which that traffic is received. In determining
the appropriate amount of revenue to recognize for a particular carrier or transaction, the Company applies the criteria established by Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 104 “Revenue Recognition” (SAB 104) and defers those items that do not meet the recognition criteria and also relies on its past history of



disputes and collections with each carrier in estimating amounts for which revenue is not recognized. However, due to the nature and timing of carrier
settlements, adjustments affecting revenue can and do occur in periods subsequent to the period when the services were provided, billed and recorded as
revenue. Historically, the Company’s accounts receivable and revenue reserves have been sufficient to absorb any credits and bad debt write-offs recorded in
subsequent periods. However, GT&T operates in a regulated industry, therefore, its pricing is subject to regulatory commission oversight. Such oversight
could result in changes to the amount it bills customers in current and future periods.

The Company recognizes revenue from Commnet’s roaming operations and other monthly fees in the period the services are provided.

The Company recognizes revenue from subscriptions to Choice’s Internet, television and other services monthly, as the services are provided, net of
management’s best estimate of uncollectible accounts.

The Company’s subsidiary, GT&T, charges an activation fee to new wireless subscribers in Guyana and re-activation fees to subscribers in Guyana who
allow their accounts to lapse. The Company determined that the activation fees do not represent a separate unit of accounting under Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 00-21 “Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (“EITF 00-21”). Accordingly, the Company’s policy is to defer
those fees and recognize them ratably over the estimated customer relationship period in accordance with SAB 104. To date, those fees have been immaterial
to both GT&T’s and the Company’s financial position and results of operations for all periods presented. Installation fees charged by Choice to customers
subscribing to cable and Internet services have also historically been immaterial to both Choice’s and the Company’s financial position and results of
operations. The installation fee is intended to recover a portion of the costs associated with the installation of cabling and related equipment at the customer
location required for that customer to receive Choice’s monthly service offerings. The Company determined that Choice’s activation fees represent a separate
unit of accounting under EITF 00-21. As such, the Company’s policy is to recognize these fees as revenue when the services are performed.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” The Company’s provision for income taxes is comprised
of a current and deferred portion. The current income
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tax provision is calculated as the estimated taxes payable or refundable on tax returns for the current year. The deferred income tax provision is calculated for
the estimated future tax effects attributable to temporary differences and carryforwards using expected tax rates in effect in the years during which the
differences are expected to reverse.

The Company does not provide for United States income taxes on earnings of GT&T. While it is not the Company’s intention to reinvest these earnings
permanently, management believes that foreign tax credits would largely eliminate any United States taxes on such earnings or offset any foreign withholding
taxes.

The Company currently has significant deferred tax assets, resulting from net operating losses, tax credit carryforwards and deductible temporary
differences. The Company provides a valuation allowance against a portion of its deferred tax assets. In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets,
management weighs the positive and negative evidence to determine if it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized.
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income in the appropriate tax jurisdiction. A decrease in the
Company’s valuation allowance would result in an immediate material income tax benefit, an increase in total assets and stockholder’s equity and could have
a significant impact on earnings in future periods.

The Company’s estimate of the value of its tax reserves contains assumptions based on past experiences and judgments about the interpretation of
statutes, rules and regulations by taxing jurisdictions. It is possible that the ultimate resolution of these matters may be greater or less than the amount that the
Company estimated. If payment of these amounts proves to be unnecessary, the reversal of the liabilities would result in tax benefits being recognized in the
period in which it is determined that the liabilities are no longer necessary. If the estimate of tax liabilities proves to be less than the ultimate assessment, a
further charge to expense would result. Uncertainties are recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Loss Contingencies.”

Credit Concentrations and Significant Customers

The following table indicates the percentage of revenues generated from a single customer that exceeds 10% of the Company’s consolidated revenue in
any of the past three years:

Customer    2003  2004  2005  

MCI
  

20%
  

16%
  

8%
 

IDT
  

4%
  

12%
  

14%
  

No other customer accounted for more than 10% of consolidated revenue in any of the past three years.

Foreign Currency Gains and Losses

With regard to GT&T operations, for which the U.S. dollar is the functional currency, foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in
determining net income for the period in which the transaction is settled. At each balance sheet date, balances denominated in foreign currency are adjusted to
reflect the current exchange rate. During 2003 and 2004, the value of the Guyana dollar declined in relation to the U.S. dollar. The $44,000 foreign exchange
gain recorded in 2003 included foreign exchange losses incurred from buying and selling currency to meet liquidity needs, offset by a gain of $1.55 million
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recorded in December 2003 as a result of a decline in the Guyana dollar (G$) from G$180 to the U.S. dollar to G$195. During 2004 foreign exchange gains
were $988,000 and include a gain of $924,000 recorded as a result of further declines in the value of the Guyana dollar from G$195 to the U.S. dollar to
G$205, due to GT&T’s net liability position.  During 2005, the value of the Guyana dollar remained constant at G$205 to one U.S. dollar.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments at December 31, 2004 and 2005 include cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and debt. The fair value of long-term debt is established using a discounted cash flow analysis. As of December 31, 2004 and 2005, the
estimated fair values of all of the Company’s financial instruments approximate their carrying values.

Net Income Per Share

Net income per share is computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share.” Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net
income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period and does not include any other potentially dilutive securities.
Diluted net income per share gives effect to all potentially dilutive securities. For the year ended December 31, 2003 the Company’s outstanding stock options
are its only potentially dilutive securities and were included in the calculation of diluted net income per share using the treasury stock method. There were no
potentially dilutive securities for the year ended December 31, 2004. For the year ended December 31, 2005 the common shares issued under the Company’s
2005 Restricted Stock Plan were the only potentially dilutive securities.

The reconciliation from basic to diluted weighted average common shares outstanding is as follows (in thousands):

  For the Year Ending December 31,  

  2003  2004  2005  

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding
 

12,545
 

12,563
 

12,465
 

Unvested shares issued under the Company’s 2005
Restricted Stock Plan

 

—
 

—
 

23
 

Stock options
 

38
 

—
 

—
 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding
 

12,583
 

12,563
 

12,488
  

Non-Cash Share Based Compensation

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004) (“SFAS No. 123(R)”), Share-Based Payment, which is a revision of
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. SFAS No. 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,
and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows. Generally, the approach in SFAS No. 123(R) is similar to the approach described in SFAS No. 123.
However, SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income
statement based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006 and will use the “modified prospective method” as permitted by SFAS No. 123(R).  The
“modified prospective medthod” requires that
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compensation expense is recognized beginning with the January 1, 2006 adoption date (a) based on the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R) for all share-based
payments granted after January 1, 2006 and (b) based on the requirements of SFAS No. 123 for all awards granted to employees prior to January 1, 2006 that
remain unvested on the adoption date.  There were, however, no unvested options outstanding as of the adoption date.

At December 31, 2005, the Company has two stock-based employee compensation plans (i) the 1998 Stock Option Plan and (ii) the 2005 Restricted
Stock Plan. Both of these plans are more fully described in Note 8.

Stock options issued under the Company’s 1998 Stock Option Plan during 2003 were accounted for under the recognition and measurement principles of
APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related Interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation cost was reflected in
net income for the year ended December 31, 2003, as all options granted under this plan had an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underlying
common stock on the date of grant.

The following table illustrates the effect on the 2003 net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions
of FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), to stock-based employee compensation.

  2003  

Net income:
   

As reported—basic and diluted
 

$ 12,244
 

Total non-cash equity based compensation expense determined under fair
value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects

 

(67)
Pro forma—basic and diluted

 

$ 12,177
 

Earnings per share:
   

As reported—basic
 

$ 0.97
 

As reported—diluted
 

$ 0.97
 

 



Since there were no outstanding options as of December 31, 2003 and no grants during 2004, the 2004 net income and earnings per share would not have
been impacted if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123. For 2005, the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123
were applied and as such the accompanying statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2005 includes a stock-based compensation charge as
noted below.

During 2005, the Company issued 277,500 options to purchase common stock under the Company’s 1998 Stock Option Plan. The Company applied the
fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 and is expensing the fair value of such grants over the vesting period of four years. During 2005, the
Company recognized $24,000 of non-cash share based compensation expense relating to these grants. See Note 8 for assumptions used to calculate the fair
value of the options.

During 2005, the Company issued 71,250 shares of common stock under the Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Plan. These shares were accounted for
using the provisions of SFAS 123 and are being charged to income based upon their fair values over their vesting period of three years. During 2005, non-
cash equity-based compensation expense, related to the vesting of shares issued under the 2005 Restricted Stock Plan, was $395,000.
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3.                 ACQUISITIONS

Commnet Wireless, LLC

On September 15, 2005, the Company completed the acquisition of 95% of the equity of Commnet Wireless, LCC, a provider of roaming services in
rural areas of the United States. The aggregate purchase price was approximately $59.3 million, which consisted of $58.7 million in cash and legal, financial
and other costs of $0.6 million. The acquisition was financed through a new credit facility as discussed in Note 7. The acquisition of Commnet allows the
Company to expand its emphasis on its wireless operations in smaller, niche markets with a manageable competitive environment while balancing its existing
investments in the Caribbean.

In connection with the Commnet merger agreement, the Company placed $7.4 million of the purchase price in escrow. Of this amount, $2.0 million was
released to the sellers in November 2005 after Commnet met certain working capital requirements. The remaining $5.4 million will be released to the Sellers
in September 2006 assuming no indemnification claims are presented by ATN. The escrowed cash is not included in the Company’s December 31, 2005
balance sheet and has been included in the purchase price; any adjustment to the escrowed amount will result in an adjustment to the goodwill recorded in the
transaction.

The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method and Commnet’s results of operations since September 15, 2005, the date of acquisition,
have been included in the financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2005. The total purchase consideration was allocated to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values as of the date of acquisition as determined by management with the assistance of a third-
party valuation firm. The excess of the purchase price over the amounts allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed has been recorded as goodwill.
The value of the goodwill from this acquisition can be attributed to a number of business factors including, but not limited to the reputation of Commnet as a
network builder and operator, the skills and experience of its management and staff and the strategic position it holds in its marketplace. In accordance with
current accounting standards, the goodwill and licenses will not be amortized and will be tested for impairment at least annually as required by
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. For tax purposes, the Company will elect to step up the basis of Commnet’s assets to fair market
value, and therefore, the goodwill and licenses will be deductible for tax purposes.
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (in thousands):

Total consideration:
   

Cash paid
 

$ 58,671
 

Transaction costs paid
 

584
 

Total purchase consideration
 

$ 59,255
 

Allocation of the purchase consideration:
   

Current assets, including cash of $1.9 million
 

$ 7,695
 

Fixed assets
 

16,716
 

Licenses
 

11,246
 

Investments in unconsolidated entities
 

2,615
 

Other investments
 

136
 

Goodwill
 

29,031
 

Total assets acquired
 

67,439
 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
 

(5,135)
Commitment to purchase additional interest in Commnet of Florida

 

(1,500)
Minority interests

 

(1,549)
Fair value of liabilities assumed

 

(8,184)
   



$ 59,255
 

Investments in unconsolidated entities of $2.6 million primarily represents Commnet’s 35.0% ownership of MoCelCo, LLC (“MoCelCo”) which has
historically been accounted for using the equity method of accounting. In January 2006, Commnet acquired the remaining 65.0% interest in MoCelCo for
$6.2 million.

Per the Commnet merger agreement, in July 2006, the Company is required to purchase an additional 12.375% interest in Commnet of Florida, LLC for
$1.5 million. Commnet of Florida is consolidated for financial reporting purposes.

Minority interests represent minority members’ interests in Commnet’s majority owned subsidiaries as well as a minority member’s 5% interest in
Commnet. Assuming a put and call agreement entered into in connection with the Commnet merger agreement is exercised, the Company will be obligated to
aquire the remaining 5% ownership interest in Commnet from the minority member between April 15, 2007 and October 15, 2007. The purchase price is
contractually set at a fixed multiple to a predefined earnings number based on Commnet’s financial results during the 12 month period prior to the exercise of
the put and call. Based on Commnet’s 2005 financial results, the purchase price, as of December 31, 2005, would be approximatley $4 million. No value was
ascribed to the put/call agreement as the exercise price is expected to reflect fair value at the exercise date.

As part of the acquisition of Commnet the Company also acquired certain carrier contracts which have remaining contractual lives of one to three years.
There is no renewal history of the contracts since none of these contracts have yet to have been subject to renewal. Based upon a discounted cash flow
valuation through the current expiration dates of these contracts, the Company has determined that the
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fair value of these contracts is insignificant and has therefore not allocated any of the purchase price to them.

The following table represents the condensed consolidated balance sheet of Commnet as of December 31, 2005 (in thousands):

Total current assets
 

$ 9,340
 

Long term assets other than goodwill
 

31,883
 

Goodwill
 

29,031
 

Total assets
 

$ 70,254
 

Total current liabilities
 

$ 7,143
 

Long term liabilities
 

—
 

Minority interests
 

1,597
 

Total liabilities and minority interests
 

8,740
 

Net assets
 

$ 61,514
  

The following table reflects the unaudited pro forma results of operations of the Company for the years ending December 31, 2004 and 2005 assuming
that the Commnet acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2004 (in thousands, except per share data):

  2004  2005  

Revenue
 

$ 108,024
 

$ 122,449
 

Net income
 

$ 17,700
 

$ 17,472
 

Net income per basic share
 

$ 1.41
 

$ 1.40
 

Net income per diluted share
 

$ 1.41
 

$ 1.40
  

Bermuda Digital Communications, Ltd.

On July 17, 1998, the Company acquired a 30% equity interest, plus warrants, in BDC for $1.0 million in cash. This investment is accounted for under
the equity method of accounting. During 2000, the Company purchased additional shares in BDC for $1.2 million through the exercise of all remaining stock
warrants and through direct purchases from BDC. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had a 44% equity interest in BDC.

The Company has recorded cumulative equity in earnings of BDC of $10.2 million. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, the
Company recorded equity in earnings of BDC of $2.0 million, $2.6 million and $2.9 million respectively, which are included in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations as equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, and management fees of approximately $0.9 milion, $1.2 million and
$1.2 million, respectively, which are included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations as other income. The Company received dividends
of $550,000, $621,000 and $1.5 million in 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively.

In July 2008, BDC has the option, subject to the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act, to purchase from the Company all, but not less than all, of
the BDC shares owned by the Company. If exercised, such sale is to be at a purchase price equal to the fair market value of such shares as determined by
investment banks selected by the parties, or if such banks disagree, by a third investment bank. Also in
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July 2008, the Company’s management contract with BDC will expire. The Company does not expect to have the management contract renewed.

LighTrade, Inc. (“LighTrade”)

During 2001, the Company acquired a significant minority interest in LighTrade for $5.0 million. LighTrade was a Washington, D.C.-based company in
the developmental stage, which established a series of market-participant neutral pooling points in major cities in the U.S. and abroad to enable
telecommunications carriers and service providers to interconnect with each other and to help service a public market for trading “bandwidth”
(telecommunications transport capacity).

During the first quarter of 2002, LighTrade filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy protection. The Company does not expect to recover any of this investment in
the bankruptcy proceedings and recorded an investment impairment charge of $5.0 million (approximately $3.3 million, net of tax) in 2001. The Company
recorded a valuation allowance in 2003 against the $1.75 million capital loss carry forward as it believed it was more likely than not that this loss would not
be used in future years to offset taxable income. In addition, the Company made secured loans of $250,000 to LighTrade during 2001 and an additional
$320,000 in January 2002. These loans were written off during 2004 as they were deemed to be uncollectible and the resale market for the underlying
collateral would not result in a substantial recovery.

4.                 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

As of December 31, 2004 and 2005, accounts receivable consist of the following (in thousands):

  2004  2005  

Subscribers, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $612 and $440 in 2004
and 2005, respectively

 

$ 4,646
 

$ 5,598
 

Connecting carriers, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $432 and $579 in
2004 and 2005, respectively

 

2,442
 

9,649
 

Other
 

407
 

366
 

Total accounts receivable, net
 

$ 7,495
 

$ 15,613
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5.                 FIXED ASSETS

As of December 31, 2004 and 2005, property, plant, and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

  

Useful Life
(in Years)  2004  2005  

Telecommunications equipment
  

5-15
  

$ 127,342
 

$ 163,823
 

Office and computer equipment
  

3-10
  

14,665
 

16,041
 

Buildings
  

15-39
  

8,845
 

10,038
 

Leasehold improvements
  

3-20
  

1,801
 

1,564
 

Land
  

—
  

687
 

714
 

Furniture and fixtures
  

5-10
  

581
 

495
 

Other
  

5-10
  

5,978
 

6,259
 

Total plant in service
     

159,899
 

198,934
 

Construction in progress
     

3,010
 

5,363
 

Total property, plant, and equipment
     

$ 162,909
 

$ 204,297
  

Depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 was $12,487, $14,730 and $17,110, respectively.

6.                 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

During 2004, in accordance with the requirements of SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, the Company performed its annual impairment
test of goodwill at its Choice subsidiary and determined that such goodwill was impaired as of December 31, 2004 as the carrying value of the goodwill
exceeded its fair value as of that date. Accordingly, the Company adjusted the carrying value of its goodwill and recorded a $1.6 million impairment charge at
its Choice subsidiary.

During 2005, the Company acquired 95% of Commnet for $59.3 million. The total purchase consideration was allocated to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values as of the date of acquisition, as determined by management and, with respect to certain identified intangible
assets, by management with the assistance of a third-party valuation firm. Included in the identified intangible assets were licenses that were determined to
have an estimated fair value of $11.2 million. Also in connection with the acquisition of Commnet, the Company recorded goodwill of $29.0 million which
represents the excess of the purchase price over the amounts allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The value of the goodwill from this
acquisition can be attributed to a number of business factors including, but not limited to the reputation of Commnet as a network builder and operator, the
skills and experience of its management and staff and the strategic position it holds in its marketplace.
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7.                 LONG-TERM DEBT

As of December 31, 2004 and 2005, long-term debt consists of the following (in thousands):

  2004  2005  

Note payable to CoBank, ACB by ATN under a $50 million term loan
 

$ —
 

$ 50,000
 

Line of Credit, payable to CoBank under a $20 million revolving credit facility 
 

—
 

4,000
 

Note payable to U.S. Bancorp Equipment Finance, Inc. by ATN under a
$2.5 million equipment financing agreement

 

1,925
 

1,750
 

Note payable to Banco Popular de Puerto Rico under a $15.3 million line of credit
 

10,000
 

—
 

Notes payable to U.S. Bancorp Equipment Finance, Inc. by ATN under a
$3.2 million equipment financing agreement

 

488
 

—
 

 

 

12,413
 

55,750
 

Less current portion
 

687
 

165
 

Total long term debt
 

$ 11,726
 

$ 55,585
  

On September 15, 2005, ATN, as borrower, entered into a Credit Agreement with CoBank, ACB (the “CoBank Credit Agreement”). The CoBank Credit
Agreement provides a $50 million term loan (the “Term Loan”) and a $20 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolver Facility”) and is collateralized by,
among other things, a pledge of all of the GT&T stock owned by ATN. The Term Loan has principal repayments deferred until the maturity of the loan on
October 31, 2010. Interest on the Term Loan is payable on a quarterly basis at a fixed annual interest rate of 5.85%, net of any patronage payments received
by the Company from the bank. Amounts outstanding under the Revolver Facility accrue interest at a rate equal to (at the Company’s option): (i) LIBOR plus
a margin ranging from 1.25% to 1.50% or (ii) a variable rate of interest as defined within the Revolver Facility plus 1%.

ATN used the proceeds from the $50 million Term Loan, drew $7.0 million from the Revolver Facility and used $12.1 million of its existing cash on
hand in order to acquire 95% of the outstanding equity of Commnet (totaling approximately $59.3 million, including transaction fees) and to repay
$10.0 million, of outstanding debt under ATN’s previous credit facility with Banco Popular (the “Banco Credit Facility”).

During December 2005, the Company repaid $3.0 million of the amounts drawn from the Revolver Facility. As of December 31, 2005 the remaining
$4.0 million drawn under the Revolver Facility bears interest at a rate of 5.42%.

The CoBank Credit Agreements contain certain affirmative and negative covenants on behalf of ATN and its subsidiaries (including Commnet) that are
typical for loan facilities of this type. Among other things, these covenants restrict ATN’s ability to incur additional debt in the future or to incur liens on its
property. ATN has also agreed to maintain certain financial ratios under the facilities, including a total leverage ratio (debt to EBITDA) of two to one or less;
a debt service coverage ratio (EBITDA to debt service) of three to one or more; an equity to assets ratio of 0.4 to one or more; and a specified leverage ratio
for Commnet that changes over time. As of December 31, 2005, the Company was in compliance with the covenants of the Cobank Credit Facilities.

In October 2003, the Company entered into the Banco Credit Facility which provided a $15.3 million credit facility. The interest rate on the facility was
LIBOR plus 2.25% and was collateralized by, among
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other things, a pledge of all the GT&T stock owned by ATN, ATN’s right to management fees from its subsidiaries and affiliates and the assets of Choice. The
Banco Credit Facility was repaid in full during September 2005 with the proceeds from the CoBank Credit Facility.

In December 2001, ATN entered into a $2.5 million financing agreement with U.S. Bancorp Equipment Finance, Inc., which is collateralized by property
of ATN and its subsidiaries. The loan requires monthly principal and interest payments, with all outstanding balances maturing in 2008. Interest is payable on
the outstanding principal balance at a variable floating rate based on three-month LIBOR plus 3.36%. As of December 2005, the interest rate was 7.81% and
the weighted average interest rate for 2005 was 6.93%.

In August 2001, ATN entered into a $3.2 million financing agreement with U.S. Bancorp Equipment Finance, Inc., which was collateralized by property
of ATN and its subsidiaries. The loan required monthly principal and interest payments, and was repaid in full during 2005.

Future maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

For the year ended December 31,    Amount of Maturity  

2006
  

$ 165
  

2007
  

179
  

2008
  

1,406
  

2009
  

—
  

2010
  

54,000
  

Thereafter
  

—
  

 

  

$ 55,750
   

8.                 EQUITY

On March 8, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors approved a 5-for-2 split of its common stock. The stock split, which will be
effected in the form of a stock dividend, entitled all ATN stockholders of record as of the close of business on March 20, 2006 to receive three additional
shares of common stock for every two shares of common stock held on that date. The additional shares will be distributed to stockholders on March 31, 2006.



The Board also approved a proportional increase in the number of authorized shares of common stock from 20,000,000 to 50,000,000, subject to stockholder
approval. The accompanying financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock split.

Common Stock

The Company has paid quarterly dividends on its common stock since January 1999. The following table sets forth the quarterly dividends per share
declared by the Company over the past three fiscal years ended December 31, 2005:

  1st  2nd  3rd  4th  

2003
 

$ 0.09
 

$ 0.09
 

$ 0.10
 

$ 0.10
 

2004
 

0.10
 

0.10
 

0.11
 

0.11
 

2005
 

0.11
 

0.11
 

0.12
 

0.12
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Treasury Stock

In 2003, the Company reissued 166,667 shares of its common stock upon exercise of a stock option by a former employee, and then immediately
repurchased them at a net cost of approximately $315,000, which was recorded as compensation expense in 2003. The Company reissued 31,250 shares from
treasury pursuant to the exercise of employee stock options and an additional 4,542 shares to directors under the board of directors’ remuneration plan.

In 2004, the Company repurchased 25,000 shares of its common stock at an aggregate cost of approximately $331,000 or an average price of $13.22 per
share. The Company reissued 34,735 shares from treasury to directors under the board of directors’ remuneration plan.

In 2005, the Company repurchased 50,000 shares of its common stock at an aggregate cost of approximately $586,000 or an average price of $11.72.
The Company reissued 6,842 shares from treasury to directors under the board of directors’ remuneration plan and 12,500 shares in connection with a private
sale for $160,000 or $12.80 per share, the fair value of the shares at the date of the transaction. Also in 2005, the Company repurchased 23,612 shares issued
to management under the Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Plan for approximately $290,000 or $12.28 per share, the fair value of the shares as of the date of
the purchase and 64,650 shares from the Chairman of the Company as is more fully described in Note 12.

2005 Restricted Stock Plan

During 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the 2005 Atlantic Tele-Network Restricted Stock and Incentive Plan (the “Restricted Stock
Plan”) which provides for the issuance of up to 625,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to eligible employees. During 2005, the Company granted
71,250 shares under the Restricted Plan all of which vest over a three-year period. In connection with these grants, the Company recognized $395,000 of
compensation expense which is included in the 2005 consolidated statement of operations.

Board of Directors’ Remuneration Plan

Directors who are not officers or employees of the Company have the option under a director’s remuneration plan (“Directors’ Plan”), adopted by the
board of directors in 1999, of electing to receive either 50% or 100% of their annual retainer in the form of Company common stock on a deferred basis. For
purposes of these elections, such stock is valued at the mean between the high and low reported sales prices of such stock in the last trading day in the month
preceding the date of the election. Directors’ annual retainers relate to their terms of office that run from one annual stockholders’ meeting to the next. The
following table shows for each of the three calendar years the aggregate amounts of annual retainer which participating directors have elected to take in stock
units under the Directors Plan and the number of stock units allocated to them under the Plan:

Term of Office    

Annual Retainer
Paid in Stock Units  

Number of
Stock Units  

2003-2004
  

$ 80,000
   

11,712
  

2004-2005
  

$ 60,000
   

4,845
  

2005-2006
  

$ —
   

—
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Because of a change in certain tax laws, the Company did not allow directors to elect to receive any portion of their retainer in stock delivered on a
deferred basis during their 2005-2006 term of office.

Stock Options

In 1998, the board of directors of the Company adopted the 1998 Stock Option Plan for the Company, reserved 625,000 shares of common stock for
options to be granted under the option plan. The options have terms of ten years and vest ratably over a period of four years. There were no outstanding
options at December 31, 2004.

The following table summarizes stock option activity under the plan:



  Number of
Options

 Weighted
Avg. Exercise

Price

 

Outstanding at December 31, 2002
  

421,875
   

$ 5.02
  

Granted
  

—
   

—
  

Forfeited
  

(223,958)
  

4.96
  

Exercised
  

(197,917)
  

5.07
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2003
  

—
   

—
  

Granted
  

—
   

—
  

Forfeited
  

—
   

—
  

Exercised
  

—
   

—
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2004
  

—
   

—
  

Granted
  

277,500
   

16.80
  

Forfeited
  

—
   

—
  

Exercised
  

—
   

—
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2005
  

277,500
   

$ 16.80
   

All of the options outstanding as of December 31, 2005 have an exercise price of $16.80 per share and have weighted average remaining life of 3.92
years. None of the options outstanding as of December 31, 2005 were available to be exercised.

Stock options issued under the Company’s 1998 Stock Option Plan prior to 2003 were accounted for under the recognition and measurement principles
of APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related Interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation cost was reflected in
net income for the year ended December 31, 2003, as all options granted under this plan had an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underlying
common stock on the date of grant.
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For stock options issued during 2005, the Company applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 and is expensing the estimated fair
value of such grants over the vesting period of four years. The estimated fair value of the options was determined using a Lattice option pricing model, based
on the following assumptions:

Risk free interest rate
 

4.2% to 4.7%
 

Expected dividend yield
 

2.56% to 3.31%
 

Expected life (years)
 

7.0 to 8.6 years
 

Expected volatility
 

23% to 30%
  

During 2005, the Company recognized $24,000 of non-cash equity based stock compensation expense relating to the 2005 grants.

9.                 INCOME TAXES

The following is a reconciliation from the tax computed at statutory income tax rates to the Company’s income tax expense for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005 (in thousands):

  2003  2004  2005  

Tax computed at statutory U.S. federal income tax rates 
 

$ 11,108
 

$ 12,431
 

$ 12,486
 

Guyanese income taxes in excess of statutory U.S. tax
rates

 

3,211
 

3,321
 

6,551
 

Guyanese tax reserve
 

—
 

3,657
 

2,374
 

Other, net
 

1,690
 

77
 

(610)
Income tax expense

 

$ 16,009
 

$ 19,486
 

$ 20,801
  

The components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

  2003  2004  2005  

Current:
       

United States—Federal
 

$ 43
 

$ 1,015
 

$ (298)
United States—State

 

—
 

—
 

93
 

Foreign
 

11,301
 

19,510
 

19,922
 

Deferred
 

4,665
 

(1,039) 1,084
 

 

 

$ 16,009
 

$ 19,486
 

$ 20,801
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The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 (in thousands):

  2004  2005  

Deferred tax assets:
     

Receivables reserve
 

$ 493
 

$ 418
 

Temporary differences not currently deductible for tax
 

110
 

146
 

Capital loss carryforward
 

1,750
 

1,750
 

Valuation allowance on capital loss carryforward
 

(1,750) (1,750)
Foreign tax credit carryforwards

 

5,721
 

11,102
 

Valuation allowance on foreign tax credit carryforwards
 

(472) (5,852)
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards

 

1,282
 

618
 

Net operating losses—state
 

—
 

139
 

 

 

$ 7,134
 

$ 6,571
 

Deferred tax liabilities:
     

Differences between book and tax basis of fixed and intangible
assets

 

12,276
 

13,040
 

Net deferred tax liabilities
 

$ 5,142
 

$ 6,469
  

The change in the total valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2005 was an increase of $5,380, primarily due to the uncertainty regarding
the realization of certain foreign tax credits. The Company has approximately $11,102 of foreign tax credit carryforwards, which expire from 2011 through
2015. The $618 of Alternative Minimum Tax credit carryforward has no expiration date.

10.   RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan for eligible employees of GT&T who meet certain age and employment criteria.
Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits attributed for service to date but also for those expected to be earned in the future. The Company’s
funding policy is to contribute to the plan such amounts as are actuarially determined to meet funding requirements. The benefits are based on the
participants’ average salary or hourly wages during the last three years of employment and credited service years.

The weighted average rates assumed in the actuarial calculations for the pension plan are as follows as of December 31, 2003. 2004, and 2005:

  2003  2004  2005  

Discount rate
 

6.25% 6.75% 6.75%
Annual salary increase

 

5.0% 5.0% 5.0%
Expected long term return on plan assets

 

8.0% 8.0% 8.0%
 

The expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets was determined based on several factors including input from pension investment
consultants, projected long-term returns of equity and bond indices in Guyana and the United States, and historical returns over the life of the related
obligations of the fund. GT&T, in conjunction with its investment pension investment consultants, reviews its asset allocation periodically and rebalances its
investments when appropriate in an effort to earn the expected
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long-term returns. The Company will continue to evaluate its long-term rate of return assumptions at least annually and will adjust them as necessary.

Changes during the year in the projected benefit obligations and in the fair value of plan assets are as follows as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 (in
thousands):

  2004  2005  

Projected benefit obligations:
     

Balance at beginning of year:
 

$ 5,520
 

$ 6,598
 

Foreign exchange fluctuations
 

(269) —
 

Service cost
 

434
 

417
 

Interest cost
 

402
 

441
 

Benefits paid
 

(118) (481)
Actuarial loss

 

629
 

(12)
Balance at end of year

 

$ 6,598
 

$ 6,963
 

Plan assets:
     

Balance at beginning of year:
 

$ 4,335
 

$ 6,158
 

Foreign exchange fluctuations
 

(211) —
 

Actual return on plan assets
 

691
 

755
 

Company contributions
 

1,461
 

913
 

Benefits paid
 

(118) (481)
Balance at end of year

 

$ 6,158
 

$ 7,345
  



The plan’s weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2004 and 2005, by asset category are as follows:

  2004  2005  

Equity Securities
 

20.9% 20.2%
Debt Securities

 

40.5
 

53.9
 

Other
 

38.6
 

25.9
 

Total
 

100.0% 100.0%
 

GT&T’s investment policy for its pension assets is to have a reasonably balanced investment approach, with a long-term bias toward debt investments.
GT&T’s strategy allocates plan assets among equity, debt and other assets in both Guyana and the United States to achieve long-term returns without
significant risk to principal. The fund is prohibited under Guyana law from investing in the equity, debt or other securities of the employer, its subsidiaries or
associates of the employer or any company of which the employer is a subsidiary or an associate. Furthermore, the plan must invest between 70%-80% of its
total plan assets within Guyana.
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The prepaid pension costs recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as other assets are as follows as of December 31, 2004 and 2005
(in thousands):

  2004  2005  

Funded status
 

$ (440) $ 382
 

Unrecognized prior service cost
 

79
 

2,559
 

Unrecognized net actuarial loss
 

2,933
 

68
 

Prepaid asset recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
 

$ 2,572
 

$ 3,009
  

Components of the plan’s net periodic pension cost are as follows for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005 (in thousands):

  2003  2004  2005  

Service cost
 

$ 363
 

$ 434
 

$ 417
 

Interest cost
 

326
 

402
 

441
 

Expected return on plan assets
 

(340) (399) (526)
Recognized net actuarial loss

 

113
 

186
 

132
 

Amortization of prior service costs
 

13
 

11
 

11
 

Net periodic pension cost
 

$ 475
 

$ 634
 

$ 475
  

The Company’s GT&T subsidiary expects to contribute approximately $1.0 million to its pension plan in 2006.

The following estimated pension benefits, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid over the next ten (10) years as
indicated below:

Fiscal Year    

Pension
Benefits  

2006
  

$ 156
  

2007
  

200
  

2008
  

229
  

2009
  

268
  

2010
  

307
  

2011-2014
  

2,171
  

 

  

$ 3,331
   

11.          COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Regulatory and Litigation Matters

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to certain regulatory and legal proceedings and other claims arising in the ordinary course of business. The
Company believes that, except for the items discussed below, for which the Company is currently unable to predict the final outcome, the disposition of
proceedings currently pending will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
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Regulatory



The Company’s Guyana subsidiary, GT&T, is subject to regulation in Guyana under the provisions of its license and under the Guyana Public Utilities
Commission Act of 1999 and the Guyana Telecommunications Act of 1990. GT&T also has certain significant rights and obligations under the agreement
pursuant to which the Company acquired its interest in GT&T in 1991 and because of the large volume of traffic that GT&T has with the United States,
GT&T can be significantly affected by orders of U.S. regulatory agencies.

GT&T launched its 900 MHz Global System for Mobile Communications (“GSM”) service on September 25, 2004, after confirming with the
Government of Guyana, GT&T’s right to use certain assigned frequencies. In March 2006, the National Frequency Management Unit (“NFMU”) reallocated
the GSM 900 MHz spectrum, which was previously divided into two 24 MHz bands (awarded to us and CelStar Guyana, Inc.), into four 12 MHz bands, with
the expectation of licensing two additional wireless providers. Analysis undertaken by GT&T, in consultation with its GSM equipment vendors and other
outside experts, indicates that GT&T may be required to incur substantial expense, in the form of new cell sites and equipment, as a result of being limited to
25% of the GSM 900 MHz band, and the quality of GSM service could suffer from higher congestion levels, particularly in the higher-volume metropolitan
areas or during events that create higher than ordinary traffic volume. In an effort to alleviate these consequences, GT&T proposed to the Government that it
be allocated 33% of the GSM 900 MHz spectrum, but that proposal has been rejected. However, the Government has proposed allocating a portion of
1800 Mhz frequency band for GT&T’s use. GT&T remains in discussion with the Government on this issue.

As a result of extensive discussions with the Guyana NFMU, on October 25, 2005, GT&T submitted its final spectrum fee payment to the NFMU for
2005, while the NFMU continues to develop a methodology for calculating GSM spectrum fees for wireless market participants in Guyana. At this time, the
Company does not expect the final determination of the amount of the fee payment in 2005 to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or
results of operations.

In August, 2005, CSG applied to the PUC for a significant reduction in its cellular mobile rates for both postpaid and prepaid plans. GT&T objected to
CSG’s application on the grounds that the PUC failed to adhere to its own rules regarding rate making procedures and that CSG proposed predatory (below
cost) rates. The PUC conducted hearings on the CSG application beginning in September 2005, and recently the PUC ruled, in response to a request by
GT&T, that GT&T should be permitted to review documentation submitted by CSG to the PUC in support of its application. Although the PUC did not
sustain GT&T’s substantive objection based on predatory pricing concerns, the PUC did not approve the CSG application based on the PUC’s determination
that CSG did not submit adequate information in support of the application. If CSG successfully supports its application for a reduction in rates, it will be able
to price its service substantially below GT&T’s current rates. Although GT&T may be permitted to match CSG’s rates, if CSG reductions of rates may have a
material adverse effect on GT&T’s financial condition or results of operations.

GT&T has identified various efforts to bypass its international gateway and avoid paying lawful termination fees to GT&T. GT&T has taken action
against local companies and individuals who are engaging in these efforts. In addition, GT&T has sent letters to various foreign providers seeking cessation of
their involvement with these services, and, in one case, GT&T filed an informal complaint with the
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Federal Communications Commission in the United States. GT&T will continue to monitor these activities and take appropriate action to protect its
contractual and license rights in Guyana.

In October 1997, the PUC ordered GT&T to increase the number of telephone lines in service to a total of 69,278 lines by the end of 1998; 89,054 lines
by the end of 1999; and 102,126 lines by the end of 2000; to allocate and connect an additional 9,331 telephone lines before the end of 1998; and to provide
to subscribers who request them facilities for call diversion, call waiting, reminder call, and three-way calling by the end of 1998. In issuing this order, the
PUC did not hear evidence or make any findings on the cost of providing these lines and services, the adjustment in telephone rates that may be necessary to
give GT&T a fair return on its investment, or the ways and means of financing the requirements of the PUC’s order. GT&T has appealed the PUC’s order to
the Guyana Court of Appeal, and that appeal is still pending. No stay currently exists against this order.

In July 2004, the FCC released an order revising the spectrum band plan applicable to the Broadband Radio Service and Educational Broadband Service.
These are the spectrum bands through which Choice operates its video and broadband data services. The new rules restructure these spectrum bands and
could impact Choice customers and operations. Choice has objected to the new rules and requested an opportunity to opt-out of the new band plan. The new
rules are subject to clarification and reconsideration before they become effective, and may have a material adverse effect on Choice operations if they remain
unaltered and are applied to Choice.

In September 2005, the FCC released an order reallocating spectrum currently used by Choice for its broadband data service and potentially reducing the
amount of spectrum available to Choice. Choice will be required to relocate certain operations to different frequencies; however, the FCC proposed that any
such transition may take up to five years with the costs borne by the party precipitating the move. Choice is actively participating in the rule making process
at the FCC to make its position known and mitigate any impact on operations. Choice believes it has mitigated or eliminated the possibility of a net reduction
of its spectrum resulting from this FCC action by obtaining an additional 24 MHz of spectrum from the FCC in 2005.
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Litigation

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to lawsuits and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, some of which involve claims for
damages and taxes that are substantial in amount. The Company believes that, except for the items discussed below, for which the Company is currently
unable to predict the final outcome, the disposition of claims currently pending will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or
results of operations.

Upon the acquisition of GT&T in January 1991, ATN entered into an agreement with the Government of Guyana to significantly expand GT&T’s
existing facilities and telecommunications operations and to improve service within a three-year period pursuant to an expansion and service improvement
plan (the “Plan”). The government agreed to permit rate increases in the event of currency devaluation within the three-year period, but GT&T was unable to



get timely increases when the Guyanese currency suffered a sharp decline in March 1991. The Plan was modified in certain respects, and the date for
completion of the Plan was extended to February 1995. Since 1995, the PUC has had pending a proceeding initiated by the minister of telecommunications of
Guyana with regard to the failure of GT&T to complete the Plan by February 1995. The PUC last held hearings on this matter in 1998. It is GT&T’s position
that its failure to receive timely rate increases in compensation for the devaluation of currency in 1991 provides legal justification for GT&T’s delay in
completing the Plan. If the PUC were to find that GT&T was not excused from fulfilling the terms of the Plan by February 1995, GT&T could be subject to
monetary penalties, cancellation of its license, or other action by the PUC or the government that could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business and prospects. The requirements of the Plan were substantially completed more than four years ago. GT&T believes that its obligations have been
fulfilled and it has continued to aggressively develop the telecommunications infrastructure in all areas including landline, wireless and data.

GT&T is contesting income tax assessments of approximately US $7.3 million that it has received from the commissioner of Inland Revenue for the
years 1991–1996 based on the disallowance as a deduction for income tax purposes of five-sixths of the advisory fees payable by GT&T to the Company. The
deductibility of these advisory fees was upheld for one of these years by a decision of the High Court in August 1995. The Guyana Commission of Inland
Revenue has filed a High Court Writ seeking an order setting aside that decision on the grounds that the Commissioner did not have a proper hearing. GT&T
has contested that Writ. The assessments for the other years are being held in abeyance pending decision on the Writ and GT&T motions to strike. Subsequent
to December 31, 2001, GT&T received assessments for the years 1997–2000 in the aggregate amount of approximately $6.5 million raising the same issues.
GT&T expects that proceedings on these assessments will also be held in abeyance pending the Court’s decision.

In November 1997, GT&T received assessments of the current equivalent of approximately $9.7 million from the commissioner of Inland Revenue for
taxes for the years 1991 through 1996. It is GT&T’s understanding that these assessments stem from an audit that the Guyana High Court stayed before it was
completed. Apparently, because the audit was cut short as a result of the High Court’s order, GT&T did not receive notice of, and an opportunity to respond
to, the proposed assessments as is the customary practice in Guyana, and substantially all of the issues raised in the assessments appear to be based on
mistaken facts. GT&T has applied to the Guyana High Court for an order prohibiting the commissioner of Inland Revenue from enforcing the assessments on
the grounds that the origin of the audit and the failure to give GT&T notice of, and opportunity to respond to, the proposed assessments violated Guyanese
law. The Guyana High Court has issued an order effectively prohibiting any action on the assessments pending the determination by the High Court of the
merits of GT&T’s application.
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Should GT&T be held liable for any of the above tax liabilities, totaling $23.5 million, the Company believes that the government of Guyana would be
obligated to reimburse GT&T for any amounts that would reduce GT&T’s return on investment to less than 15% per annum for the relevant periods.

In early 2000, Inet Communications, Inc., an Internet service provider in Guyana, and the Guyana Consumers Association filed a suit in the High Court
against the Attorney General of Guyana and GT&T. The suit claims that GT&T is not entitled to rate increases based on the agreement between the
Government of Guyana and ATN and that the Civil Law of Guyana prohibits what is referred to as GT&T’s monopoly. Inet’s motion was struck down for
non-appearance of counsel. However, Inet’s counsel has applied for the matter to be restored. The Court has not yet taken action on Inet’s application.

In July 2002 an individual sued the Attorney General of Guyana in the Guyana courts asking, among other things, for a declaration that the section of the
Company’s 1990 contract with the Government of Guyana granting to GT&T an exclusive right to operate a telecommunications system in Guyana was null
and void as contrary to law and to the Constitution of Guyana. GT&T has joined the suit to contest these claims and this proceeding remains pending.
Although there has been no activity in this suit, the Government of Guyana continues its efforts to introduce and pass legislation that would allow for
competition in areas (such as long distance) that are precluded by the exclusivity terms of GT&T’s license and the investment agreement with the Company.

In 2001, the Government of Guyana announced its intention to introduce competition into Guyana’s telecommunications sector in contravention of the
terms of GT&T’s license. The Company believes that the termination of the exclusivity provisions of GT&T’s license would require appropriate
compensation to GT&T and a rebalancing of rates so that the rates for each service represent the real economic cost of such services. The Company also
believes that the government is considering shifting from rate of return regulation to incentive rate-cap regulation. In February 2002, GT&T began
negotiations with the Government on these issues and all other outstanding issues between GT&T and the Government of Guyana. Shortly thereafter,
negotiations with the Government broke down. The Government and the Company recently discussed resuming negotiations, however, further negotiations
have not been held.

The Company’s chairman sued Innovative Communications Corporation (“ICC”), in Federal court in the U.S. Virgin Islands (the “Pension Action”) for
approximately $775,000 in pension benefits due following the separation of the Company and Emerging Communications, Inc. (“ECI”), the predecessor to
ICC. This case was argued on September 13, 2004. In an action filed in the Territorial Court of the U.S. Virgin Islands ECI asserted claims related to the
closing adjustments from the separation and claimed that ATN was to indemnify ECI for any judgment in favor of the Company’s chairman in the Pension
Action. ATN denied liability and filed counterclaims.

In November 2004, the Company and ECI agreed to dismiss the Territorial Court action, including any indemnification claims that either ECI or ICC
may have against ATN arising out of the Pension Action. ATN transferred to ECI stock in Eastern Caribbean Cellular (“ECC,” a St. Martin cellular company)
amounting to 1.9% of ECC’s equity, which was valued on the Company’s books at $150,000. The Company recorded the transfer as a general and
administrative expense. The Pension Action remained pending. In March 2005, a decision in the Pension Action found in favor of ICC and concluded that the
pension liability rests with the Company. The Chairman appealed that decision but has previously notified the Board of Directors of the Company that he did
not intend to seek compensation from ATN if he did not prevail in the Pension Action.

In 2001, the Company and Choice were sued by Tower Top Investments (“Tower Top”), the owner of some of the towers on which Choice is licensed to
place its transmission equipment, for rent associated with a digital television headend Choice constructed in 2001 at its site on Tower Top property. The
License Agreement between Tower Top and Choice permitted Choice to construct a headend facility, and Tower Top to increase the license fee, but was silent
on the monthly fee amount. Choice maintained that $2,500
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per month would be appropriate and Tower Top asserted that $15,000 per month was the proper amount. The case was tried in 2003. In December 2005, the
court concluded that a reasonable fee would be $4,000 per month payable in arrears to 2001 with credit for the amounts already paid by Choice. Choice
received a demand for payment from Tower Top in the amount of approximately $125,000 for rent in arrears. Choice petitioned the court to reconsider or



clarify its decision asserting that $4,000 per month was not supported by the record evidence or the court’s analysis and has asserted that payment is not due
until the court reviews Choice’s petition.

Lease Commitments and Other Obligations

The Company leases approximately 52,000 square feet of office space and certain tower sites under non-cancelable operating leases. The Company’s
obligation for payments under these leases is as follows at December 31, 2005 (in thousands):

2006
 

$ 2,991
 

2007
 

2,508
 

2008
 

1,941
 

2009
 

1,454
 

2010
 

778
 

Thereafter
 

2,151
 

Total Obligations Under Operating Leases
 

$ 11,823
  

12.          RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In March 2000, Wireless World (now operating as Choice Communications) acquired the assets and business of Antilles Wireless for consideration of
606,060 shares of ATN common stock and $1.5 million in cash. The Chairman of the Company owned the entire equity interest in Antilles Wireless. In
accordance with certain provisions of the purchase agreement, the Chairman of the Board was required, effective December 31, 2004, to return approximately
$858,000, including accrued interest to ATN, as the financial performance of AWC fell below expected levels specified in the agreement. Payment was made
in March 2005 in the form of shares, (64,650) of the Company’s common stock. The Company recorded the repayment as an equity contribution as of
December 31, 2004. (See Note 8 for additional information.)

During the period March through June 2001, the Company acquired a significant minority interest in LighTrade for $5,000,000. The son of the Chairman
of the Board of the Company was an officer of LighTrade, and over a year prior to the Company’s investment the Chairman had personally invested $100,000
in LighTrade. The decision to invest in LighTrade was made by a unanimous vote of the Company’s directors after disclosure of the above facts, which were
not a factor in the board’s decision to make the investment. In July 2001, the Chairman made an unsecured loan of $500,000 to LighTrade, and the Company
made secured loans to LighTrade of $250,000 in August 2001 and $320,000 in January 2002. These loans enabled LighTrade to secure a $5,000,000 equity
investment by an unaffiliated investor. In December 2004, the Company deemed the loans to be uncollectible and wrote them off. (See Note 4 for additional
information.)

13.          INDUSTRY SEGMENTS

The Company manages and evaluates its operations in seven segments of which three are considered material for separate disclosure under SFAS 131,
“Disclosures About Segments of and Enterprise Related Information.” Those three segments are: i) Integrated Telephony, which generates all of its revenues
in Guyana and has all of its assets located in Guyana (“GT&T”), ii) Wireless Television and Data, which generates all of its revenues in and has all of its
assets located in the U.S Virgin Islands (“Choice”), and iii) Rural Cellular, which, as a result of the acquisition of Commnet, generates all of its revenues in
the
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United States and has all of its assets located in the United States (“Commnet”). The operating segments are managed separately because each offers different
services and serves different markets. The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in Note 2.

The following tables provide information for each operating segment (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003  

  

Integrated
Telephony  

Wireless
Television
and Data  

Rural
Cellular  

Non-Reportable
Segments  Eliminations  Consolidated  

Revenues
  

$ 78,865
   

$ 4,375
   

$ —
   

$ 6,074
   

$ (6,026)
  

$ 83,288
  

Depreciation and amortization
  

10,453
   

1,344
   

—
   

690
   

—
   

12,487
  

Operating income
  

36,389
   

(3,515)
  

—
   

(2,938)
  

(948)
  

28,988
  

Interest income(expense)
  

265
   

(888)
  

—
   

710
   

—
   

87
  

Income taxes
  

16,361
   

(1,786)
  

—
   

1,434
   

—
   

16,009
  

Net income
  

16,832
   

(4,466)
  

—
   

(122)
  

—
   

12,244
   

For the Year Ended December 31, 2004   

  

Integrated 
Telephony  

Wireless
Television
and Data  

Rural
Cellular  

Non-Reportable
Segments  Eliminations  Consolidated  

Revenues
  

$ 83,958
   

$ 5,045
   

$ —
   

$ 6,736
   

$ (6,574)
  

$ 89,165
  

 

Depreciation and amortization
  

11,854
   

2,076
   

—
   

800
   

—
   

14,730
  

 

Operating income
  

41,847
   

(4,794)
  

—
   

(1,375)
  

(1,202)
  

34,476
  

 

Interest income(expense)
  

370
   

(1,198)
  

—
   

1,132
   

—
   

304
  

 

Income taxes
  

20,815
   

(3,079)
  

—
   

1,750
   

—
   

19,486
  

 

Net income
  

18,476
   

(7,698)
  

—
   

1,339
   

—
   

12,117
  

 

 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2005  

  

Integrated
Telephony  

Wireless
Television
and Data  

Rural
Cellular  

Non-Reportable
Segments  Eliminations  Consolidated  

Revenues
  

$ 87,236
   

$ 5,505
   

$ 9,332
   

$ 6,940
   

$ (6,732)
  

$ 102,281
  

Depreciation and amortization 
  

12,948
   

2,372
   

1,114
   

676
   

—
   

17,110
  

Operating income
  

41,691
   

(5,051)
  

2,880
   

(1,377)
  

(1,151)
  

36,992
  

Interest income(expense)
  

553
   

(1,896)
  

30
   

625
   

—
   

(688)
 

                  



Income taxes 20,208 (2,758) 1,137 2,214 — 20,801
Net income

  

18,086
   

(6,896)
  

2,701
   

(293)
  

—
   

13,598
   

  Assets  

As of December 31,    

Integrated
Telephony  

Wireless
Television
and Data  

Rural
Cellular  

Non-Reportable
Segments  Consolidated  

2004
 

$ 133,070
  

$ 13,039
  

$ —
  

$ 30,265
   

$ 176,374
  

2005
 

127,305
  

13,091
  

70,254
  

23,181
   

233,831
   

Total assets for the Rural Cellular segment includes $29.0 million of goodwill as of December 31, 2005.

  Capital Expenditures  

Year Ending December 31,    

Integrated
Telephony  

Wireless
Television
and Data  

Rural
Cellular  

Non-Reportable
Segments  Consolidated  

2004
  

$ 20,104
   

$ 3,074
   

$ —
   

$ 2,139
   

$ 25,317
  

2005
  

20,699
   

2,320
   

2,329
   

663
   

26,011
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14.          BRIDGE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

On July 8, 2004, the Company entered into a Convertible Secured Note Purchase Agreement and certain related agreements (collectively, the
“Agreement”) with Bridge International Communications Services, Inc. (“Bridge”), an early stage facilities-based provider of wholesale international long
distance services using Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) technology and managed network services for VoIP providers.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Company may be obligated to lend Bridge up to $4.0 million to fund working capital and certain other expenditures and
has the right to convert the loan into 100% of the equity of Bridge at any time. The loan has a three-year term and bears interest at 350 basis points over
LIBOR (5.34% at December 31, 2004). Additionally, ATN had an obligation to issue up to 75,000 non-qualified stock options to the Bridge principals if
Bridge attains certain EBITDA targets.

As part of the Agreement, ATN purchased a VoIP/TDM switch in July 2004, and leased the switch to Bridge under a 3-year operating lease beginning in
October 2004. The revenue and related expenses associated with the switch, primarily depreciation, are recorded under Other Operations.

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had provided Bridge with $2.3 million of financing including $1.8 million of cash advances under the
agreement as well as $500,000 of support for the funding of receivables and operating expenses. During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company established
a reserve of $2.1 million against the amounts due from Bridge as Bridge has had difficulty closing contracts for its primary business line of managed network
services.

15.          SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Acquisition of SoVerNet, Inc.

On February 10, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of SoVerNet, Inc., a facilities-based provider of communications services to business and
residential customers in Vermont, including bundled voice and high-speed Internet access, as well as traditional dial-up Internet services. In connection with
the acquisition, ATN acquired all of the outstanding common stock of SoVerNet, Inc. for approximately $12.7 million, including the repayment of
approximately $1.4 million in SoVerNet debt and the payment of transaction expenses. At closing of the transaction, the Company issued shares of common
stock amounting to 4% of SoVerNet’s outstanding capital stock to SoVerNet’s new chief executive, subject to vesting requirements and other restrictions. The
Company funded the transaction through a combination of cash on hand and borrowings on its existing credit facility (see Note 7).

Additional Acquisitions

Effective January 1, 2006 the Company’s Commnet Wireless subsidiary completed two acquisitions of wireless roaming operations located in Northeast
Missouri and Central Arizona. Commnet acquired the 65% of MoCelCo, LLC that it did not previously own for $6.2 million in cash and all the assets of a
privately held network in Gila County, Arizona, that it previously managed, for $1.7 million in cash. The two acquisitions consist of a cellular license, a PCS
license and 22 GSM cell sites. The Commnet acquisitions were funded with cash on hand and borrowings on ATN’s revolving credit facility.
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16.   QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
Following is a summary of the Company’s quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 (in thousands):

  

2004 Consolidated
for the Three Months Ended  

  March 31  June 30  September 30  December 31  

Total revenues
  

$ 20,670
  

$ 21,828
  

$ 23,514
   

$ 23,153
  

Operating expenses
  

13,580
  

13,227
  

13,679
   

14,203
  

Income from operations
  

7,090
  

8,601
  

9,835
   

8,950
  

Other income (expense), net
  

1,256
  

393
  

(263)
  

(2,914)
 

Income before income taxes, minority interests and
equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate

  

8,346
  

8,994
  

9,572
   

6,036
  

Income taxes
  

4,805
  

5,355
  

5,706
   

3,620
  

Income before minority interests and equity in earnings
of unconsolidated affiliate

  

3,541
  

3,639
  

3,866
   

2,416
  

       



Minority interests, net of tax (893) (939) (1,065) (1,017)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate, net of

tax
  

497
  

689
  

829
   

554
  

Net income
  

$ 3,145
  

$ 3,389
  

$ 3,630
   

$ 1,953
  

Earnings per share (basic)
  

$ 0.25
  

$ 0.27
  

$ 0.29
   

$ 0.16
  

Earnings per share (diluted)
  

$ 0.25
  

$ 0.27
  

$ 0.29
   

$ 0.16
   

  

2005 Consolidated
for the Three Months Ended  

  March 31  June 30  September 30  December 31  

Total revenues
  

$ 22,603
  

$ 23,296
  

$ 25,000
   

$ 31,382
  

Operating expenses
  

14,750
  

15,313
  

15,123
   

20,103
  

Income from operations
  

7,853
  

7,983
  

9,877
   

11,279
  

Other income (expense), net
  

520
  

422
  

380
   

(2,640)(1)
 

Income before income taxes, minority interests and
equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate

  

8,373
  

8,405
  

10,257
   

8,639
  

Income taxes
  

5,016
  

5,025
  

5,601
   

5,159
  

Income before minority interests and equity in earnings
of unconsolidated affiliate

  

3,357
  

3,380
  

4,656
   

3,480
  

Minority interests, net of tax
  

(901)
 

(945)
 

(1,118)
  

(1,354)
 

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate, net of
tax

  

590
  

796
  

894
   

763
  

Net income
  

$ 3,046
  

$ 3,231
  

$ 4,432
   

$ 2,889
  

Earnings per share (basic)
  

$ 0.24
  

$ 0.26
  

$ 0.36
   

$ 0.23
  

Earnings per share (diluted)
  

$ 0.24
  

$ 0.26
  

$ 0.36
   

$ 0.23
  

(1)          Includes a reserve of $2.1 million against the amounts due from Bridge.
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SCHEDULE II

ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(Amounts In Thousands)

  

Balance at
Beginning
of Period  

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses  

Net
Charge

Offs  

Balance
at End

of Period  

YEAR ENDED, December 31, 2003
               

Description:
               

Allowance for doubtful accounts
  

$ 7,937
   

$ 2,642
  

$ 7,411(a)
 

$ 3,168
  

YEAR ENDED, December 31, 2004
               

Description:
               

Allowance for doubtful accounts
  

$ 3,168
   

$ 1,019
  

$ 3,143(b)
 

$ 1,044
  

YEAR ENDED, December 31, 2005
               

Description:
               

Allowance for doubtful accounts
  

$ 1,044
   

$ 661
  

$ 690
  

$ 1,015
  

(a)           Net charge-offs in 2003 consist primarily of amounts written-off due to the bankruptcy of a large international carrier. The Company is engaged in a
lawsuit with the international carrier to collect on this account but recovery is unlikely. The write-off did not impact reported earnings in 2003 as the
Company had established an allowance in prior years and applied the specific reserve to the carrier’s account.

(b)          Net charge-offs in 2004 include the reversal of approximately $1.7 million in reserves to recognize revenue as the Company collected several
significantly past due accounts for which it had previously provided reserves. Charge-offs also include $0.94 million to write-off significantly aged
accounts at Call Home Telecom. The majority of these amounts had been reserved for during 2003.
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of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Rule 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Exhibit 3.2
 

BY-LAWS OF
 

ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC.

as amended and restated on March 7, 2006
 

(A Delaware Corporation)
 

ARTICLE I
 

Offices
 

SECTION 1.                                Registered Office. The registered office of the Corporation within the State of Delaware shall be in the City of Wilmington,
County of New Castle.

 
SECTION 2.                                Other Offices. The Corporation may also have an office or offices other than said registered office at such place or places, either

within or without the State of Delaware, as the Board of Directors shall from time to time determine or the business of the Corporation may require.
 

ARTICLE II
 

Meetings of Stockholders
 

SECTION 1.                                Place of Meetings. All meetings of the stockholders for the election of directors or for any other purpose shall be held at any such
place, either within or without the state of Delaware, as shall be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors and stated in the notice of meeting or
in a duly executed waiver thereof.

 
SECTION 2.                                Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of stockholders, commencing with the year 1990, shall be held at such date and at such time

as shall be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors and stated in the notice of meeting or in a duly executed waiver thereof. At such annual
meeting, the stockholders shall elect, by a plurality vote, a Board of Directors and transact such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting.

 
SECTION 3.                                Special Meetings. Special meetings of stockholders, unless otherwise prescribed by statute, may be called at any time by the

Board of Directors or the Chairman of the Board, if one shall have been elected, or the President and shall be called by the Secretary upon the request in
writing of a stockholder or stockholders holding of record at least fifty percent of the voting power of the issued and outstanding shares of stock of the
Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting.

 
SECTION 4.                                Notice of Meetings. Except as otherwise expressly required by statute, written notice of each annual and special meeting of

stockholders stating the date, place and hour of the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called,
shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote thereat not less than ten nor more than sixty days before the date of the meeting. Business
transacted at any special meeting of stockholders shall be limited to the purposes stated in the notice. Notice shall be given personally or by mail or facsimile
machine and, if by mail, shall be sent in a postage

 

 
prepaid envelope, addressed to the stockholder at his address as it appears on the records of the Corporation. Notice by mail shall be deemed given at the time
when the same shall be deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid. Notice of any meeting shall not be required to be given to any person who
attends such meeting, except when such person attends the meeting in person or by proxy for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the
meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened, or who, either before or after the meeting, shall submit a
signed written waiver of notice, in person or by proxy. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, an annual or special meeting of
stockholders need be specified in any written waiver of notice.

 
SECTION 5.                                List of stockholders. The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the Corporation shall prepare and make, at least ten days

before each meeting of stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in alphabetical order, showing the address of
and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane
to the meeting, during ordinary business hours, for a period of at least ten days prior to the meeting, either at a place within the city, town or village where the
meeting is to be held, which place shall be specified in the notice of meeting; or, if not specified, at the place where the meeting is to be held. The list shall be
produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be inspected by any stockholder who is present.

 
SECTION 6.                                Quorum, Adjournments. The holders of a majority of the voting power of the issued and outstanding stock of the Corporation

entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at all meetings of stockholders,
except as otherwise provided by statute or by the Certificate of Incorporation. If, however, such quorum shall not be present or represented by proxy at any
meeting of stockholders, the stockholders entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall have the power to adjourn the meeting from
time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present or represented by proxy. At such adjourned meeting at
which a quorum shall be present or represented by proxy, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally
called. If the adjournment is for more than thirty days or, if after adjournment a new record date is set, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to
each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting.

 
SECTION 7.                                Organization. At each meeting of stockholders, the Chairman of the Board, if one shall have been elected or, in his absence or if

one shall not have been elected, the President shall act as chairman of the meeting. The Secretary or, in his absence or inability to act, the person whom the
chairman of the meeting shall appoint secretary of the meeting shall act as secretary of the meeting and keep the minutes thereof.

 
SECTION 8.                                Order of Business. The order of business at all meetings of the stockholders shall be as determined by the chairman of the

meeting.
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SECTION 9.                                Voting. Except as otherwise provided by statute or the Certificate of Incorporation, each stockholder of the Corporation shall be
entitled at each meeting of stockholders to one vote for each share of capital stock of the Corporation standing in his name on the record of stockholders of
the Corporation:

 
(a)          on the date fixed pursuant to the provisions of Section 7 of Article V of these By-Laws as the record date for the determination of

the stockholders who shall be entitled to notice of and to vote at such meeting; or
 
(b)         if no such record date shall have been so fixed, then at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice

thereof shall be given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the date next preceding the day on which the meeting is
held.

 
Each stockholder of record entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders may vote in person (including by means of remote communications, if any,

by which stockholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting) or may authorize another person or persons to vote for such
stockholder by a proxy executed or transmitted in a manner permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware by the stockholder or the
stockholder’s authorized agent and delivered (including by means of electronic or telephonic transmission) to the Secretary of the Corporation. No such proxy
shall be voted upon after three years from the date of its execution, unless the proxy expressly provides for a longer period. Any such proxy shall be delivered
to the secretary of the meeting at or prior to the time designated in the order of business for so delivering such proxies. When a quorum is present at any
meeting, the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of the issued and outstanding stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon, present in
person or represented by proxy, shall decide any question brought before such meeting, unless the question is one upon which by express provision of statute
or of the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws, a different vote is required, in which case such express provision shall govern and control the decision
of such question. Unless required by statute, or determined by the chairman of the meeting to be advisable, the vote on any question need not be by ballot. On
a vote by ballot, each ballot shall be signed by the stockholder voting, or by his proxy, if there be such proxy, and shall state the number of shares voted.

 
SECTION 10.                          Inspectors. The Board of Directors may, in advance of any meeting of stockholders, appoint one or more inspectors to act at such

meeting or any adjournment thereof. If any of the inspectors so appointed shall fail to appear or act, the chairman of the meeting shall, or if inspectors shall
not have been appointed, the chairman of the meeting may, appoint one or more inspectors. Each inspector, before entering upon the discharge of his duties,
shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the duties of inspector at such meeting with strict impartiality and according to the best of his ability. The
inspectors shall determine the number of shares of capital stock of the corporation outstanding and the voting power of each, the number of shares represented
at the meeting, the existence of a quorum, the validity and effect of proxies, and shall receive votes, ballots or consents, hear and determine all challenges and
questions arising in connection with the right to vote, count and tabulate all votes, ballots or consents, determine the results, and do such acts as are proper to
conduct the election or vote with fairness to all stockholders. On request of the chairman of the meeting, the inspectors shall make a report in
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writing of any challenge, request or matter determined by them and shall execute a certificate of any fact found by them. No director or candidate for the
office of director shall act as an inspector of an election of directors. Inspectors need not be stockholders.

 
SECTION 11.                          Action by Consent. Whenever the vote of stockholders at a meeting thereof is required or permitted to be taken for or in

connection with any corporate action, by any provision of statute or of the Certificate of Incorporation or of these By-Laws, the meeting and vote of
stockholders may be dispensed with, and the action taken without such meeting and vote, if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be
signed by the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a
meeting at which all shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon were present and voted.

 
ARTICLE III

 
Board of Directors

 
SECTION 1.                                General Powers. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors may exercise all such authority and powers of the corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by statute or the
Certificate of Incorporation directed or required to be exercised or done by the stockholders.

 
SECTION 2.                                Number, Qualifications, Election and Term of Office. The number of directors constituting the initial Board of Directors shall be

one. Thereafter, the number of directors may be fixed, from time to time, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the entire Board of Directors or by action of
the stockholders of the Corporation. Any decrease in the number of directors shall be effective at the time of the next succeeding annual meeting of
stockholders unless there shall be vacancies in the Board of Directors, in which case such decrease may become effective at any time prior to the next
succeeding annual meeting to the extent of the number of such vacancies. Directors need not be stockholders. Except as otherwise provided by statute or these
By-Laws, the directors (other than members of the initial Board of Directors) shall be elected at the annual meeting of stockholders. Each director shall hold
office until his successor shall have been elected and qualified, or until his death, or until he shall have resigned, or have been removed, as hereinafter
provided in these By-Laws.

 
SECTION 3.                                Place of Meetings. Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at such place or places, within or without the State of

Delaware, as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine or as shall be specified in the notice of any such meeting.
 
SECTION 4.                                Annual Meeting. The Board of Directors shall meet for the purpose of organization, the election of officers and the transaction of

other business, as soon as practicable after each annual meeting of stockholders, on the same day and at the same place where such annual meeting shall be
held. Notice of such meeting need not be given. In the event such annual meeting is not so held, the annual meeting of the Board of Directors may be held at
such other time or place (within or without the State of Delaware) as shall be specified in a notice thereof given as hereinafter provided in Section 7 of this
Article III.
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SECTION 5.                                Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at such time and place as the Board of Directors

may fix. If any day fixed for a regular meeting shall be a legal holiday at the place where the meeting is to be held, then the meeting which would otherwise
be held on that day shall be held at the same hour on the next succeeding business day. Notice of regular meetings of the Board of Directors need not be given
except as otherwise required by statute or these By-Laws.

 
SECTION 6.                                Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chairman of the Board, if one shall have been

elected, or by two or more directors of the Corporation or by the President.
 
SECTION 7.                                Notice of Meetings. Notice of each special meeting of the Board of Directors (and of each regular meeting for which notice shall

be required) shall be given by the Secretary as hereinafter provided in this Section 7, in which notice shall be stated the time and place of the meeting. Except
as otherwise required by these By-Laws, such notice need not state the purposes of such meeting. Notice of each such meeting shall be mailed, postage
prepaid, to each director, addressed to him at his residence or usual place of business, by first class mail, at least two days before the day on which such
meeting is to be held, or shall be sent addressed to him at such place by telegraph, cable, telex, telecopier, facsimile or other similar means, or be delivered to
him personally or be given to him by telephone or other similar means, at least twenty-four hours before the time at which such meeting is to be held. Notice
of any such meeting need not be given to any director who shall, either before or after the meeting, submit a signed waiver of notice or who shall attend such
meeting, except when he shall attend for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the
meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

 
SECTION 8.                                Quorum and Manner of Acting. A majority of the entire Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of

business at any meeting of the Board of Directors, and, except as otherwise expressly required by statute or the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws,
the act of a majority of the directors present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors. In the absence of a quorum
at any meeting of the Board of Directors, a majority of the directors present thereat may adjourn such meeting to another time and place. Notice of the time
and place of any such adjourned meeting shall be given to all of the directors unless such time and place were announced at the meeting at which the
adjournment was taken, in which case such notice shall only be given to the directors who were not present thereat. At any adjourned meeting at which a
quorum is present, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called. The directors shall act only as a
Board of Directors and the individual directors shall have no power as such.

 
SECTION 9.                                Organization. At each meeting of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, if one shall have been elected, or, in the

absence of the Chairman of the Board or if one shall not have been elected, the President (or, in his absence, another director chosen by a majority of the
directors present) shall act as chairman of the meeting and preside thereat. The Secretary or, in his absence, any person appointed by the chairman shall act as
secretary of the meeting and keep the minutes thereof.
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SECTION 10.                          Resignations. Any director of the Corporation may resign at any time by giving written notice of his resignation to the

Corporation. Any such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if the time when it shall become effective shall not be specified therein,
immediately upon its receipt. Unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

 
SECTION 11.                          Vacancies. Any vacancy in the Board of Directors, whether arising from death, resignation, removal (with or without cause), an

increase in the number of directors or any other cause, may be filled by the vote of a majority of the directors then in office, though less than a quorum, or by
the sole remaining director or by the stockholders at the next annual meeting thereof or at a special meeting thereof. Each director so elected shall hold office
until his successor shall have been duly elected and qualified.

 
SECTION 12.                          Removal of Directors. Any director may be removed, either with or without cause, at any time, by the holders of a majority of the

voting power of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at an election of directors.
 
SECTION 13.                          Compensation. The Board of Directors shall have authority to fix the compensation for their services as directors and members of

committees of the Board of Directors, together with reimbursement of expenses for attendance at meetings of the Board of Directors and for attendance at
meetings of committees of the Board of Directors when such committee meetings are held at a time other than in conjunction with the meetings of the Board
of Directors. Any director may also serve the Corporation in any other capacity and may receive compensation therefor.

 
SECTION 14.                          Committees. The Board of Directors may, by resolution passed by a majority of the entire Board of Directors, designate one or

more committees, including an executive committee, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the Corporation. The Board of Directors
may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the
committee. In addition, in the absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members thereof present at any meeting and not
disqualified from voting, whether or not he or they constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board of Directors to act at the
meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified member.

 
Except to the extent restricted by statute or the Certificate of incorporation, each such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution creating it,

shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Directors and may authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed to all papers
which require it. Each such committee shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors and have such name as may be determined from time to time by
resolution adopted by the Board of Directors. Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and report the same to the Board of Directors.

 
SECTION 15.                          Action by Consent. Unless restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation, any action required or permitted to be taken by the Board

of Directors or any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board of Directors or such committee, as
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the case may be, consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Directors or such
committee, as the case may be.

 
SECTION 16.                          Telephonic Meeting. Unless restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation, any one or more members of the Board of Directors or

any committee thereof may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors or such committee by means of a conference telephone or similar
communications equipment by means of which all persons present at the meeting are able to hear and participate in such meeting. Participation by such means
shall constitute presence in person at a meeting.

 
ARTICLE IV

 
Officers

 
SECTION 1.                                Number and Qualifications. The officers of the Corporation shall be elected by the Board of Directors and shall include the

Chairman of the Board, the President, one or more Vice-Presidents, the Chief Financial Officer, the Treasurer and the Secretary. If the Board of Directors
wishes, it may also elect other officers (including one or more Assistant Treasurers and one or more Assistant Secretaries) as may be necessary or desirable
for the business of the Corporation. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person, and no officer except the Chairman of the Board need be a
director. Each officer shall hold office until his successor shall have been duly elected and shall have qualified, or until his death, or until he shall have
resigned or have been removed, as hereinafter provided in these By-Laws.

 
SECTION 2.                                Resignations. Any officer of the Corporation may resign at any time by giving written notice of his resignation to the Corporation.

Any such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if the time when it shall become effective shall not be specified therein, immediately
upon receipt. Unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of any such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

 
SECTION 3.                                Removal. Any officer of the Corporation may be removed, either with or without cause, at any time, by the Board of Directors at

any meeting thereof.
 
SECTION 4.                                Chairman of the Board. The Chairman of the Board, if one shall have been elected, shall be a member of the Board of Directors,

an officer of the Corporation and, if present, shall preside at each meeting of the Board of Directors or the stockholders. He shall advise and counsel with the
President and, in the President’s absence, with other executives of the Corporation, and shall perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned
to him by the Board of Directors.

 
SECTION 5.                                [This section is intentionally omitted.]
 
SECTION 6.                                The President. The President shall, in the absence of the Chairman of the Board or if the Chairman of the Board shall not have

been elected, preside at each meeting of the Board of Directors or the stockholders. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and
shall perform all duties incident to the office of President and chief executive officer and such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him by the
Board of Directors.
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SECTION 7.                                Vice-President. Each Vice-President shall perform all such duties as from time to time may be assigned to him by the Board of

Directors or the President. At the request of the President or in the President’s absence or in the event of the President’s inability or refusal to act, the Vice-
President, or if there shall be more than one, the Vice-Presidents in the order determined by the Board of Directors (or if there be no such determination, then
the Vice-Presidents in the order of their election), shall perform the duties of the President, and, when so acting, shall have the powers of and be subject to the
restrictions placed upon the President in respect of the performance of such duties.

 
SECTION 8.                                Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer shall perform all such duties as may from time to time be assigned to him by

the Board of Directors.
 
SECTION 9.                                Treasurer. The Treasurer shall:
 

(a)                                  have charge and custody of, and be responsible for, all the funds and securities of the Corporation;
 
(b)                                 keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation;
 
(c)                                  deposit all moneys and other valuables to the credit of the Corporation in such depositaries as may be designated by the Board of

Directors or pursuant to its direction;
 
(d)                                 receive, and give receipts for, moneys due and payable to the Corporation from any source whatsoever;
 
(e)                                  disburse the funds of the Corporation and supervise the investment of its funds, taking proper vouchers therefor;
 
(f)                                    render to the Board of Directors, whenever the Board of Directors may require, an account of the financial condition of the

Corporation; and
 
(g)                                 in general, perform all duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him

by the Board of Directors.
 

SECTION 10.                          Secretary. The Secretary shall:
 

(a)                                  keep or cause to be kept in one or more books provided for the purpose, the minutes of all meetings of the Board of Directors, the
committees of the Board of Directors and the stockholders;

 



(b)                                 see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these By-Laws and as required by law;
 
(c)                                  be custodian of the records and the seal of the corporation and affix and attest the seal to all certificates for shares of the

Corporation (unless the seal of the Corporation on such certificates shall be a facsimile, as hereinafter provided) and affix
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and attest the seal to all other documents to be executed on behalf of the Corporation under its seal;

 
(d)                                 see that the books, reports, statements, certificates and other documents and records required by law to be kept and filed are

properly kept and filed; and
 
(e)                                  in general, perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him

by the Board of Directors.
 

SECTION 11.                          The Assistant Treasurer. The Assistant Treasurer, or if there shall be more than one, the Assistant Treasurers in the order
determined by the Board of Directors (or if there be no such determination, then in the order of their election), shall, in the absence of the Treasurer or in the
event of his inability or refusal to act, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Treasurer and shall perform such other duties as from time to time
may be assigned by the Board of Directors.

 
SECTION 12.                          The Assistant Secretary. The Assistant Secretary, or if there shall be more than one, the Assistant Secretaries in the order

determined by the Board of Directors (or if there be no such determination, then in the order of their election), shall, in the absence of the secretary or in the
event of his inability or refusal to act, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Secretary and shall perform such other duties as from time to time
may be assigned by the Board of Directors.

 
SECTION 13.                          Officers’ Bonds or Other Security. If required by the Board of Directors, any officer of the Corporation shall give a bond or other

security for the faithful performance of his duties, in such amount and with such surety as the Board of Directors may require.
 
SECTION 14.                          Compensation. The compensation of the officers of the Corporation for their services as such officers shall be fixed from time to

time by the Board of Directors. An officer of the Corporation shall not be prevented from receiving compensation by reason of the fact that he is also a
director of the Corporation.

 
ARTICLE V

 
Stock Certificates and Their Transfer

 
SECTION 1.                                Stock Certificates. Every holder of stock in the Corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate, signed by, or in the name of the

Corporation by, the Chairman of the Board or the President or a Vice-President and by the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer or the Secretary or an Assistant
Secretary of the Corporation, certifying the number of shares owned by him in the Corporation. If the Corporation shall be authorized to issue more than one
class of stock or more than one series of any class, the designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of
stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restriction of such preferences and/or rights shall be set forth in full or summarized on the face or
back of the certificate which the Corporation shall issue to represent such class or series of stock, provided that, except as otherwise provided in Section 202
of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, in lieu of the foregoing requirements, there may be set forth on the face or back of the certificate
which the Corporation shall issue to
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represent such class or series of stock, a statement that the Corporation will furnish without charge to each stockholder who so requests the designations,
preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions
of such preferences and/or rights.

 
SECTION 2.                                Facsimile Signatures. Any or all of the signatures on a certificate may be a facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent or

registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before
such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the corporation with the same effect as if he were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue.

 
SECTION 3.                                Lost Certificates. The Board of Directors may direct a new certificate or certificates to be issued in place of any certificate or

certificates theretofore issued by the corporation alleged to have been lost, stolen, or destroyed. When authorizing such issue of a new certificate or
certificates, the Board of Directors may, in its discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen, or
destroyed certificate or certificates, or his legal representative, to: (a) make proof in affidavit form that it has been lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken;
(b) give to the Corporation a bond in such sum as it may direct sufficient to indemnify it against any claim that may be made against the Corporation on
account of the alleged loss, theft or destruction of any such certificate or the issuance of such new certificate; or (c) impose any other reasonable
requirements.

 
SECTION 4.                                Transfers of Stock. Upon surrender to the Corporation or the transfer agent of the Corporation of a certificate for shares duly

endorsed or accompanied by proper evidence of succession, assignment or authority to transfer, it shall be the duty of the Corporation to issue a new
certificate to the person entitled thereto, cancel the old certificate and record the transaction upon its records; provided, however, that the corporation shall be
entitled to recognize and enforce any lawful restriction on transfer. Whenever any transfer of stock shall be made for collateral security, and not absolutely, it
shall be so expressed in the entry of transfer if, when the certificates are presented to the Corporation for transfer, both the transferor and the transferee
request the Corporation to do so.

 
SECTION 5.                                Transfer Agents and Registrars. The Board of Directors may appoint, or authorize any officer or officers to appoint, one or more

transfer agents and one or more registrars.



 
SECTION 6.                                Regulations. The Board of Directors may make such additional rules and regulations, not inconsistent with these By-Laws, as it

may deem expedient concerning the issue, transfer and registration of certificates for shares of stock of the Corporation.
 
SECTION 7.                                Fixing the Record Date. In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any

meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, or to express consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, or entitled to receive payment of
any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for
the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board of Directors may fix, in advance, a record date, which shall not be more than sixty nor less than ten days
before the date of such meeting, nor more than sixty
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days prior to any other action. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any
adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.

 
SECTION 8.                                Registered Stockholders. The Corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its records as

the owner of shares of stock to receive dividends and to vote as such owner, shall be entitled to hold liable, in accordance with Sections 162-63 of the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, for calls and assessments a person registered on its records as the owner of shares of stock, and shall not be bound
to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares of stock on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or
other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by the laws of Delaware.

 
ARTICLE VI

 
Indemnification of Directors and Officers

 
SECTION 1.                                General. The corporation shall indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of

Delaware, any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether
civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the Corporation) by reason of the fact that he is or was a director,
officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement
actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with such action, suit or proceeding if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to
be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his
conduct was unlawful. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of a nolo contendere or its
equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in or not
opposed to the best interests of the corporation and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was
unlawful.

 
SECTION 2.                                Derivative Actions. The Corporation shall indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State

of Delaware, any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of
the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was
serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise
against expenses (including attorneys’ fees). actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if he
acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, provided that no indemnification
shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the Corporation unless and only to the
extent that the Court of Chancery of the State of
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Delaware or the court in which such action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the
circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Court of Chancery or such other court shall
deem proper.

 
SECTION 3.                                Indemnification in Certain cases. To the extent that a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation has been successful

on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in Sections 1 and 2 of this Article VI, or in defense of any claim, issue or
matter therein, he shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.

 
SECTION 4.                                Procedure. Any indemnification under Sections 1 and 2 of this Article VI (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by the

Corporation only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that indemnification of the director, officer, employee or agent is proper in the
circumstances because he has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in such Sections 1 and 2. Such determination shall be made (a) by the Board of
Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who were not parties to such action, suit or proceeding; or (b) if such a quorum is not
obtainable or, even if obtainable, a quorum of disinterested directors so directs, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion; or (c) by the stockholders.

 
SECTION 5.                                Advances for Expenses. Expenses incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding may be paid by the

Corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the director, officer,
employee or agent to repay such amount if it shall be ultimately determined that he is not entitled to be indemnified by the corporation as authorized in this
Article VI.

 
SECTION 6.                                Rights Not-Exclusive. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, the other sections

of this Article VI shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under
any law, by-law, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in an official capacity and as to action in another
capacity while holding such office.

 



SECTION 7.                                Insurance. The Corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director,
officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising
out of his status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify him against such liability under the provisions of this Article VI.

 
SECTION 8.                                Definition of Corporation. For the purposes of this Article VI, references to “the Corporation” include all constituent corporations

absorbed in a consolidation or merger as well as the resulting or surviving corporation so that any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent
of such a constituent corporation or is or was serving at the request of such constituent corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another
corporation,
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partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this Article VI with respect to the resulting or
surviving corporation as he would if he had served the resulting or surviving corporation in the same capacity.

 
SECTION 9.                                Survival of Rights. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to this Article VI shall

continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of
such a person.

 
SECTION 10.                          Settlement or Claims. The Corporation shall not be liable to indemnify any director, officer, employee or agent under this

Article VI (a) for any amounts paid in settlement of any action or claim effected without the Corporation’s written consent, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld or (b) for any judicial award if the Corporation was not given a reasonable and timely opportunity, at its expense, to participate in the
defense of such action.

 
SECTION 11.                          Effect of Amendment. Any amendment, repeal, or modification of this Article VI shall not adversely affect any right or protection

of any director, officer, employee or agent existing at the time of such amendment, repeal, or modification.
 
SECTION 12.                          Subrogation. In the event of payment under this Article VI, the corporation shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to

all of the rights of recovery of the director, officer, employee or agent, as the case may be, who shall execute all papers required and shall do everything that
may be necessary to secure such rights, including the execution of such documents necessary to enable the Corporation effectively to bring suit to enforce
such rights.

 
SECTION 13.                          No Duplication of Payments. The Corporation shall not be liable under this Article VI to make any payment in connection with

any claim made against any director, officer, employee or agent to the extent such director, officer, employee or agent has otherwise actually received
payment (under any insurance policy, agreement, vote, or otherwise) of the amounts otherwise indemnifiable hereunder.

 
ARTICLE VII

 
General Provisions

 
SECTION 1.                                Dividends. Subject to the provisions of statute and the Certificate of Incorporation, dividends upon the shares of capital stock of

the Corporation may be declared by the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting. Dividends may be paid in cash, in property or in shares of stock
of the Corporation, unless otherwise provided by statute or the Certificate of Incorporation.

 
SECTION 2.                                Reserves. Before payment of any dividend, there may be set aside out of any funds of the Corporation available for dividends

such sum or sums as the Board of Directors may, from time to time, in its absolute discretion, think proper as a reserve or reserves to meet contingencies, or
for equalizing dividends, or for repairing or maintaining any property of the Corporation or for such other purpose as the Board of Directors may think
conducive to the
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interests of the Corporation. The Board of Directors may modify or abolish any such reserves in the manner in which it was created.

 
SECTION 3.                                Seal. The seal of the Corporation shall be in such form as shall be approved by the Board of Directors. The Corporate Seal shall

be affixed and attached by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary upon such instruments or documents as may be deemed appropriate, but the presence or
absence of such seal on any instrument shall not affect its character or validity or legal effect in any respect.

 
SECTION 4.                                Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be fixed, and once fixed, may thereafter be changed, by resolution of the

Board of Directors.
 
SECTION 5.                                Checks, Notes, Drafts, Etc. All checks, notes, drafts or other orders for the payment of money of the Corporation shall be signed,

endorsed or accepted in the name of the Corporation by such officer, officers, person or persons as from time to time may be designated by the Board of
Directors or by an officer or officers authorized by the Board of Directors to make such designation.

 
SECTION 6.                                Execution of Contracts, Deeds, Etc. The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, in the name and

on behalf of the Corporation to enter into or execute and deliver any and all deeds, bonds, mortgages, contracts and other obligations or instruments, and such
authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

 
SECTION 7.                                Voting of Stock in Other Corporations. Unless otherwise provided by resolution of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the

Board or the President, from time to time, may (or may appoint one or more attorneys or agents to) cast the votes which the Corporation may be entitled to
cast as a shareholder or otherwise in any other corporation, any of whose shares or securities may be held by the Corporation, at meetings of the holders of the
shares or other securities of such other corporation. In the event one or more attorneys or agents are appointed, the Chairman of the Board or the President



may instruct the person or persons so appointed as to the manner of casting such votes or giving such consent. The Chairman of the Board or the President
may, or may instruct the attorneys or agents appointed to, execute or cause to be executed in the name and on behalf of the Corporation and under its seal or
otherwise, such written proxies, consents, waivers or other instruments as may be necessary or proper in the circumstances.

 
ARTICLE VIII

 
Amendments

 
These By-Laws may be amended or repealed or new by-laws adopted (a) by action of the stockholders entitled to vote thereon at any annual or

special meeting of stockholders or (b) if the Certificate of Incorporation so provides, by action of the Board of Directors at a regular or special meeting
thereof. Any by-law made by the Board of Directors may be amended or repealed by action of the stockholders at any annual or special meeting of
stockholders.
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Exhibit 10.6
 

Atlantic Tele-Network
Named Executive Officers

Base Salary and Bonus Opportunities for 2006
 

                Effective January 1, 2006, Michael T. Prior, the Company’s then Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, was appointed President and Chief
Executive Officer, succeeding Cornelius B. Prior, Jr. who served as the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman from 1998 through December 31, 2005.  Mr.
Cornelius Prior continues to serve as the Chairman of the Board and as an executive officer.  The following table sets forth the annual base salaries and cash
bonus incentive targets for fiscal years 2005 and 2006, and actual cash bonus incentives paid for fiscal year 2005, for each of the Company’s current Named
Executive Officers.
 

Name
 

Year
 

Base 
Salary

 

Target Cash
Bonus Potential

(% of Base Salary)
 

Actual Cash Bonus
Payment (% of Base

Salary/$)
 

          
Michael T. Prior

 

2006
 

$400,000
 

50%/$200,000
   

President and Chief Executive Officer;
 

2005
 

$210,000
 

30%/$63,000
 

48%/$100,000
 

Former Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
         

          
Cornelius B. Prior, Jr.

 

2006
 

$300,000
 

—
   

Executive Chairman;
 

2005
 

$350,000
 

—
 

—
 

Former Chief Executive Officer
         

          
Douglas J Minster.

 

2006
 

$145,000
 

50%/$72,500
   

Vice President and General Counsel
 

2005
 

$135,000
 

30%/$40,500
 

16%/$22,000
 

          
Steven J. Parrish

 

2006
 

$178,000
 

50%/$89,000
   

Executive Vice President, Operations
 

2005
 

$170,000
 

30%/$51,000
 

20%/$34,000
 

Former Vice President, Operation
         

 
The payment of bonuses, and the actual amounts thereof, are payable in the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. 

All of the foregoing employees are employees at will of the Company.  The foregoing table includes only cash salary and bonuses.   In addition, the foregoing
employees are entitled to participate in the Company’s equity compensation plans and receive the general health and welfare employee benefits offered by the
Company.
 

* * *
 

 



EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

  Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Guyana Telephone and Telegraph Company Limited

 

Guyana
Atlantic Tele-Center, Inc.

 

Guyana
ATN (Haiti), Inc.

 

Delaware
Transnet S.A.

 

Haiti
ATN (Haiti) S.A.

 

Haiti
Choice Communications, LLC

 

United States Virgin Islands
Call Home Telecom, LLC.

 

United States Virgin Islands
Commnet Wireless, LLC

 

United States
Chama Wireless, LLC

 

United States
Commnet Four Corners, LLC

 

United States
Commnet of Missouri, LLC

 

United States
Excomm, LLC

 

United States
Commnet of California, LLC

 

United States
Elbert County Wireless, LLC

 

United States
Commnet Illinois, LLC

 

United States
 



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-62416 and 333-125179) of Atlantic Tele-
Network, Inc. of our report dated March 31, 2006 relating to the financial statements and financial statement schedule, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/    PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 31, 2006



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a),

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
RULE 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael T. Prior, certify that:

1.     I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Atlantic Tele-Network, Inc.;

2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.     The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a)     Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c)     Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)     All significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)     Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC.
   
Date: March 31, 2006 By: /s/ Michael T. Prior
  

Michael T. Prior
President and Chief Executive Officer

 



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a),

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
RULE 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Andrew S. Fienberg, certify that:

1.     I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Atlantic Tele-Network, Inc.;

2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.     The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a)     Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c)     Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)     All significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)     Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 

ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC.

Date: March 31, 2006
 

By:
 

/s/ Andrew S. Fienberg
    

Andrew S. Fienberg
    

Chief Accounting Officer
 



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Atlantic Tele-Network, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ending December 31, 2005 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael T. Prior, President and Chief Executive of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1.     The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.     The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC.

Date: March 31, 2006
 

By:
 

/s/ Michael T. Prior
    

Michael T. Prior
    

President and Chief Executive Officer
 



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Atlantic Tele-Network, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ending December 31, 2005 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Andrew S. Fienberg, Chief Accounting Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1.     The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.     The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

ATLANTIC TELE-NETWORK, INC.

Date: March 31, 2006
 

By:
 

/s/ Andrew S. Fienberg
    

Andrew S. Fienberg
    

Chief Accounting Officer
 


